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PERORATION 

"Don't think for a moment that 
if you kill Haywood you will kill 
the labor movement of the world 
or the hopes and aspirations of the 
poor. Haywood can die, if die he 
must, but there are others who 
will live if he dies, and they will 
come t o  take his place and carry 
the banner which he lets fall, I 
plead for the poor and the weak 
and the weary. The exes of the 
world are on you twelve men of 
Idaho tonight, and wherever the 
English tongue is spoken and 
throughout the civilized world they 
are wondering about your verdict. 
If you decree his death the spiders 
and the vultures of Wall street will 
send up paeans of praise, and ; 

wherever men live who hate Hay- 
wood because he works for the 
poor you will receive your meed 
of praise. ? '  
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been in Caldn-el1 a t  two different times in the last few weeks, and on this 
occasion had been staying a t  a hotel for upwards of a week. He seemed 
to have no lwsiness in the town, and some suspicious actiona attracted a t -  
tention to him ancl caused his arlest. 

Jacli Simpkins lived a t  the time in Spoliane, Washington, about three 
or four hnnrlled mmlm away, nnil h 7 d  I)rrn a t  Cqlrl\r.ell ~i ~ t h  O T C I I ~ I ~  qey- 
era1 weeks before, but  was not there a t  the time of the explosion. After 
Orchard had been under arrest for several weelis he was taken to  Boise and 
put in the Sta te  Penitentiary and turned over to  James McPartland, the 
lTTc.jte~n mnnwcr cf the  Pinlce~ton Drtcctiw Arrenrv. A short ii;uz l l f  mi 
he made a "confession," in whirh he claimed t h a t  Charles H. Moyer, WiI- 
liam D. Haymood and George E. Pettibone procured him to  come to  Idaho 
and commit the murder, and also that  Jack Simpkins was connected with 
him and a party to it. A t  tha t  time and since about 1901, Charles H. 
IIoyer i1ra5 Prrciide~it of the TTesteln Bedcration of LIiners-nn n - n a n i ~ l -  
tion covering the metal mines of the western country-and William D. 
I-Iaywood mas i t s  secretary. George E. Pettihone was a n  old miner and a 
friend of the  organization, but was not then connected with mining, and 
several years ago had been made an  honorary member of the Western 
Federation. Jack Simpkins bad for several years been a member of the 
Executive Board for the district in which Idaho was located. 

Soon ttfter O~chard's arrest .Tack Rimufins di.;nppcarerl. Mnsrer, I-Tlv- 
wood and Pettibone were then living in Denver, Colorado, and i t  was not 
claimed tha t  any one of them was present in Idaho a t  the  time of or for a 
long time preceding the murder. Indictments were returned against Moyer, 
Hay~vood, Pettibone, Simpliins and Orchard. 

The "confession" made by  Orchard was kept secret for a number of 
weeks and a secret requisition was issued by the Governor of Idaho upon 
the  Governor of Colorado. This was secretly honored and an  order madc 
by  the Governor t o  turn  the  prisoners over t o  the authorities of Idaho. 
The prisoners were arrested about t en  o'clock on a Saturday night, and de- 
nied access t o  or consultation with their friends or  counsel. Along toward 
morning they were put on a special t ra in  which traversed the ten or twelve 
hundred miles between Denver and Boise at a high ra te  of speed, not stop- 
ping a t  any cities or  towns, but  only a t  way stations and obscure places. 
The \vllole proceedings were carried on in secret and by force, to prevent 
any appeal t o  the  courts of Colorado to keep the  men in that  state. 
Under the Iaws of the country the men could be removed from one state 
to  only upon the theory tha t  they were fugitives from justice fi.onl 
the state which demanded the prisoners f o r  trial, and ''a fugitive" has l i ~ e n  
repeatedly interpreted by  the court as one who wan bodily pre3-nt a t  the 
commission of the crime and who ran  away thereafter, Tbis  allegation 
Tvas macle in the xfidavit of t h e  County Attorney in Idaho as a basis f n r  
the requisition papers to  be issued talring these men from Colorado. The 
allegation was made although everyone knew that neither Moyer, Hay- 
woocl :ior Pettibone had been present in Idaho for many months preceding 
the assassinnlion O F  Steunenhcrg. A writ of habeas eorpus wsa applied for 
in Trlaho and denied, and taken to the  supreme c o d  of the United States, 
based upon the theory tha t  these men were illegally kidnaped and deprived 
of their liberty without due process of lam. The Supreme Court of the 



United States held that  so long a s  the men were being held in Idaho under 
indictnlents a t  the ti111e the habeas corpus was  applied for  tile court 
would not investigate the method by which they were brought illto t ha t  
state-that they were legalIrr held ~t the time the \ r r ~ - i t  wns issnetl. To this 
opinion Justice McICenna filed a dissent, holding tha t  so long as the men 
were depri~~ed of a l ly  chance t o  appeal to any court i n  Co1oi:~do they had 
a right to  make their application a t  the first opportunity tha t  was given 
them, which was in the State of Idaho. 

The case of Haywood, under the indictment for murder, was placed on 
the calendar first and came on for trial on the 9th day of May, 1907, and a 
verdict was returned in the last days of July. After twenty hours of  de- 
liberation a verdict of 'Wot Guilty" was reached. 

The following is a stenographic report of the argument of July 24th 
and 25th, 1807. It contains -many imperfections which are common to all 
verbatim reports of extended arguments. It, perhaps, should have been re- 
vised, but on the whole i t  was thought better to  leave it with its h p e r -  
fections than attempt t o  change it. 



DARROW'S SPEECH 
ARGUMENT. 

IF THE (;COURT PLEASE, AND GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY: I presume I 
had better save the time that  is ordinarily taken to apologize to a jury 
and proceed at once to this case. It is true you have been here a good 
while, but I am sure there is not one of you, gentlemen, who does not ap- 
preciate the importance of this case and how much i t  means to the de- 
fendant, if not to the state. And as we are nearly clone anyhow, I think 
you will be willing to spitre a few extra hours, if me should think it 
necessary, even though i t  is hot, in listening to t h e  arguments of l a ~ e r s .  
I have no doubt tha t  lawyers generally talk too much, and in tha t  I am 
like all the rest of them. We are so afraid we will leave something unsaid 
that tve say a good many things that  had better not hare been touched 
on a t  all and that  are entirely unneressary in the srgument of a case. 

I n  this case, gentlemen of the jury, I am perfertly well aware that  
however 'long I tallt to you there will be a great many subjects I will 
not touch. There is no men, I believe-certainly not I-who can go over 
everything tha t  has transpired in this court in the last  two or three 
months, and the history of the ~vhole region west of Denver, and not 
omit some things. Some things he wilI be sorry sfterwards be did not 
refer to, and some things he will wish he had explained. I 1mow I will 
be no exception to the rule. and after I nm through I ~vill think of more 
things I forgot than the things I remembered; but I will have to  trust 
that  to  you, gentlemen of the jury. I will have to leave it to  you after 
all is said and done to Iook out pnurselves for the rights and the privi- 
leges and the interests of these defendants, so far as  the law protects 
them, to see for yourselves thnt e ~ e r v  argument tha t  is made against them 
rests upon a sure foundation and  rill admit of no explanation whatever 
except the explanation of guilt. It is only until facts and circumstances 
admit of no other thnt a jury has a riqht to consider them in the gravest 
and most responsible affairs of their lives. 

THE PLEA TO THE JURY. 

Gentlemen, I need not tell you how important this ease is. How im- 
portant to the man on trial and to  those who etilf must be placed where 
he is today. How important to his family and his friends. HOW impor- 
t an t  to society. How important t o  a great movement which represents 
the hopes and the wishes and the aspirations of a11 men who labor to 
sustain their daily life. You know it! You could nag have sat here 
day after day so long as you have without understanding it, and p p i n g  
it, and excusing us if in our haate and zeal we aeemeil to my thing8 we 
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should not have said, and forgot things we should have spoken of to you. 
And, gentlemen, we are here as  aliens to you. Our client and the 

men who are with him down here in this jail have been brought fifteen 
hundred miles to be tried by a practically foreign, alien jury-a j u r j  
unfamiliar with their method of thought, a jury unfamiliar with their 
methods of life, a jury who has not viewed life from the standpoints of 
industry as  these men have viewed it; 1 am here, two tl~ousand miles 
from home, unacquainted with you, with your life, with your methods of 
reasoning-all of us are brought here in an alien country, before people, 
if not unfriendly, whom a t  least we do not linow, and we are here met by 

* the ablest couusel that  the State of Idaho ever ,pi-oduced-the peer of any 
eoullsel axlyrvhere; and, more than that, me are here in the home of the 
man who was killed in the most ruthless, cowardly, brutal way tha t  any 
man could meet his death. 

We are here, strangers, aliens, i f  not regarded by you as enemies, to  
meet an accusation of the murder of a man wllom you all know, whom 
many of you voted for, maybe, whom one of you a t  least did business 
with, a Inan in whose house one juror lived for two long years. We are 
trying this case to a jury that  is almost the family of the man who is 
dead. w'e are trying i t  t o  a conlmunity tliat has no community of inter- 
est wit11 the wen whom we def~nd. We tlre defending these men for what 
seems to you alnlost an assault upon your own home, and your ow11 
fireside, and we must be contented with results. We can only appeal to 
you, gentleruen, to lay aside those common feelings which possess tlre 
minds of all illen, to not be govexned by passion or feeling or prejudice, 
but to look a t  us as if we were of you, to try to find out the atandpoints 
from ~vlvhich these mefi acted, to give us that  same fair, inlpartial trial 
that should be given to a defendant if you did ~ o t  lalow the deceneed or 
aa if you h e w  tlwdefendant and stood equally between him and the lam. 

MEN CONTROLLED BY EhTIRONMENTS. 

& h e  than that, gentlemen, we are all human. We have come into 
this court roolu and into this comnlunity, a commu~lity that has been 
deliberately poisorled for a year and a half, a community where feeling, 
and sentiment, and hatred have been deliberately s o ~ w  against this dc- 
fendant and his friends; a comnlunity where lie after lie has been sent 
broadcast like poison to infect the minds of men. We have come here 
after a year and a half of that, aud iuust submit our case to a jury that 
has been fed upon this poison for all these months. We have no rc- 
dress. We aslr for none. You !lave sat here for two months, and 
you know the lies that have been scattered broadcast on the leaflet of 
every paper almost that is circulated in this community. You have 
heard i t  from the witness stand, and you know it, and they could not 
have failed to have influenced this jury and this court. Men cannot 
rise above their environn~ents. n ' e  a1 e all alike, and i f  I were to 
tell this jury that I believed they were great enough and wise enough 
and strong enougl~ to ovelconle tllr environi~~ents in which they live, 
and if I were to say to this Court that he could do what no other judge 
i11 Christendom ever did, rise supel lor to bis euvironnients and his Iife, 
you would know 1 was lying to you. You would understand that, i f  
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you did not understand anything else. We are all human, we are all 
influenced alike, moved by the same feelings and the same emotions, a 
part  of the life tha t  is  around us, and i t  is not in the nature of things 
that  this Court or this jury would not to some degree have been influenced 
by all tha t  has gone before. But, gentlemen, as  men go, as  we see our 
neighbors and our friends, I have no doubt tha t  you twelve men before me 
intend to carehlly guard and protect the rights, the hopes, the interests and 
the life of this defendant. I have no doubt t ha t  you mean to give to him 
the same honest trial, the same benefit of the law, tha t  you would ex- 
pect twelve men to give you, if by some trick of Chance or by soiue 
turn  of the wheel of Fate your life was hanging in the balance and 
twelve of your f e l lo~~~men  were passing upon it. 

Gentlemen, I don't believe tha t  anywhere where the English language 
is  spoken or wliele the common law prevails any intelligent lawyer 
would ever have dreamed of convicting defendants upon evidence like 
this, except they relied 'upon the strained, harsh circumstances of this 
case, and had they not know that  these defendants, taken by force fifteen 
hundred miles away and dropped down before a hostile jury and in rr 
colllinunity crying for their blood, would be cruelly handicapped in this, 
the supreme struggle of their lives. Do you consider how much it 
means? Suppose one of you tweIve men were taken from your farm, 
charged with murder, not to  be tried in a community where you lived, 
not to  be tried by farmers who knew you and lrnew your way of life, 
and your method of thought-that you were to be taken t o  Chicago, to 
be talren to  New York, to be dropped down into a great and unfamiliar 
city whose men do not think the thoughts t ha t  you think, whose people 
do not lead the  lives tha t  you lead, and expected there, over fifteen hundred 
miles from home and friends, t o  make your defense, and then suppose 
that  you were charged with a crime which every member of t ha t  
conlinu~lity regarded as  a crime against the sanctity of his own state, 
against himself-then you could appreciate the condition in which we 
fiiid ourselves today, and could understand the handicap tha t  has been 
placed upon us from the beginning of this case. 

ASKS FOR NO CO&WROMISE. 

Gentlemen of the jury, one thing more: William D. Haywood is  charge11 
zoith murder. He is  charged with having killed ex-Governor Hteunenberg. 
R e  was not here. He was fifteen hundred o r  a thozcsand miles a w q ,  and he 
7~ad not been here for yews. There nzight be some member of this jury who 
wot~ld hesitate to take away the life of a human being upon t b  rotten testi- 
mony that  has been given to this jury to convict a fellow citizen. There 
ntight be some who still hold i n  their minds a lurking suspicion that this de- 
fendant had to do toitla this horrible murder. You might say, we will com- 
promise; we cnlznot take his life upon Orchard's word, but we w i l l  send hint 
to the penitentiary; we will find him guilty of manslaughter; we will  
find him guilty of n~urder  in the second degree instead of the first. 

Gentlemen, you have the right to do i t  if you want to. But, I wmnt 
to say to you twelve men that  whatever else you are, I trust you are not 
cowards, and I want to sa,y to you, too, that William Haymod is not a 
mwacd. I would not thawk this  jwy if they found this &fendant gwilta, of 
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assault and Buttel-y and assessed a five-dollar fine against him. This mur- 
der was cold, deliberate, cowardly in  t l ~ e  eztrsnze, and if tltis man, sit- 
ting i n  his ofice i j z  Denver, fifteen l~undred miles away, e?~zpEoyed this mis- 
erable a s s a s s i ~ ~  to corj~e l ~ w e  a~zd  do this cowardly worlc, then, for God's 
sake, gentlemen, hang ltinz by the 7~ec72 ulztil dead. Don't conzpronzise in 
this case, zr;lzate.uer else yozc do. If he is guilty-if, under your conscience 
and before your God, ~ O Z L  catL SCLY tha t  you believe tha t  nzan's story, ared be- 
lieve it beyond a reaso~zable dot~bt, then take him-take hint and lzalrg 
Itivz. He lias fought nmny a fight-niany a fight with the persecutors who 
are hounding him in this court. He has met then1 in inany a battle in the 
open field, and he is not a comard. If 1i.e is  tu die, he zvilE die as  he has lived, 
with his face lo the foe. This Inan is either innocent or  guilty. If he is  
gnilty, I have nothing t o  say for him. 

TI-IE VIcTlM AND TI-IE CRIMX. 

Gentlemen, I am not going to  apologize in any way or seek to  belittle 
tile terrible crinle t ha t  was eolliillitted in Canyon county. My associate 
eairl t ha t  Govcl.nor Steunenberg was 8 great  and a goo.1 man. 1 don't 
know auything about that, ml~etlier he mas either one, ~ ~ r l r l  I Cloll't care. 
l t  is  just as  niucil uluxder to kill a Lad Inan a s  i t  is  to  kill a good man. 
It is just  a s  much murder to  Bill the llunlblest lnan who tills the  fields 
as  i t  i:+ t hc  king upon his throne. There is  no difference. I have taken 
no pains to  study who Governor Steunenberg was, excepting he was the 
governor of tliis state. I assunle he was like e.verybody e l s e ~ l i k e  you, like 
me, like evclybody. I assume lie had his v i r t~ ies  and he had llis failings. 
I f  be dit7 ~iu l ,  he would bave*lind no friends. It is a great mistake to  l;hink 
tha t  because a nian had been a governor the law should be ally swifter 
to wrenl; x-eni;t:mce upon solne one by taking his life away than if  he 
had been a plain orclinary man, and yet, gentlemen, i t  is true, i f  this lnan 
had not a t  one time been goverilor of the state I do not  bclieve there id  

nloney enougll in the state treasury of Idaho to  hire a lawyer with s r e p -  
tation to ask for another man's bloocl. upon the evidence tha t  has been 
oftered in this case. 

Governor Steuncnberg was a man. He had a right t o  live, whether 
Ile mas a grent mall or a sinell man. a good man or  a bad man, wise or 
foolish, cuts no figme in this case. If any \vord of mine or any act of this 
defenclant could bring back this life of which we have heard, ~ O T V  quickly 
we would say tha t  word and do tha t  act! Ru t  the past is settled. 30 
result from this jury can call t ha t  ;nan bacl; to  life. No verdict thirt 
you can give can bring back the father, or  bring back the husband or 
in any degree lesson the pang t h a t  must have co~ne to  those near and dear 
for the murder of thnt  man. All you cnil do, gentlenien, with your power, 
all you can do toward fixing up the schemes of the Almighty, is to  make 
more widows, and more orphnns on accollnt of the death of Steunenber~,  
ancl if this jury wants to take t h a t  responsibility in tliis case upon this  
evidence, well and good. N a y  pen.ce he with you. 

"GUILTY" OR '(NOT GUILTY." 

Gentlemen, 1 ask, then, t ha t  each of you will vote "Guil'cy" or "Not 
Guilty." This man has been in jail for eighteen months. He has no right to 



be in jail a minute longer unless, under the law and under the evidence, you 
believe him guilty, and then, under the law and the evidence, i t  is your 
duty to take away that life that God gave him. I would not have your 
responsibility. I could not. I would as soon kill a man in any other 
cold-blooded way as to hang him as a juror. But that  is a questioli of 
feeling and sentinlent, and men do not agree upon tha t  propbsition. You 
do not believe as  I do, and therefore your duty is perfectly clear. If you 
think the evidence justifies it under the laws of this land, then it is death, 
and we have no complaint to make-none. We mill have a complaint to 
make if you fail, gentlemen of the jury, if you clo not dare to  take a 
human life upon this testimony and if you still feel that  you should keep 
him one week or one day in jail for fear he might be guilty. 

NOT A QUESTION OF SENTIMENT. 

You have listened to the argunlent of Mr. Hawley in this case. He 
told you how honest he was. Now, I will not tell you anything about 
that. You will have to find out fi-om my argument whether I am honest or 
not, and whether I am does not malie any difference with this case, and 
whether Mr. Hawley is does not make any difference in this case. You 
are the gentlemen tvllo are to determine this-not Mr. Hawley-not I. 
He said to you, gentlemen of the jury, that  he would not prosecute this 
case unless he believed this defendant guilty. Now, why? Is he prosecut- 
ing i t  because he believes him guilty. I s  that  i t  'l Or is he prosecuting i t  
because he thialis he may want to put another ell on his house, and wants 
some more deficiency warrants with ~vhich to  do i t  'l Which is i t ?  Has , 
any man a right to make a statement lilie tha t?  I hope there is no 
one here who cares a fig about what Nr. Hawley thinks about this 
case. He may be bughouse-and he is, if all of his statements are t r u o  
or he is worse. Let me show you what he said, and then judge for your- 
selves. 

INSANITY OF HAWLEY'S ARGUMENT. 
He said t o  these twelve men-men of fair intelligence and fair learn- 

ing-that you would be warranted in convicting Bill Haywood i f  you took 
Harry Orchard's evidence out of this case, and still he says he is honest. 
Maybe he is, but if he is honest he is crazy, and he can have his choice. 
There is  not an intelligent iwdn who has listened to this case who does 
not know that  i t  is Orchard from beginning to end, and there is not a word 
of incriminating evidence in it, let alone enough to  take the life of a 
hunlan being, without Harry Orchard, and Mr. Hawley told you that there 
was enough evidence in this case to  hang Bill Haywood if you left it 
out. Is he crazy or does he think you twelve men are daffy? One or the 
other. And the man who made that  statement stood up here and argued 
that  an old soldier was bughouse. Maybe he is, but on an inquest of lunacy 
I would trust him to  creep through ahead of Hawley, if he should be 
judged by the statement that  there is  sufficient evidence in this case 
to warrant the taking of the life of a human being without Harry Or- ' 

chard's. What is that  evidence? Where is i t ?  Why should a statement like 
that  be made by a man who says he is honest, and thzt  he is gettin6 so old 
he does not want any more scalps of innocent people hanging st his belt? 



Well, maybe he has enough. Be has all he will get, if I widerstand what 
evidence means. 

FRIEND OF UNIONISM. 
Mr. Bawley tells you tha t  he is a friend of the union. There cannot 

be any doubt about that! He told you in his opening statement that  
this labor union was a criminal conspiracy from the beginning, and that  
Ed. Boyce, who led it in i ts  earliest troubles, and its early triumphs, who 
organized this great mass of unorganized labor, that they might loolc 
up in the face of their master and demand a portion of what they emed,  
that  he was a criminal-that he is guilty; and all you would need to 
do would be to go to Mr. Van Duyn and get him to sign his name, and 
Hawley could get him to bring Boyce in here, too, and charge him with 
this murder as well. 

He told us bow tha t  from the beginning i t  was a criminal organiza- 
tion, and yet he organized i t  himself-and he admits i t  after we have 
proved i t a n d  he ol.ganized i t  while the leaders of this union, or a large 
part of them, lived, from that  day to this, down here in the jail. He 
organized i t  where for conscience sake these men were confined in the cells 
down below. He said to tbe~u, "You have your poor, weak individual organ- 
izations all over; you have one in Butte, you have them in Idaho, you have 
them in Colorado; there is nothing on earth but to get together into one 
great federation so you can fight together." That mas good advice, 
wasn't it? And he went out here in the jail yard and he told them about 
it, and when he got through and they got out, released for a crime which 
the court said did not exist, after they had suffered eight months' imprison- 
ment for a crime which was not a crime, there was no way to give them 
their liberty back, any more than there is a way to  give Moyer, Hay- 
wood and Pettibone the eighteen months they have spent here in the 
Boise jail. These are all a p a d  of the premium that one gets, and has 
always received, for his services to  his fellow mart. For the world is the 
same now tltut it always was, and if a man is so insane that he wants to 
go out in the wildemzess m d  preach and uiorlc for the poor and the op- 
pressed and the despised, fo r  the 7r~em wlzo do not own tlze tools, the news- 
papers, and the courts, and the machbery, and organiaation of society, thesa 
are the wages that he receives today, and zohich he has received f ~ o m  the 
time the first foolish man con~me?zced to agitate for the uplifting and the 
upbuildirzg of the hunzan race. 

But Mr. Hawley took their money; he organized them; he fought 
their battles; he was their first attorney; and he says to  this jury, "I have 
always been a friend of labor unions." 

Yes, gentlemen, Mr. Hawley has always been a friend of labor unions- 
when they got their cash to his ofice first. But when they did not they 
had better hunt some other friends. Mr. Hawley is advising the state in 
this case-he had better stick to the state and let the labor unions be taken 
care of by some one of their own choice. 

RAWLEY'S HARP 01." ONE STRING-HOKSELEY. 

Mr. Rawley talked to you for a day and a half about how guilty this 
defendant is. What was the burden of his ta lk? Waa there anything in 



10 Wayland's Mont7~1y. 

it bu t  Orchard-Orchard-Orchard, from beginning to end? Did he play 
upon any other string, or can he play upon any other string excepting Orch- 
ard--Orchard-Orchard? These men are guilty because Orchard says so. 
This man who comes here and testifies against him is a n  infanlous scoun- 
drel; a wonlan, however respectable appearing she might be, however she 
might resemble your own wife or your own sister, is a perjurer if she testi- 
fies against Orchard. Everybody lies tha t  this scoundrel may be believed. 
We call the roll of thirty-five or forty witnesses-half of them, a t  least, 
with no connection whatever with this organization, half a t  least who give 
the lie straight and square to this monster-and Rawley says they are per- 
jurers-perjurers. They have committed perjury because they have sworn 
against Orchard. He has got Orcharditis--or Orchard itch would be a bet- 
ter  term for it. Too bad the old gentleman could not have closed his career 
before he reached this case and made this awful statement to twelve men 
who must live in a community where he lives for the rest of his life. Tell 
me that  everybody is a perjurer who has sworn against Orchard? 

SOME ImOTS IN THIS STRING, 

Let us see, now, gentlemen: I mill just give you a specimen. When I 
opened this case I said to this jury that  before the first witness left  the 
stand I would convince Mr. Hawley that  his precious cIient had lied upon 
one important fact. Now, I want to apologize to the jury-1 did not. That 
is because I did not understand Mr. Hawley. I thought he had some sense. 
Let me tell you who was the first witness in this case-you may have for- 
gotten it,  it was so long ago; i t  was Mrs. Icing. Do you remember Mrs. 
Iiing? Let us hold a n  inquest on Hawley's sanity for a minute, and let us  
see whether he is sane or inuane. Now, gentlemen, Mrs. Icing was a mat- 
ronly woman of perhaps 55 or 60 years of age; she was not a member of 
the Western Federation of Miners; she did not work in the mines at all. 
She has t\vo sons ~ o ~ l i i n g  in the  nines nnd they are both se:~l>s, so  she 
would not favor us on tha t  account; both of them are working there now, 
neither one belonging to  the union or having ever belonged to the union. 

I submit there has not been s witness placed upon this stand in this 
trial who had more of the appearance of t ru th  and candor and integrity 
than Mrs. Icing. I s  there any doubt about i t ?  I s  there any man in this 
jury box that  would not as soon doubt his own wife, except for the fact 
tha t  she is his own wife, as Mrs. Icing? I do not believe it. Will you tell 
nie ~ v l l r t t  license this lawyer has, for a few paltry deficiency warrants, 
t o  say  t o  this jury tha t  Mrs. IGng i s  a perjurer to  get the blood of 
Mr. Haywood; and yet you twelve men are expected to  take that  sort of 
talk so you can get his blood and accolnmodate Mr. Hawley with another 
scalp a t  his beIt in his declining years! 

MRS. ICING'S TESTIMONY. 

Mrs. Iiing swore t h a t  she kept a rooming house and that  Mr. Sterling, 
the detective of the Mine Owners' association, occupied a front room, and 
she saw Harry Orchard come there a t  least six or eight times, and h~ came 
up the back stairs a t  any time, an& she only saw him when she happened 
t o  see him. She does not stand alone, for her daughter, a bright, intelli- 
gent, comely girl, who is not a member of thia organization, awears tha t  
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she saw him four or five times, and she is a perjurer, too, and i t  is  a won. 
der tha t  Mr. Hawley doesn't swear out a warrant for them before they 
leave the state; in these hot days and hot times-youcould expect Mr. Haw- 
ley to  do most anything. 

I will call your attention t o  the three witnesses we put upon the 
stand and see what you say o'f them. 

DETECTIVE STERLING AND ORCHARD. 

Mrs. Fitzhugh bought Mrs. Icing's rooming house, and Sterling with it, 
&nd she went in about the first of January, 1904-and she swears tha t  
Orchard came there repeatedly-she swearing , t o  some ten o r  
twelve times up to the time tha t  the Independence depot was 
blown up. Now, gentlemen, let us loolc a t  that  a minute. i do not 
suppose any of you are especially anxious to get another bundle of defi- 
ciency warrants for Mr. Hawley-at least, not anxious to  bang my client- 
if you are, we are up against a very hard game. Are you going to say by 
your verdict that  these three women are perjurers? If you do, what excuse 
.will you make to  y o ~ r  wives, your sisters, your daughters, your cunvcie~lces 
-to your God? Call you say i t ?  If there is any danger, we will j u d  cor- 
roborate these three women for a. minute. And then where do w e  land? 
Gentlemen, this was importsilt testimony. It shoms tha t  this villain was 
ten times more their villaill than he was ours, and Mr. Hawley cl.oas-exam- 
ined to  his heart's content and then ended by calling them perjurers when 
he could not do anything else. Now this is important testimony. 

Now, if we must get some testimony to corroborate tbe;ie three honest 
women, let us get it. These three women swear-putting them together 
-that this man (Orchard) made some fifteen or eighteen visits to Ster- 
ling, in the 1;ight time, when lie was caught; to thc roo111 of this hunlxn 
spider, who was then weaving his web around the Western Pede~ation 
of Miners-not to catch Orchard, but to strangle a great labor organ- 
ization, so tha t  Carlton and his men might get their gold dug up out 
cf t1.e earth for less casl~. She swears--each of t h e a  swears- -posilively 
that  those meetings in the night time occurred with I<. C. Sterling. Orchard 
says he was never there in his life. Now, if we leave i t  rigl:t: t,l~ere, be- 
tween 0rcha.rd and these three women, I wonder what you twelve  DIP^ 

would say about it. If you believe Orchard, you never should look your 
wife in the face again. But I am not going to leave i t  there. 
You know who Sterling is; you saw him; you have heard his name; 
be was here, and Mr. Hawley, with one of those feeble bluffs, called his 
name in the court room upon the forenoon of the last day when they were 
putting on what they called evidence, and then he got up and askecl the 
court to  adjourn because they had run dry of witnesses, and said he ~rould  
put him on in the  a.fternoon; but in the afternoon Mr. B*~rali was a t  the 
helm, and Mr. B0ra.h forgot. Mr. Borah forgets lots of things; tha.t is 
his strong suit-one of them, I mean-and Mr. I<. C. Sterling came here 
and went away, went back liorne, and these three women have sworn 
that  he had this infamous thing in his rooln a t  least twenty times Lo 
their knowledge, and Mr. R. C. Sterling went home without denying 
it, and yet Hawley says  they are perjurers-perjurere! You ought to 
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hang i11e.ie women. If  you could get tl~tm-get t h e a  back iolo Idallo- 
I have 110 doubt I-Iamley would go to the legislature and t r y  t o  get the 
law changed t o  hailg these three women because they dared testify 
against Orchard. 

No.yc-, let me make a snggestion: After I have got all  done, 
Senator borah is going t o  t a lk  to  ycu, and then you will hear some- 
thing. 1 \$ant  Senator Gorah to tell you t~velve men whether he believes 
tli:at &ri<. Kill:, 81is3 l i i ~ i g  and Mrs. Jilit~hugll are pe~ju le rs ,  or whether 
he bnlieves t h a t  precious gentlemen with the wings sproutiug on his 
shoulders. Harry Orchard. is a liar. Now, I want him t o  Hay. I 
clon't mean t o  insinuate for a, minute t h a t  he is honester than Haw- 
ley, but  I do think he is sliclcer. I n-ill just lay a little wager tha t  
he ;;oorilt tell you twelve men t h a t  he tE~inlrs Mrs. l i ing and Miss Icing and 
Xrs.  Fitzhugh are perjure~s. I would almost say, if he tells you 
60, you had better believe him, but  I have not known him long enough 
t o  take a chance like t l ~ a t .  He may think he has got t o  brace u p  
Hawley. God lcnows he needs bracing up, and he may take t h a t  pod-  
tion. 

DAVIS AND EASTERLY. 

Now, gen.tlemen, I couId give you a few more instances which 
a re  easy-just plain easy ones. When you ta lk  about Bill Davis 
and Bill Easterly it is harder, but when you talk about 
Max Malich i t  is harder still. Now I am going t o  assume, gentlemen of 
the jury, t h a t  we have yot twelve plain, honest men here. and I 
em going t o  t r y  m d  t rea t  you t h a t  way; if I don't I tilink I woiild 
lose by thc p l r e  and 111:lyhd tha t  is the reason I am not here telling 
J'GU how honest I am, When 1 asli you to be l i~ve  Bill Davis and Bill 
Easterly I have got t o  ta lk upon a little different line. They are 
lucrubers of this organization. I linom it. I believe they are  as  
honed and trutllful well as  ever lived upon the face of the earth, 
but I don't luiow what they might do for tlieir fellow men. 
Tolt 11enrd tl~eil* testimony, and you have a right t o  throw i ~ t o  the 
scales against them their devotion t~ their organization, and their devotion 
t o  their Iraders, ~ n d  1. don't aslr you not to-you can w e ~ g h  i t  with the 
rest. I don't know when I have ever seen men for w h ~ ~ m  I had nlore 
regard and more respect than for Easterly and Davis. And still, in me:ts- 
urinp t l ~ j r  evid~nce,  1 expect this jury t o  considar the circumstances of 
the case and give i t  the weight it ought t o  have. To me they are  
gwat ,  big, hrave, nlanly men. They may have stood up in fair fight and 
wielded g ~ e n t  I ) l o ~ ~ ~ s ,  great blows against their enemies; they may have 
done i t ;  as  I loolr a t  then1 I think they might, and I think they may again, 
in \vhal appealed t o  them as a r i g h t ~ o u s  cause. Long ago i t  was written, 
'" l ' l l ,~ t  p1~:1tcr 'GTC l i ~ l h  no nlan than this, t h a t  he would lay dmnl his 
life for his fellow man." 

BILL DAVIS TO THE RESCUE. 
And Bill Davis, safe and secure in  Nevada-Nevada which has held 

out i ts  welconliug arms to a11 those exiles from Peabodyism in Colorado, 
and which asked these stlong men and strong hearts t o  come into her 
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rnirw~ and help develop her resol~rres-he was snfe there in Nt.var!n. but  
he rpad Flarry C)rchardJs testimony; he Imew the men that  were here 
fighting this contest; he Irneur Hawlep; he knew that  six pears ago Illis 
mill was hlown up in the Coeur dlAlenes and two men killed; he Lr~rw 
tha t  his enemies had lair1 it to him; he knew that  Ttlaho was n haalila 
land; yet he came up here ant1 put his necli in the halter and gar8 &fr. 
Hawley the other end, and testified for his friend. 

YOU may abuse him. gentlemen; I don't care a eon t in r~~ ta l  13-hethcr 
he was a t  the Bunker Hill mill or not. If there is  man orl Chi.: ,ury 
who in dire necessity and g r e ~ t  *tress, a man who needed a friend and 
adviser, a man of loyal heart and a square friend, and, al)nve d l ,  
e conscience, who would not twrn from that  monster, IIarry Orchal~d, and 
grasp the honest hand of Bill Davis, then I miss my guess upon every one 
of you twelve men. 

A PASTEL OF ORCHARD. 

But  let  u s  cut  out the TVestern Federation men for e nrnment. 1 a m  
just going to give yon a little object lesson-a little admnce slxctcll of 
Harry O~~cliarcl as I know him. Kot the se~.aph v i th  the w i n p  ?:ll)l>oi.'ccil 
on one side by Hamlcy and upon the other by Fatlier l\lcYartlm~rl-tot h r .  
I don't 1:now tha t  Harry-nohody else docs, eu r~p t ing  Hawleg: even 1119 

senator bas not become acquainted with him, m~rl T don't 1lri:ilz ht. will 
stand for it. Even the senntor, if he honestly thoupl~t  t h n t  f h r r y  xrni 
going to  heaven, mould do his level best to  go the other map, and would 
probably succeed. Let me give you juqt another little easy one-ea~y 
almost as  these three monlen; we ~~vi l l  discuss something I~arrler pretty 
soon. I want t o  see whether I cnn qet the r i z l ~ t  focus on this fclloiv 
before we get into the serious business. Orchard is all there is from 
beginning t o  end of this case, and two lawyers seriously propose t o  
take away the life of a human being upon the testimony of Hnrry Orcllnrcl. 
Gentlemen, I do not believe it was ever done in anp civilized land on tlla 
face of the earth, and for the very simple reason tha t  a land co~ild not bc 
civilized where such a thing would be done, and i t  will not be done here in 
Idaho. ' ? 

Now, did Harry Orchard lie, or did some one plse? IIere iq the most vitnl 
point in this caqe, as to mhrther this butcher had  a n r  motive in  hiitrl~arinr< 
Steunenberg. Did he lie in reference to his mine7 Why, Mr. Hawley says 
he did not. for here is the deed-here is  the d e ~ d .  I-Te sold it,  ail4 of conrie 
he could not expect t o  hnre h ~ d  anytlling aftelward. I do not lrno-i~r w l ~ e t l ~ r r  
you fello\~s were ever prospectors or not:  I have been all ~ i i v  life-after 
one thinp or another-not neceqsarily gold, bnt T never pros7ecterl when I 
got anVthia,a, but  I nlmaps thougllt I was going t o  and 1 newr m1.r one 
up until I had to. That  is t h e  nnture of us. I f  i t  w;29 not for thzt. we 
would go out and die, and die right away. We always tllinlc we :[re going 
to strike i t  r i z l ~ t  away, t oa lo r ro~~ .  We al~vays think i t  mill r n in  111ol.q 
next year than this year, and the grass-hoppers and the bugs will not 
be so thiclc-tve are a11 prospectors one way or nnother. 

Now, Hnrry Orchard w ~ q  pros~3~cting;  he had been di.i.cing in the 
Hercules mine-a little-for Rar rp  does not dig much. He 1:nows an engicr 
way of getting a living than digging, and so he does not dig, he plays 



poker. Of GoursP I do not mean to criticise him for that, for we all gamble 
one vay or another, but he does not sweat much, and he did not learn to  
lead a c  easy life after he met P e t t i b o n e i t  was before that. Harry would 
have made a good lawyer, for he can get along without morking about as 
easy na an~rl3oci;y I ltnom of. He got intelested in this prospect, but be 
was gnn.hl;r,q, 2nd while lie was @mbling he mas getting in debt. He 
always did ba t  i t  did not bother him-a, lot of people get bothered about a 
lot of little things lilte that, but i t  did not bother Harry;  i t  did not hothor 
Harry ljefole he got ~eligion-I do not linow how he is now; I am going to  
talk abnut his r~ligion after awhile. Well, he got into this mine all riqht, 
and IIP got lo  915-ino. Dnn  Cordona nncl some other people and he n I ~ d ( ~ ~ t l  
thie interest, as he admits, as security to  another man, and then he got t o  
o~viuq C o i d i ~ ~ : ~ ,  and Cordona did not thmli niuc11 of his piospect holc- 
nobody dots exceptiing the man who has it-a man always thinks his 
property is vrolth mole than anybody else thinks it is worth-and so he 
made a deed to  Corclona. Orchard, of coulse, thouqht thele ma? some 
value in thc mine, but he niade i t  over for little or nothing to pay hi3 debts 

Now, ~vhn t  we claim is t h ~ t  Harry alwajrs thought that  after he m ~ d e  
a strike somewhere, presumably a t  the card table, he would go back and re- 
deem the interest-as everybody always expects to-as he thought that  
prospect hole in the Hercules was headed straight for lead, or  probably he 
thotlgl~t i t  was hencled f o ~  gold, but i t  was headed for lead. He made a 
deed of it.  My. Haw1e;y says he could not have been expecting t o  get it 
back b ~ a n s e  he made a deed, and therefore, all our contention upon that  
point i q  wronp, and tha t  all our witnesseq upon tha t  point are perjlrrerq. 
Now. I am going t o  discuss, after awhile, all the witnesses, of a11 
sorts, of both sexes, of all degrees of intelligence, of all sorts of social 
standing, so far as you can get social standing in Idaho outside of Boise- 
I am goinq to discuss all of this, but not here; I am just going to discuss 
three of them, and I em going to  ask you if those three are lying. 

DL4N RAMEY'S TESTIMONY. 
Do you relnemher Dan Ramey? He was the stage driver who drove 

the stnge from Wallace to hlullan. I do not laow when I have seen a man 
on the witness stand wbo had a franker face than he; if he had been 
called as a juror I would have taken him, for I think he is  intelligent 
enoush to be a juror. He has a good-looking face, and do you think he 
was a perjurer? He did not belong to the union-oh no, he did not 
belong t o  any union a t  all. He was a stnge driver; he had a little money 
and he had a little land, par t  rancher--of course he would have to  be 
honest or he could not be a rancher, or if he was a rancher, to put  it 
the other way, he would have to  be honest. I do not believe that  anybody 
who saw tha t  man mould doubt his integrity, excepting Hawley; but Haw- 
leg is so a n ~ i o u s  that  he would doubt his own integrity if i t  was necessary 
t o  support Harry Orchard. 

T>is Inan swears tha t  a few days after the Bunker Hill pxplosion 
he met Harry Orchard rirlinp lwon x mmll -PVP~ h0~qe and  that  he asked 
him to  buy his interest in the Hercules mine. He told the jury who owned the 
horse, and I take i t  tha t  R l r .  Hawley ~vould have gone uv there and got 
that  ~vall-eyed horse if i t  would have corroborated Harry Orchard, because 
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he did get him corroborated by a dog, and if he could g ~ t  him corrobo- 
rated by a wall eved lloise no twelve men could disbelieve him. He 
~vould not have hesitated a minute to go and get tha t  wall-eyed horse, and 
i ts  owner, and especially i ts  owner, but Ramey comes here as honest an  
apn~ni.inv 1 1 1 ~ 1 1  as ever toolc the \vitii~ss st lnd,  in this cnke or anv o t h ~ r ,  
and i t  would be a downright insult to these twelve men to say they 
would not believe hiill against Hairy Orchaid. Gentlemen, if you woulti 
not, then settle it with pour own consciences; you need not settle i t  with 
me. If there is any one of you twelve who can figure out  any excuse in this 
ease why 11e slioulrI believe t h ~ t  monster-that all-around crirrin XI--in 
the place of Dan Ramey, figure i t  out  and hang my man, but i t  will 
prove he has. fallen into a n  unfortunate place; t ha t  is all. You have no 
more right to  disbelieve Ramey thz t  you would have to  disbelieve your 
own son-not a bit-before Orchard-Orchard covered with his infamy 
and his slime. Let me give you two more and then I am going t o  stop 
on tha t  for the present. 

MR. AND MRS. GILL. 

Do you renieniber Gill and Gill's wife? Gill is  a civil engineer in 
Spobane; he never belongcd to  the union in his life; he never had any- 
thing to do 7\-itl1 tl~is organizatioli in his life; he has been a civil engineer 
in the City of Spokane; he has been the conlnlissioner of public \verks 
of tha t  city; he has been the master mechanic in the Tiger and Poorman 
mine, and several other mines in the Coeur d'Alenes, and all his interests 
are on the other side. Gentlemen, I want to know what kind of an ex- 
cuse you are going to  have to  believe Gill conlnlitted perjury and tha t  
Gill's wife conllnitted l~erjrxry? Eoth these people callle do~vn here in 
the last days of the trial, like other witnesses in this case. after reading 
newspaper reports, and came to tell u s  what they linow. And Mrs. Gill 
sll*ears that  in &larch-in March, 1899-in March, a year and a half after 
Harry O~cha1.d'~ deed was made, this man Harry Orchard-who used to  
deliver nlilIc and wood a t  her back door-he came to  her and 
asked her t o  buy his intelest in the Hercules inine, nild she turned to 
her hu~bncd  to have him loolc i t  up, moman JiIie, and he made inqui~.ies 
-lie n~acle inquiries of A1 Huttoa and of others whom the prosecution 
could get here by pulling a stling. Trust  Mr. Ba~vley for getting them 
here, when he could bring three or four ~vitnesses from all the way be- 
tween 1:u-e and Salt  Lalie City to  contradict a poor old man whom he say9 
is bug-ilouse. 

Now, are you going to  believe Mrs. Gill?--or tha t  she came here to 
coinmit perjury? l171sy, sure, believe it.  Otherwise something ia wrong with 
I-Iar1.y Orchard ~ i n c e  his conversion. That mould be the rub in this case. 
You must not find anything wrong with hini since his conversion. He 
might lie and steal and burglarize; he might commit arson and bigzniy 
nnd I ~ I U I C ~ P ~ . :  lie niiyht conimit 211 t h e  criines in the c~lendar ,  and all t h e  
things forbidden by the laws of God and man-that was before he got 
religion, and you must clram a line there; he has been n good fellow sincc 
and you ought to hang a man on his testimony because he has got re- 
ligion. 
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ORCEARDX RELIGION. 
Welt, ge.tztlemen, I a m  going to  discuss this  t-eliggous question f w t h R ~  

on, but I am like Brother Hawley, I a m  long on t lw t  subject. I do %ot know 
whether the senator can beat Brother Hawley a~nd me upon that  or not. Of 
course Hawley told you-ow you people know better than I do about dlr. 
Hawley, because I never saw hi??& until he was in this  cme, and I would 
not judge Aim by anything here-but he says when a man gets religion he 
it all right, and he will not lie, he cannot lie; he has seen this  great light, 
and he is led from above, and the jury must  believe he cannot because he 
haa got religiola Well ,  i f  Hawley has not got it, he ought t o  have it. The 
best I could do zooulcl be t o  advise hint to  go right off and get it, if there 
is any left after what Orchard has taken. 

Now, I a m  not going to testify as an  eapert, as he did, wpon, that  
question, but it would take a good large close of religion, I take i t ,  to  make 
twelve men-even Christian men-believe that this  feltow, w i th  his pas t ,  
was to  be believed against these three women, against Ramey, against a l l ,  
against Mrs. GZl, even if there was nothing else. But pretty soon we will 
put him against his own kind-I do not mean that, there is only one, 
and he did not testify-T mean that we will put him against himself, and 
against some of the witnesses tha t  they brought here. 

Gentlemen, 7 solnetirnes think I am dreaming in this case. I some- 
times wonder whether this is a case, whether here in Idaho or anywhere 
in the country, broad and free, a man can be placed on trial and lawyers 
seriously ask to talie away the life of a human being upon the testimony 
of Harry Orchard. Lawyers come here and ask you, upon the word of 
that sort of a man, to send this man t o  the gallows; to make his wife 
a widow, and his children orphans--on his word. For God's sake what 
sort of a community exists up here in the State of Idaho that sane men 
should ask i t ?  Need I come here from Chicago to defend the honor of your 
fitate? A juror who would take away the life of a human being 
upon testimony like that mould place a stain upon the state of his 
nativity-& stain that all the waters of the great seas could never 
wash away, and yet they ask it. You had better let a thousand men go 
unwhipped of justice, you had better let all the criminals that  'come to 
Idaho escape scott free, than to have i t  said that twelve men of Idaho 
would take away the life of a human being upon testimony like that. 

THE JURY ASKED TO EXCEED ORCHARD. 
Let me illustrate a minute. Here is a man who was depraved enough 

until he got religion. Hawley will concede that. If I were to get out of here 
and Orchard were to get out, I ~vould feel uncomfortable. 1 would feel 
sort of squeamish if I thought he was anywhere in the same country. I 
would feel, if I had to go out of my house, I ought to go out througlk 
the sewer or up through the chimney, so that if I opened the door 1 
would not run onto a dynamite bomb. It is a pretty fierce game. But 
that is easy. I will tell you one that is fiercer than that. That is not 
much of a game. I will tell you the game that Mr. Hawley wishes to 
stamp with the approval of twelve jurors and play on the American peo- 
ple. and if he  can do it, gentlemen, do it, and may God be with you; you 
will need Him. 



"HANG HXhf; SAVE ME." 
If a nran may commit eveiy crime known to man; if he may be a 

perjurer, a thief, a bigamist, a burglar, a murderer; if he inay bill nlan 
after man, and then, 1vlie11 he is caught with the blood dripping from his 
fingers, if he can turn  to you and say, here now, you told me to do i t ;  T 
mas down to your house last night, in your parlor, and you told me to  
plunge the dagger into tha t  man's heart; then if twelve jurors can turn 
from that  assassin, with his hands dripping with blood, and swear i t  
upon you, and take your life, i t  is the fiercest game that  was ever put 
up in the American republic, and tha t  ia what is asked for here. 

It is not enough for a plain, simple, honest inan to tell his sirnplo 
story a n d  clc~ouncc it n-, n lie. It iq not e11011?h t o  hriiir, wit- 
nesa after witness to  disprove it. This man, taken in his in- 
famy and crime, turns to  his neighbor and says, "You are the 
man," and he says to the jury, "Hang hiin and save me." Gentlemen, I 
do not know-I soxnetinles thinIr i t  is an  i:~sult to argue a case lilce this 
to twelve jurols, and I do not believe that  twelve men anywhere would 
do it. If one of you hzd seen the aci, i f  one of you knew i t  was true, 
you would not have a right to coi~vict upon tedimony like that. If you 
can hang Bill Bsj~~roor l  hecnus~ this njnlin:ll sxys he is wi l tv ,  then, 
gentlemen, no other criminal need suffer in Idaho. There is no doubt 
about it. Tell me why any Illan needs to go to the gallows or the plison 
when he can turn  and accuse his neiglibor, and twelve men believe him and 
take his bIood? Gentlemen, I am serious ahout this. I am either right 
or Hawley has gone crazy over it. And I have wondered and wondered 
and wondered whetl~er I could be wrong and whether they could find 
anywhere 011 the face of the earth twelve men who would do a deed like 
this. I do not believe it. If twel~re jurors could take away the life of a 
human being because a man lilie tha t  pointed his finger a t  him to  save 
his own life, then I would say tha t  human life would be safer in the 
hands of I larry Orchard than in the hands of a jury who would do it. 
Would any jury dream of i t? What are our teachings, our instincts, 
what have we learned from the past tliat we 4110uld ever dream of giving 
credit or countenance to a n m n ~ t ~ r  like t h n t ?  

MURDERER AND LIAR. 
Let us take a short view of this  fellow. Who is he?  And is he coa- 

verted? we will find out whom we have got to deal with before we deal 
with him. I have solnetimes thought I had a fair command of language, 
but i t  fails when I get to describing Harry Orchard, so I will just call 
him Orchard, and let i t  go a t  that. Who is this  fellow upon whose testl- 
mony you gentlelnen are asked to  shift this  crime to Haywood. Let us 
see: He is unique in history. If he is not the biggest murderer who ever 
lived, he is the h i ~ q e s t  liar. a t  least,  ever lived, nnd I undertake to 
say that the record of the English and American courte can not show r 
singIe man who has been impeached by as many witnesses as Harry 
Orchard. Why, gentlemen, if Harry Orchard were George Washington, 
who had come into a court of justice with his great name behind him, 
and if he was impeached and contradicted by as many as Harry Orchard 
has been, George Washhgton would go out of i t  disgraced and counted 
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the Ananias of the age. No ninn living could stand up against i t  except- 
ing a phenonienal murderer like Ol.cliard. If you h;td a lawsuit about 
a horse or a cow and you would go on the stand and thirty Illen would 
dispute you, wliat, would you exl~ect? RTouId you expect any jury to 
believe you? Why, your own lawyer would not believe you, unless you hired 
nawley. A l ~ d  yet in hen you talie an  infamous wretch like Orcllard and 
contradict liim by thirty 01. forty witnesses, a large riulnljer in every 
way disconnected with this case, lawyers tell you to believe him and 
take away a iliill~'s life on his testiuiony-all ~ ig i l t ,  gentlemen, if you can 
afford to do i t  go ahead ancl do it.  

Let rile say this, gentle~nen: I may be wroug, but I certainly never ' 

felt in my life as  strongly upon any question as  I do upon this; I never 
before felt as strongly the impossibility of any American jury giving 
credit t o  evidence as I feel i t  here. I limy rnistalie you twelve Inen. I 
have sa t  with you for nearly three months, and I have been trying to read ' 

you day after day. Yet I nlay mistake all of you; wllen I look int,o 
your eyes I may not see your souls as I think I do;  there may be deep 
down some hideous plan 01. sonic methocl that  I callnot und~rqtnnd.  or I 
may have gone daffy myself. But while I have thought of this subject, 
and lost nly sleep tliinking of it, 1 have never f c , J t  tlrere could be ally 
dnnger tha t  any American jury could take the word of a perjured mon- 
ster like this and with tha t  word depl.ive a fellow being of his life. Gen- 
tlemen, if I am wrong, i f  this jury, upon its ohtb and its consi~nce and 
before its God, ca.11 say i t  d r m a ~ ~ d s  a snclifice, \\re11 arid good. We 
will furnish you the victim and do i t  with a glad and cheerful heart. 

THE BACICSLIDING CONVERT. 

Who is  this fellow? Yettihone did not make him bad. He may have 
something to answer for, but, t11;lnlr God, he does not have to answer for 
that. It was not P~tt ihone's  clopr: tha t  mncle him the rteprn~red nionstpr 
that he is. He seems t o  have taken t h a t  dope with the milk from his 
mother's breast. Who is h e ?  LVe have not been farored with anything 
but his own story, and being sucll a monst~.ons liar he has not probab!y 
given us  the best evidence of hi~nself-the worst evidence. But take hie 
own story. A man who was bred to cheat and to lie; a tiIan who, a s ' a  
young man, in the f i ~ s t  blush of his manhood, gave his soul to  Christ- 
I do not  know about these seco~id conversions, whether they are any solider 
than the first or not. Do you, Senator? 

Mr. Rornh-I have not hacl the first. 
Mr. Darrow-He belonged to  the  church. Re was superintend- 

ent  of a Sunday School. He was a Christian Endeavorer. He 
is  not endeavoring any more, he  has got there. That mas when 
he was a, young man. B a t  t,hat did not hcln hiin then. Wow, 
maybe he has got religion for lieeps this time. If I was the 
governor and I thought he had I would kill him quick, before he got 
a chance to  get over it, and thus make sure of his soul. I do not think 
Harry ought to  t rus t  Slimself. But he had i t  before, and he cornmeneed 
to  cheat and he comnienced to steal and burned down his own cheese fnc- 
tory to  get the insurance, and he must have mrrde out a false affidavit 
in order t o  get it. It shows tha t  ho could lie under oath, too, at that 
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time. And he ran away with his neighbor's wife, and he Ieft his wife and 
his little child without a penny, and they never h e a ~ d  of him since until 
recently, and he went out into the world, not to worlc-oh, no, not for 
Harry, not to work. He knew a better ganie than that  and he coininenc~?d 
a better game still. He came West to grow up with the country. The 
limited field of Ontario was too small for him. E e  must have a name 
and he had to have loom to nlove aiound in-this man, tliis \\under who 
i a  so great in the eyes of Hawley that the whole world i s  perjured when 
placed beside him. Then what?  I do not kno~v what he did next. The 
woman he took away with him left him, which shows that she had sonie 
sense, even if she did go away with him. He went to the Coeur 
d'Alenes. He says that, although he had been in the union but a montll, 
he touched off one of the fuses tha t  blew up the Bunker Hill mill and 
killed two men. He wandered around, gambling and doing nothing for 
several years, and then he says he killed two men in the Vindicator mine, 
fourteen a t  the independence depot, murdered Lyte Gregory in cold blood, 
tried to  kill Peabody, Goddald, Gahbert, and a number of others; tried 
to  kill two hundred men in the Vindicator mine; tried to blow up the 
Idanha hotel and kill three or four hundred more; intended to blow up 
Max Malich's boarding house and kill five or six hundred more. All o f  
his intentions were away ahead of his achievement. He tried to kill 
Bradley and did kill Steunenberg. But  all this time he was a liar, an 
unstinted lisr. burned a s~ loon ,  made a false a f i d ~ v i t  to get t h e  insl~r- 
ance; told tha t  he had killed his brother when he had not; told tha t  he 
had killed John Neville when he had not, got hls pictule taken as a c i in~ i -  
nal committing murder-lied and lied and lied-violating, as I have said, 
every commandment of God and man, and then caught red-handed. 

THE GRILLING OF ORCHARD. 

Now you are asked t o  believe him. For what?  Now, let us see 
about it. Gentlemen, if he had stopped there, do you think you wou1.d 
have taken a chance on Bill Haywood's life? Suppose he had not 
got religion, then what? Now, if  I Iaid much stress upon the reli- 
gious end of this case I think I would want to have i t  proven. So far 
we have not anything but Orchard's word for it, and a little corroboration 
on a vital and material point would not hur t  his word. It seems to me 
we have nothing but that. Father McPartland has not come here and 
told about the laying on of hands. If I was going to take a chance on Bill 
Raywood's body, on the character of this man's soul, I would want some 
little bit of a scrap of evidence outside of him. Now, he may be the most 
religious man who has ever lived. Even then you can not always t rust  re- 
ligious men. I am sorry to say it, but it is true, because religious men 
have killed now and then, they have lied now and then. It is not a sure 
thing. If it was, we would have hard work with the evidence in this 
case. because we have had several religious wi tn~sses  ourselveq, and i t  
would be a hard job to tell which religious man was truthful. You would 
have to  say Orchard was, of course. But has he got i t ?  

He was captured red-handed at Caldwell. Mark the peculiarities of 
the fellow. He never did a courageous thing in his life, not one. Can 
you nhow me one act of his life tha t  had any courage? If his story is 



true, he was with a thousand men when he touched off the fuse at the 
Bunker Hill mill. I f  his story is true, he sneaked through the dark pas. 
sages of the mine and fixed a box of powder when he blew UP the Vin- 
dicator. I f  his story is  true, he sneaked back in the darlrness and put  
the box of powder under the station and ran away in the night when he 
killed fourteen men. If his story is  true, he laid a bomb a t  Goddard'q 
gate tha t  he might open it and be Irilled. If his stor? is true, he met a 
man coming out of a saloon, drunken, a t  m i d n i d ~ t   RE^ killed 11irrr with- 
out a chance for a word, for an act. If he Bas told the truth, he sneaked 
up the back stairs and poured arsenic or strychnine in wilk t o  poison 
n man and his wife and little habe. Tf his story is  true. he plantpd a 
bomb outside of BradleyJa door to kill, not Bradley, but the firet human 
being who might open that door. 

If it is true, he went up  in the night and laid a bomb a t  Strunenberg's 
gate, and then he ran back in the darltness and got allnost to the hotel 
before Steunenberg was dead. Will you show me the act t hz t  192s not 
the act of a sneaking, craven, coward in this man's life? Will you show 
me where he has ever met bravely a man or beast? Has 11e ever taken 
a chance in his miserable life? Has he ever met a foemnn where that  
foeman had a chance to shoot or a chance to  strike? HRS he ever goric 
into a court of justice and stood his grormd,and is not liis action in this cnse 
on a par with every act of that monstrous life. and yet poll are asked 
to  believe him. And Hamley tells you to say thnt he is  truthful and tha t  
our men and our women are perjurers because Harry Orchard, this crex- 
ture Orchard, ha? told the truth.  All lipht. gentlemen. Hqu-lev m l y  1:ao-v 
you better than I do. He may; I trust  he does not. Now, what does Orclz- 
ard do after he i s  caught? Did he not do just w h a t  he  ~ l t v i v s  d i d ?  

Why did not Orchard place the bomb under Steunenberg's bed at the 
Idnnha hotel? What docs he say? Not that  he thought i t  wo111rl biom 
up SL lot of innocent people; oh, no, not t ha t  he thought i t  hvould Bill 
sonle women and sonlo little non-combatant children. oh, no, but he was 
afraid maybe he could not get away. Are you p i n e  to believe him? You 
better lenve him to Hawle;).--he needs a pet in his old age. Afraid hc 
could not get away, and he was caught then a t  Caldwell, and the fir3t 
thing he  did was to  t ry  to get away. Tried to  get away-how? 

ORCHARD'S PAY FOR IiILLING RAYWOOD. 
NOW, gentlemen, let us have n little common sense ahout this case, 

aeeing Mr. HawIey has got through with his argun~ent. Suppose I was 
t o  go to  this jury and t r y  to demonstrate to  you that Harry Orchard 
would kill n man for $50. WouId you believe me?  You would think 
he would kill two for $50, wouldn't you? Now, gentlemen, would there be 
any doubt about i t ¶  Could there be one of you twelve men tha t  mould 
hesitate a moment to  believe lne i f  I came t o  you t o  demonstrate t h n t  
Harry Orchard ~vonld kill a mxn for $50? Now, silanov I rctme h ~ r r  
and say  to you that he would kill a man t o  save his own neck, then what? 
Did he ever get as much for anv act in his life as  he is getting for thiu? 
Why, if yon rolled together all the money tha t  he ever claims he  got 
from burning cheese factories and killinq men and from the gaming table 
it would all sink into nothing compared with the bribe that is offered 
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here for Haywood's life. Tell me tha t  you would believe tha t  this man 
would kill a man for $50 and you would not believe tha t  he would de- 
liver over three men to  death to  save his neck? Any need to  talk about 
that  l But what did Hawley say? Let us see what Hawley said. He 
says, "We have not promised hinl anything." Well, now, gentlemen, again 
is he crazy, or is he just deceiving you? Which? How do you know they 
have not promised him anything? Has McPartland said so? Has Good- 
iilg said so? Ras Van Duyn said so? The strong man a t  the back of this 
prosecution whose orders all  the rest obey to  the last letter, haa he said 
so? I do not suppose he Imows. Hawley has not said so, except i n  his 

, argument. Lawyers, like everybody else, have to be sworn before you will 
believe them, and you have to  watch a little then, sometimeu. Has any- 
body said so but  Harry Orchard? What do you think about a little cor- 
roboration on tha t  '! 

Mr. Richardson-He did not say so, either. 
Mr. Darrow-Well, 1 do not know as  he did, no. He did not say he 

was not promised anything, bu t  he practically eaid he thought he 
might have his life saved. 13ut I do not want to say anything like t l ia~. 
?Vhat do you think? Has he been promised anything? I liol~e the 
sellator has m:tcle a note about this, and maybe he will tell us. Is Or- 
chard to get anything? O r  has he got anything, for delivering these three 
enemies of the Mine Owners' Association into the lion's den? Let ua 
see. I do not Imo~v whether lle has been promised exactly, but he has been 
paid. You cannot fool Barry-. Hc got his money in advance. 

THE PROOF OF THE PAY. 
Let mo show you, gentlemen: The Court will instruct you tha t  you 

have a ljght to  take your common sense into the  jury box with you. Tn- 
stead of Mr. Eawley's argument you may take tha t  in there. A lawyer 
is  not presumed to have any, but a jury is. 

Harry Orchard was captured on the first of January, 1906, about 
eighteen months ago. He i s  living, isn't he? No doubt about that. He 
looks f a t  and sleek and healthy and not in danger of any sudden 
death. If to  save his miserable carcass he had not lied to Bill three 
men the grass would have been growing above his grave for twelve 
months past. Is there any doubt about tha t?  You cannot beat him 
out of the year and a half that  he has already had, and if it is worth 
only a dollar a day to him he ~vould kill these three men for tha t  a 
good many tirnes over. You cannot beat him out of that. But what 
else? Why, so long as he is doing this great service for the state would 
anybody think of kilIing Harry Orchard? You might as well kill the 
a~enging  angel and get done with the whole scheme. They need him in 
their business. 'CVhile Harry Orchard is living, and society is safe, I 
take it nobody intends to kill him until we pet through with Hay- 
wood, with Moyer, with Pettibone; until the last trial hits heen had; 
until the last appeal to the supreme court has been taken; until ihey 
shall be hanged and their bodies laid away in the earth or eaten up with 
quiclrlime. They will take care of Harry up to that  time, won't they? 
So he bas got a fair lease of life, and I think an insurance company 
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might carry a policy on him-at least one of the kind tha t  he used 
to  work for. 

Rut Jack Simpkins is still a t  large. Jack has been evading the 
Pinkerton detectives, who, for the time being, have bean RO busy hunt- 
ing up this wonderful mass of evidence against Moyei-, Hapwood and 
Pettibone that  they have not had time to get Jack. Well. I do not know 
when they will get him. They never ask me about him. I have Ib 
idea when this great magician, iMcPartland, will reach out  his hands 
and grasp him. McPartland is getting pretty old himself, and if he 
does not get him before he dies there will never be any other man tha t  
will get him, because when he dies all the acuteness of the detective 
association will die with him. He is the only detective tha t  I ever 
heard of that  could quote scripture, and i t  wouId be too oad to  have 
anything happen to him. Jack is a t  large, and they surely wouldn't hang 
Harry Orchard until Jack was caught and prosecuted and the jury had 
finally passed on him, and the courts had passed on him and his body 
was laid away. Then, there is  a lot more of them. Bill Davis is liv- 
ing; Billy Easterly is a t  large; there are 40,000 members of the West- 
ern Federation of Miners, all criminals, and Orchard knows them all, 
and so long as  there is a neck to hang, why kill this man? You might 
just as well do away with the gallows so you couldn't hang any more, na 
to  kill him. 

Nonsense! Is  there any man on earth who believes tha t  anyone 
has any purpose of hanging this man? And if so, when? And he would 
have been dead a year only for this. A year! Thank God. we have 
had a year of his society on the earth anyhow. We have shown what a 
wonderful thing the Christian religion is, when i t  can lnalte over Harry. 
Now let us see: 

ORCHARD'S MOCKERY OF' RELIGIOTY . 
I speak under disadvantages with Hawley when I talk about the 

Christian religion, for a t  Ieast he talks as  if he knew. Now if I make 
some slip here is the senator to  come along and pick me up after- 
wards and show me where I am wrong. If he doesn't know himself, Haw- 
ley will tell him tonight after I get through, so he will take no chances. 
But I am go in^ to  take a chance to  talk a little about tha t  sub- 
ject, for of all the miserable claptrap tha t  has been thrown into s jury 
for the sake of getting i t  to  give some excuse for taking the life of a 
man, this is the worst. I wonder, gentlemen of the jury, if Hawley would 
ask you to believe Orchard if he had not got religion? Do you suppose 
he would? Do you suppose he would, when Orchard admitted tha t  he 
had not only committed every crime in the calendar, crimes without 
number, but that  lying was always one of his long suits? He could 
do a lot of things pretty well but he could do that  the best of all. Now 
do you suppose Hawley would ask you to  believe him and hang Bill 
Haywood, without giving him religion? So they had to  get religion and 
throw it into this case. and they have gotten i t  from nobody but Harry 
Orchard. McPartland hasn't told you anything about it. Nobody who is 
supposed to be any judge of it has told you anything about it. Nobody 
has said anything about i t  excepting Harry Orchard and Hawloy. Well, 
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le t  us see what he has. I want t o  say a few words for the benefit, 
not of this jmy, but of those sicldy slobbering idiots who talk about 
Harry Orchard's religion. If I conlcl t l~inli  of any stronger .term to 
apply to them T woulcl apply tha t  term. The English language falls down 
on Orchard and likewise upon a11 those idiots who talk about Orchard's re- 
generation. Now I am going to  take a chance and talk about t,hat for 
a few minutes. 

There is one thing tha t  ia well for them to  remember right a t  the 
beginning, and tha t  is tha t  a t  least a month before Dean Hinclis persuaded 
hi111 tu lay his sins on Jesus, Father lMcPartla~ld had persuaded him 
to lay his criiues on Moyer, Haywood and Yettibone. You might remem- 
ber that  in starting. It i s  on a par with the character of a character- 
less man-I a m  referring t o  Orchard now, so there mill be no mistake. It 
is a smooth game of shifty Harry. You are asked to  give him im- 
munity and to  give imnlunity to everyone of his kind. You are asked 
to  say to  the old and t o  sap to  the youth, you may lrill, you may burn, 
you may lie, you niny steal, you illay commit any crime or a,ny act forbid- 
den by God or forbiclden by Inan, :!ad then you can turn and throw your 
criices on soil~ebody else, and throw your sins on God, and the lawyers mill 
sing your praises. All right, gentlemer~. If in your judgment public pol- 
icy denlands it, go ahead and do it. Don't stop for a llttle matter like 
Gill Haywood's neck. 

Shifty Harry meets McPartland. R e  has lived a life of crime and 
been .taken in his deeds, and ~7ha.L cloes he clo? Why, he saves his sold 
by throwing the burden on Jesus, and he saves his life by dumping it 
onto Niloyer, Haywood and Pettibone. Elow can you beat t h a t  game, gen- 
tlemen? Can you be:lt i t ?  Ant1 you twelve men are asked to set your 
seal of approval o n  i t  and to  malx  that  contract good so it may go 
out to every youth in  the land. You may need to  do it, bu t  
it should be a mighty strong necessity t h a t  would lead you to  do it, should 
it no t?  

AN ELOQUENT TRIBUTE TO RELIGION. . 

Now, gentlemen, like Brother Hawley and I know like Senator Borah, 
I, too, 1i:rve a ~)~.oiour~, l  ~ e g ; l ~ d  for 1.elipio11. hliue ~ i i n y  1)s. h~o. i t lr i .  th;in 
Brother Ha~vley's. I don't want to  say to these twelve men tha t  I think the 
Cllristiari ~.eligion is the onIy 1,eligion that  the ~ v o ~ l d  has evei. lrliown. 1 du 
not believe it for a 111on;ent. I !lave t l ~ c  greatest lwpect for any religion or  
any code of ethics that  would do anything to  help man, whatever t h a t  
religion may be. Anil for  the poor black nren who looks into the black 
face of his wooden idol and who prays to  that  wooden idol t o  make him 
a better I I I R I I  i i l ~ d  R sti~origei. 1!1:?11, 1 have  tlle l)i.oiol~ndest l.~syt.ct. 1 
know that there is in him, when he addresses his prayers to  his wooden 
idol. the same holy sentiment, ailcl the same feeling tha t  there is in the 
breast of a C111.isti:rn when he raises his plxtyer to the Christian's God. I t  
is all one. It is a11 a piece of ethics and a higher life, ant1 no inan could 
have more respect for it t l la l~ I have. In the ways of  tlic world and in  
the language of the world I all1 no t  a professed Christian. I do not 
pretend to be. I hi~ve hucl 111y d~ul l t s ,  my duubts ahrut t l~ings which t o  
other men's minds seem plain. I loolt out on the great universe around 
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me, at the millions and millions of stars t ha t  dot the firmament of 
Heaven in the night time; I look out on all the mysteries of Nature, 
and the mysteries of life, and I ask myself the solution of the rid- 
dle, and I bow my head in the presence of the infinite mystery and 
say, "I do not know." Neither do I. I cannot tell. But for tha t  man 
who understands i t  all and sees in it the work of a Supreme Being, who 
prays to  what he honestly believes to be t h i ~  higher power, I have the 
profoundest regard; and any communion with him, any communion of 
that  poor, weak mortal with that  higher power, t ha t  power which per- 
meates the universe and which makes for good, any communion tha t  lifts 
a man higher and higher and makes him better, I have regard for 
that. And, if Orchard has that  religion, well and good. I am willing 
that he should have it. I hope that he has it. I would not deny that  con- 
solation and that  solace to him, not for a moment. But I ask you whether 
he has it, and what it means to  him? I have no desire to injure Harry 
Orchard. I am not made tha t  way. I might have once when the 
blood in mo was Jiri.n:lllel and my- feelings were stronger. But I, like Eawley, 
have been tempered by years, and I have no desire to hurt even Barry Or- 
chard, despicable as I thinlr he is. I have no desire to take his life. 
I am not responsible for his being. I cannot understand the purposes of 
the infinite God who fashioned his head as he saw fit to fashion it. I can- 
not understand the purpose of tha t  mysterious power who molded 
Harry Orchard's brain as he pleased. I am willing to leave i t  to him t o  
judge, to him who alone knows. 

A. PLEA FOR ORCHARD, THE UNFORTUNATE. 

I never asked for a human being's life and I hope tha t  I may never 
ask for human life to the end of my days. I do not ask for his. And 
if the time should ever come tha t  somebody pronounces against him 
the decree of death and nobody else asks to save his life, my petition will 
be there to save it, for I do not believe in it. I do not believe in man 
tinkering with the work of God. I do not believe in man taking away the 
liIa 01 his fellow iman. 1 do not believe tiiat I undclstnnd, 1 do not be- 
lieve that  you understand, I do not believe that  you and I can say in the 
light of Heaven tha t  if we hnd been born as he mas born, if our brain 
had been moulded as his was moulded, if we had been surrounded as 
he has been surrounded, we could say that  we might not have been like him. 

A DISCUSSION O F  ORCHARD'S EVIDENCE. 

It is not for me to pass condemnation upon him, but simply to  discuss 
his evidence and to discuss him as he and his evidence affect this case. 
Then, gentlemen, let us see whether he is changed. I do believe that  
there is something in the hazrt of man which, if rightly appealed to, 
may make him better. But I do not believe in miracles. I do not believe 
you could change in a minute a man's very nature. I do not beIieve it was 
ever done or ever can be done. You can't take Harry Orchard's face or his 
form and make it over again in a second, and you can't take his crooked 
brain and his crooked, dwarfed soul, and make it new in a minute, and if 
you, gentlemen, are going to bank on that  in this case, then you are 
taking a serious responsibility with Bill Hagwood's lift. I might have a 
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little more confidence in this if he had not confessed to  the Pinkertona 
before confessing to the Savior. You might have a little more confidenee 
in this if he had not sought to save his life before he turned to saxe his 
soul. But there are certain things, gentlemen-I will not say they are 
indications of a Christian spirit: I know that there are Christians on this 
jury, because we have studied the personnel of this jury as carefully as 

, we can; but I do not propose to make my statement more nor less be- 
i cauee of that. 

THE WAY MEN GET RELIGION. 

To my mind these religious instincts permeate all systems of Iife. 
One may be higher, better, further developed than another; but deep in 
the heart of the primitive man is that religious instinct which makes him 
look up to some higher power, as he wonders about the mystery of his 
being, the mysteries of life and the mysteries of the great universe around 
him. He forms his prayers, and whether they are to  the same God or 
not, whether the same name or not, and the aame substance or  not, 
I have faith t o  believe that, if they are the honest and sincere expres- 
sions of his so~zl, they reach the same God at last, no matter how 
men think they dieagree. I have tried in my way, and have failed 
' oftener than I have succeeded. I have sworn off on the first day of 

January, and b e p 1 1  again on the second, sometinles even lleld out till 
the third or fourth. I have tried many and many a thing and failed, 
and sometimes succeeded, indifferently, and I know the weakness of the 
flesh, the strength of human nature, the struggles it takes t o  make a 
new man. Gentlemen, Hgwley doesn't know half ae much about religion 
as 1C do. If he knew anything whatever about religion, he never would tell 
twelve men that something could be sprinkled upon the head of Earry 
Orchard and his nature would change in the twinkling of an eye. He 
is as crazy on religion as he is on other things. You can't do it. He 
might get a glimpse, he might get an insight, and he may struggle on and 
on and on for something higher and better, and fall while he reaches, 
and reach while he falls, and in this way men get religion like they get 

% other things that  are good. 
Let us see what he has got, and then we will see whether it is re- Z ligion. There are certain qualities which are primal with religion. I un- 

dertake to say, gentlemen, tbat if H a l ~ y  Orchard haa religion now, that 
I hope I may never get it. I want to ssp to  this jury that before 
Harry Orchard got religion he mas bad enough, but i t  remained to re- : ligion to make him totally depraved. Now, I am measuring my words, 

1 and I am going to show i t  t o  t h i ~  jury, and I am going to  show i t  to  you 
j so plainly, gentlemen, that I believe nobody can doubt it. I say that 

there was some spark of honor and integrity and manhood about that de- 
; praved man before he got reIigion, but that  after he went into McPart- 
j land's handa he became totally depraved. We will mention a few things. 4 What does religion mean? It means love, it means charity, i t  means kind- 
; liness, i t  means forgiveness to 8 man whose life has been covered with 

slime and filth. If he had got religion it ought to be kindness and 
charity and forgiveness to other men whose lives are like his. Would you 
have any confidence in religian if i t  didn't mean that? Would you have 

t 
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any confidence in religion if a man was as cruel, as heartless as he was 
before? Take Orchard. Take his story. He was acquainted with Moyer. 
He was acquainted wit11 Haywood. He mas acquainted with Pettibone. 
He had worked hiii~self into the confidence of Pettitone at  least. He 
had been invited to his house. He hnd met his wife. H e  had eaten a t  
his table. He had slept in his bed. He was his friend. Gentlemen of the 
jury, I ask you, who watched him, who saw this monster on the witness 
stand, I ask you whether there was the least looli of pity, the least sign 
of regret, the least feeling of sorrow when this man sought t o  hand over 
his friends to the executioner? Did he look an? different? Was 
there any different gleam in his eye or different cast in his countenance 
or a single flutter of his iron nerve tha t  wasn't there when he met a 
~eeling, staggering, dru~llien mnn and sliot hirn three times before he co~lld 
raise his l ~ a n d ?  If there is  any pity in his soul, if there is any of the 
heavenly mercy, i f  there is any of the Christlike forgiveness it hasn't gone 
out to Pettibone a t  whose table he had eaten. But let us take a case t h a t  
is plainer than that,  gentlemen of the  jury. You ale  not elllotional men. 
Here are twelve men ~ v h o  are nlainIy farmers; you haven't read fairy 
stories. Yau work with your hands. Most of you, perhaps, 
never heaid a fairy story until you llearcl Orchard's. I an1 no t  - 
going t o  appeal to you on any fantagtic basis. I an1 going to p u t  a 
proposition to  twelvc hard-halided a n d  hmd-headed men of Iclnho. and 
I want you t o  say, gentlemen of the jury, whether religion has cbanged 
the nature of this wretch, and I: should expect if any of you were in- 
terested in  religioll you would say tha t  he hadn't got it. You would have 
to say it t o  keep from giving up your own. 

PICTURES THAT WILL COME. 

Le t  us  see how it appeals to  twelve men. When yon are through with , 
this case and have gone back to your homes and think of it, as you will, : 
over and over and over again (foi i t  is a historical case-it is seldom , 
in the lifetime of ally man that lie is a j n r o ~  on a case a s  biqtm-icnl RY . 
th is) ,  pictures will come back to  you, of this lawyer, t h a t  lawyer, of!  
this court, of this witness, of th i s  de1end:znt-you w ~ l l  see tlieln wl~lle yo 

" i are waking, you will see them while you are sleeging, you will dream 
of it and you will th ink  of i t ,  and you will wonder whether your poor, 
wealr, human judgment erred, or whether you did right, or whether, ? 
after all is said and done, you nlight not have done othertvise. Pictures f 
will come of the figures in this case, ant1 amongst the rest Harry Orchard's. 
It nlay not come to  all of you alilie. It may not come t o  me as i t  comes t 
to  others. One of you mag picture Harry Orchard as he is meeting this / 
drunken man realing out of Ihe saloon and shooting hi111 to death in the 
darkness of the night. Another Inan may picture him as he places the ( 
fagot under Neville's saloon and runs itmay. Xnotlier may picture him as ; 
h e  plsnts a I>ou of pour1 3. ~ m t l n  the stntlon n i ~ ( l  I1 l i i .+ i~+ off in tJ1e 11'11.k- 
ness t o  save his life, while he sends fourteen souls unshriven into the great 
beyo~td. Anotl~ei mag pictui e hlili IJI !ci~ig d ~ J Q I I I / J  xt btt c~l~eiil)e~ g 3 gdte. 
Halvley will picture 11in1 ns a cbe~ul~ im with i ~ i ~ l q s  g ~ o n i n g  o l ~ t  florn 
his shoulders and  with a 11nlo jlrst nl~nvr  1 1 i ~  h ~ ~ r l  and  i i n ~ i n w  sonys. with 
a lawyer on one side of him and McPartland on the other. I don't 
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know yet how Borah will picture him, b u t  werybody will pictura him 
according t o  how they see him. IVly picture is none of these-noue of these. 
I see what to  me is the crowning ac t  of infamy in Harry Orchnrd's life, 
an act  which throws into darkness every other deed i h a t  he ever cola- 
mitted as long as he has lived, and he didn't do this unt i l  he had got 
Christianity or hlcYartlaudism, whatever tl~aL i s ;  unt i l  he had confcaseci 
and been forgiven by Father McPartland, he had some spark of manhood 
still  in hia breast. There have been other criminals in th i s  world, great 
criminals. Our penitentiaries a re  full  of criminals whose names axe uu- 
known. Men have mounted the scaffold, they have fsllen through the 
t r ap  door, they have been strangled t o  death, their bodies have been eaten 
up  with quicklime inside of the prison walls, and they protected their 
names. 'I'heir name is the only thing sacred t h a t  was left t o  the criminal. 
Look a t  this fellow, you twelve men, and tell me what you think of him, 
and whether you will take away a life on account of him. Who wt~4 
he7 H e  left Ontario a young wan. His record was bad. It wasn't  
infamously bad. His name was not  Harry Orchard; his name was Al- 
bert Iloxseley when he left. H e  >vent t o  Uetrolt with another man's 
wife. When he reached Detroit his name was Harry  Orchard. He lied, 
he stole, he burglarized, he committed arvcu and became a murderer and 
his name was Harry Orchard. His best friend never knew 
ally name but that.  The name of Horseley was buried deep in tliirs crim- 
inal's heart and he protected it as  the one spark of goodness tha t  bound 
him back t o  his childhood days. He was not totaIly depr~ved. 
He protected his name. He had gone away from Urllario. l i e  had taken 
the name of Orchard and he had covered it wit11 infamy and slime. but  
he had left the  ]lame of Horseley con~paratively pure i n  the litt le Uiitario 
town. Now, gentlemen, this is the picture of Harry Orchard that cornea 
t o  me. You may picture him a saint  if you want to  or if you can! and, if 
you can, you may take away the life of a fellow being on his testimony, and 
I will say to  you a s  the judge does to the condcmn~d murderer: "2vJv?a-v God 
have mercy on your souls." You may pitrture him as jou  think he 
should be pictured. But  here is this picture; here is rt l i t t le xural town 

j off in Canada; here is a country graveyard with a white fellcc around 
' it and a church by i ts  side. Here a r e  two old-fashioned Qnr~lter people 

who read their Bible md who love their God and r h o  live, in the sight and 
i the  fear of their God, a quiet, peaceful, honest. life, and m i ~ o  reared their 

family hoping they would follow ia t h e  footsteps of tha t  Quaker couple. 
f They died and are buried in  that old grsi,veyard in the couatry t,o~ru; the  . 
1 names on the marble headstonc are  never heard of beyond the li!cita of the  
; l i t t le town where they lived and where they died; but  they lived an 11011est 

life, an upright, God-fearing life, and they laid down their b i n d ~ ~ r  ivl~en i t  
1 was done and sleep the peaceful sleep of the just, and their aames were re- 
t spected and their names were honored. They hoie two Soils znd six 
a daughters. One son went out into the world. I-Ie m:tri-ied. FTP i iad x 
4 chid. Temptation overcame him. H e  left his wife to toil for 1 herself. He left his child, a baby girl, unprotected and unaided 
: to grow up alor~e tvitllout a dollar or a penny, 01. a father'a love: a13d ho 

went out into the world and covered himself with nlud arid dirt and 
i crime until  be was revolting i n  the sight of God and man. The brother 
1 



stayed a t  home, a quiet, peacef~tl, honest man, having children t o  bear 
the Horseley name to generations yet unborn. The sisters married. They 
had children in  whose veins flowed the Horseley blood. They are quiet, 
peaceful, honest citizens. The little girl, growing up neglected, uncared for, 
lka8 been struv ling alone until she is nine years old. The Horseley nauie 
is ail ahe hasbaBhe honor of the grandfather and the grandmother sleeping 
in their Qualier graves, tha t  is all she has. She has nothing from the 
lather who deselted her. Suddenly there comes back a story tha t  t he  
~llonumental criminal of the ages mas Albert HorseIey; that this man, who 
went out from this quiet town, covered himself with crime and with 
infamy, so that  every neigl~bol. who goes through that  quiet yard can 
point to  the grave of this old Quaker couple and say, "There lies khe 
fatiler and the mother of tlie greatest criminal of modern times;" and 
the  broiher and the sisters, living and toiling as best they can, wit11 the 
burden of the world upon them, the world now can point to them, 
"There is the blother, there are tile sisteis, cl~ese alc 'LIE liieces and these 
aye the nephews of Lhat nlollater who has challenged tlie civilized world 
with his iniquities and ins climes," and the deselted wife and, above all, 
thc little gill, flesh of his flesh and bone of his bone. Gentlemen, I 
want to lalow what any one of you think of this miserable wretch wllo 
Blighted the life of this deserted girl to save his niiserable neclr? Am I 
still crazy? Are the men of Idaho different from other men? Does not 
the snme 5011, of blood firjm t!~~ou,gl~ your veins as fiolris through the 
veins of ;dl men who ever lived? Call anybody loolc upon this act with any- 
thing but liorror, c11d yet Ilawley says every human being is to be con- , 
demlied \vl~o hns dared to rml couliter to his perjured word. Think o f ,  
t h t  girl! Ccntlanen, every act of this villian's life pales into insig- 1 

nificanca compared to the crime collllnitted against that  child. The " 

blowing up of the Indepelldei~ee depot was a sacrament colnprtred v i t h  : 
run~iirlg tl1:1t poisoned d:>cge~- into the heart of a nine-year-old babe, n 
dagger tha t  could not kill, gentlemen. If it could kill, well and good. ; 
ULLL illis was a d~ggel. tilaL \ ~ o ~ i : d  icater and coilode xr:d leave i i ~ :  
pain and sting and leave the fingers of the n-orld pointed a t  her and: 
the voice of the world railed against her as long as her offspring remain ! 
upon the e:titll. And jvlly did he do it? You know why he did it. He 
Iir,tl ylotected this one thing tlirougli 311 his crimes; ~ ~ n t i l  Be spoke his i 
anlrlo ilgon this wit~xess stand nobody knew i t  excepting tlrat "inner circle" j 
to ~r~horn he coilfided it. He had kept i t  through all his crime and throuzh 1 
all his wandcling, and the ct~arncter of his dead father and the name o f f  
lris brother 8r:d s i s t e ~ s  and tlie helpless babe and the  llonor of his wife, t 
th-se n t  least x c r e  unn~sailcd. It m;Ls left for IlcPartland to help him 
comn;it thc crowning infamy of his infanlous career. Ancl why did he dq 
i t?  Not to give nny glory or' any luster to his family riame. Ah, no, he 
wasn't so proud of his name tha t  he wnnted some of the reflection to  

i 
rench to this child and to these brotllers and to these sisters. Not for 
gIory, not for honor. 1 

THE CClZIillE O F  FATHER. I\lcPhRTLAND. 
1Ie [lid it, ge~ltleniell of the  jury, beczuse the miserable, contenlptible 

Pinkerton detective had persuaded hinl that hifi story would gain more 

. 



credit with tlic jury if he g w e  his real name; because 14cPartland had 
perfiu~ded him if he mould give his l l a~ac  it would help t o  Lie the rope 
around Bill Haywood's neck. That is why lie cIirl it. Ire ga.ve i t  Lo wreak 
vengeance upon an orpnnizaiion whiell they  linve b ~ e r l  dr~ggillg a ~ l d  hound- 
ing t o  the  grave. Gentleinea. : L ~ I  I n l o n n ?  Is t l~ele ally mall t h a t  cen 
ever think of Harry Oreharcl-any nlnn I)nt Hnxvlev-is t l~ere nng sane 
man, I will say. xvho can evel- tliinlr of IInny 01cllnl-d rsrcpl  in Ioatlri:i9 
and disgust? You have  seen him hele. You have heard Itis story. Y o i ~  
]lave see11 him sleelc and fat sriJ ~ v e l l  fed, fuciug this jury day b day 
asking for this man's hloocl. Do you ever ~xrant t o  see l i i ln ag:~ixT Do 
you ever m ~ n t  t o  hear h i s  name saa in?  111 t he  future ~v l1e~1  you a r e  iry- 
ing t o  find the most i n f a m ~ u q  \ v ~ s d  that tlie English lallgunse l ~ a s  given 
us can you t1ii1ink of anything but  Orc.h%rd? Do you wn!it to  cad a 
paper %gain ~ v i t l l  his n a ~ n e  in it? And yet, gentlr~llen, upon the te.;tinior~r 
of this h ~ u t e ,  t h i e  lllnn who ~rronld nsq~ss inate  his onrn nine-venr-old girl 
with a dagger a. thonsnnd liuies illole r i t ~ l i c i i l ~ : ~  n13tl i l n - d l \ r  1 1 1 1 1 1  curt 
that kilIs, upon his te~ t in lony  yon are asked t o  get rid of. Bill Eay- 
wood. Fol n .h? t?  p17~4 . 1 p 1 { - t 7  I \ - :  i : t L c ?  \ I I V \ ~ W ~ I -  

else swear anything againet hilllf Has any other voice been raised 
to accuse h i m ?  011. Iln You n l c  35kril t o  t ~ l : ~  I ~ i s  life I~PI+PIIC( ,  ~ O \ V I L  ill 

Colot3do nnr l  iln ill  ( l ~ p  C'npl1:. r? '&lpnpq l l r t  :v 1 . r t  , I - T ; Z  < ; i  41.p P ' i  T q  0\=,1t- 

ers' Association, nnd because he h ~ u  11ecu organizin: t h ~  xvenk, the poorj 
the toilers-has bee11 welding together in one q e z t  brother'tlooil those men 
-has been calling thein t o  fight dnilcr one banner f o r  a. con~ulo l~  cause; 
and for that reason he has raised up agai~rvt him the  power of this body 
of men, and you are asked t o  kill Bill EIay~vood. 

THIS IKILTAING O F  TlIE II.IEROI!!S. 

To Itill hiln, g e ~ ~ i l e l n e ~ ~ !  I rn'r~lt t o  spral; t o  you l,lainly. Mr. Bay- 
* wood is no t  my greatest conccrn. O t l ~ e r  Illen I l n x ~  c l i ~ i l  he fo~e  him. Other 
; Inen have been mar ty~s  to  s holy cmlse since the n.or.ld becan. Wh~revcr 

nien have looked npmnl-d and onwnid. f o r y o t t ~ n  their srlfisl~ness, struqelrd 
fo r  humanLty, uToi krd for the poor and the menlr. they hnve been sacrificed. 1 They have been sucrificrd. in the pzisoa, on tilo seaflold. in the B a n ~ r .  

f They have met t h e i r  d ~ a t h ,  2nd h e  cnn ~ n e e t  his. i f  you t~\relve men say 
j he must. Bzct, ge+ztlenle+~, yvzc slro1-l-sig7~fecZ I , I ~ T I  of t7te ~ ~ ~ - o s r c u t i o ~ t ,  ,I/UU q n ~ 1 2  

{ of the Mill F O?on@rs' rrssociatintl, you, ?icnpk   rho lcould cure I tnfrcd  71-ilh 
f hate, go% %rho t f l i l d ~  YOU cnn C ~ - ' Z I P ~  ozri t h e  feel i i lgs crud i h c  h o l ~ c s  mrc l l  t f ia  \ aspirafzoxs of nimr b y  ty ing a ~toosc o:.o?rud 78;s ~l~ra f i ,  yri?~ rr-l~o trrc s r rk i vg  
; t o  kill him, 9 1 0 t  becozrsr: it i s  Ha~y~~ioor l ,  b u t  bcrcrzcse he ~c!~7-ese+lt.c a r'lncs, 

don't be so Blind, don't be so fooZisF~ as t o  b c l i ~ v e  yolc ecru st:n~lr j rr  i 7 ~ e  
Western Federation of Jli.i iers w h e n  ! / O I L  fie a 9,oIle ~ ~ O T L I E C I  1~i.s ~ Z P C ~ ,  P)oql't 
Be so hli~zd in yotrr rnndirers os fo 7wlinw f i i o l  i,?rol you olnlrp tiilrr i i r s h  I laew gyaves you zvi71 k i l l  t h e  Znhor .n~owr~nci>i or lrlc ~r.o?-ld T ~ ~ v t  t o  STY 

P 
t o  you, gentlemen, Bill Baytvood can't die zlaless you Icill him. You 
must tie the rope. You twelve Inen of Idaho, the burden will bc on you. 
If at  the behest of illis mob you shonlil  Iijll nil1 H:lymood, he is mortal, f he will die, but  1 want  t o  say t h a t  a million mpn will grnb up the 
banner of labor at the open grave w.vhel.e Haywood lays it down, and 
in spite of prisons or scaffolds o r  fire, in spi.te of pros~cntion o r  jury, 



or courts, these men of willing hands will carry it on t o  victory in the end. 
A BOQUET FOR McPARTLAND. 

Gentlemen of the jury: I think when I closed last ' night 
I was s.ty~ng something about Harry Orchard. I want to apologize 
for nnging too much about Unrry Orchard. I have always been just a 
little c n r ~ f n l  of my conversation and the topics tha t  I discuss, especially 
in public. and T feel t ha t  I owe you an apoIogy for using his name so 
often. nut T can't help it, Eminent lawyers up  here in Idaho have 
serionqlv propoced to  hang a man. take him out and kill him, on the 
testirnnnv of Harry Orchard, and tha t  is my excuse for talking about it. 
I hone after 1 am done with this case I will never have to use his nnnle 
again nr see i t  ~ g a i n  or hear of i t  again. I have tried to  give you n 
short cl:efch of this man upon whose teatimony they hope to  take ama 
the life of one of your fellow citizenq. If we find who he i 
I do not think there is  any danger of my overstating it. Whe 
I malca little refrrences t o  Bill Hnmvood or Brother Rorah. 
might nossi1)lv overstate, hut  T am safe when T am talking about Harr  
Orch~rrl  T can't overstate that. You would have to  make the Ensrlis 
lanm~lme all over spin to do justice to  tha t  subject. but I hrcve tried t 
sketch him ~o tha t  where his evidence appears in this wse, and i t  is a 
tha t  do-s annear in condemnation of these men, ~ o u  woiild know who h 
is, and tt-hlt he is  and whether he hns been miracnloi~slv made into a 
honest man. nnd m h e t h ~ r  a jury 
testinwnv. I P R T ' ~  alone hnneing a 
ley tellq nq that  McPnrtland h 
deterti.-P i ~ n ' t  he? But  here is 
t ha t  mill 1 1 4  49 long as the ages last--McPnrtland's convereion 
Don't ro17 think th i~l  detective is wasting his time d o m  in th 
office in t lv  city of Denver? From the beqinning of the wor 
aEv rc i r -~le  1il.e this performed before? T,o, and hehold! A m 
spent his life as a Pinkerton-isn't a, preacher--he 
been nrll7ined exrent in the Pink~l-ton office-hut here i? a man who has 
ch~lle~rwrrl the world-Harry Orchard-who has lived his life up to  this 
time. snd he h a s  gotten over whnt relipion he ever had. and he meets this 
Pinlterton detective who never did anything in his life hut  lie and chent 
and rcheme for the life of a detective is  a living lie, t ha t  is hi9 buqineqs; 
he livw one f ~ o n i  the time he gets up in the morning until he goes to bed; 
he is d~reivinq peoale. and trapaing people and lvine t o  people and imvos- 
ing cn npoi,lr: t?mt is  his trade, and Harry Orchnrd is caught. and he 
meets this f-mons detective, who speakq to  him familinrlv about David and 
St. P v i i 7  qn4 Kellv the Rum. nnil a few niorc of his ncm~-;ntances and 11s 
spcnlrs of them in the most familiar way. And then he holda out the hope 
of life 2nd 111 t h ~ t  life could offer to Rar rv  Orchard. and lo  and behold, he 
soon h e c o ~ n ~ s  B Christian. Now, gentlemen, Savonarola, who was a meat 
pre~caher. srnrl n mighty man in his dnv .  is dead. He went ur, in flames 
long ago. 2nd he cannot convert the world. John Wesley is deriri. Crnnmer 
i s  dead. Mnoiiv i q  dend. Pre t ty  much all of them are  gone. What is the 
matter with McP~r t l and  changing the s i m  on his office, and eoinrr into 
the business of saving souls instead of snaring bodies? If he couId convert 
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a man like Orchard in t h e  tmi~lliling of an  eye, I submit he  i s  too valuable 
a Illan t o  waste 111s time in a Plnhelton detective office trying t o  catch 
men. I3e had better go out in the vineyard and go to  work and bring 
in souls. A illan who corild mash H a l l y  Oichai-dJs soul as  white a s  wool 
need not liesitate a t  tacbling any s o ~ t  of a job t h a t  came his way. H e  is 
a woaderful cietective, but  his faille as  a detective would be eclipsed in  a 
nloment if lie would go into the business of saving souls instead of catch- 

* ing men. But I mig11t s u c y ~ s t  to this good man,  who t ,~ Iks  af 
St. Paul  and David a s  if they had been shadows t h a t  he had used in 
his oBice, I mlglit sl~ggest to Alr. NcPart laad,  tlie wise and the good, 
who quotes the Eible in one iuoinent and then tries to  xinpose upon some 
vietinl in the next, who quotes Scripture in one sentence and then lies i n  
the next, who utters blessings with one word a ~ l d  curses with the next, 
I might suggest to  this good man t h a t  If-illiam Haywood has a soul, 
Moyer has a soul, Pettibone has a soul. Why not go t o  Moyer, Haywood 
and Pettihone and tell them some of your stolies of St. Paul  and David, and 
oEer to  wash their sins away? Why not give some attenti011 t o  the sou!s 
of the men whose bodies they a le  trving to  consign to  tlie tomb? Do you 
suppose McPn~t land is interested in Haywood's soul? Do you suppose he is 
interested in Aloyer's? Do you suppose he is  interested in Harry  Orchard's? 
Do you suppose he is interested in Itis ou711? Do you suppose he is interested 
in  a n ~ t h i n g  eucept weaving a web around these men so tha t  he may he 
able t o  hang them by the neck until dead? And t o  do i t ,  like the devil, he 

+ quotes Scripture. To do it.  t h ~ r e  isn't a scheme or a plan or a device of 
g his wily, crooked brain tha t  he won't bring into action, whether i t  is the 

Bible or cletective yarns-there is none too good for McPartland. And 
then he will have n lawlyer to  say: "Here, behold Mepartland's work. Here 

j i s  Harry Orchard, wit11 a pure soul and a clean heart, and he told you . 
r. twelve men a story bg ~vhich you can afford t o  take away the lives of three 

men.'' Well, al l  right, perhaps you will do it, but  I don't think so. 

I ORCFIARD, THE LITERARY CHARACTER. 
I 
,i Now I want t o  take another view of this  man Orchard. It seems tha t  
'. I never can ~l.?t awnv frnni l ~ i ~ n  HP FPS tnlr l  -nu - mi-ent S ~ O T V  T l i ~  fnirv ' tales t ha t  we used to  read are not  in i t  with this story. Baron Munchausen 

and all the rest of them h a v ~  to  go awap haclz and s i t  down since Harry 
Orchard entered literature. He h a d  t o  tell McPartland his real name, and 
almost the first question tha t  Hawley asked was as to  his real name, whrre 
he mas born and who he was, and he told us  i t  was FIorseIey. Of course, 
he had to  tell it ,  hecaltse he hnd alrencly written his  biop-aphy, written 
th is  wonderful story of a u~onrlerful life, and he had spread his  infamy 
throughout the land to damn all the people whose blood made them lzin t o  
him. He had done tha t  b~forehand.  Is  he a romancer, is  he a liar, or  
is he honest? Now let 111e call your attention t o  a few things in the light 
of what he is. F i ~ s t ,  he  had written a story before he ever got here. Be 
fore you men heard him from the  ~vitnesq stand he had woven the story 
and sold i t  t o  a maqazine. Well, now I know tha t  you have to  look out  
for a story teller. 1 have had n little e x ~ ~ r i e n c e  in tha t  line mvself, and 
when the imagination pets nctive i t  is a little difficult to tell whether we 
are telling the  truth,  o r  just think i t  is the truth. He had fixed th is  up 



to r;ell--to sell t o  McClure's Magazine-and in the apare moments 
waiting every minute for the halter t o  dangle above his head, he ia 
putting in his time writing this story which is being published now. 

Coturuencing from his earliest youth he has been a liar, that he con- 
fesses, and a liar of a singular Bind-telling of meaner things than even 
Harry Orchard ever did, telling of more things than even Harry Orchard ever 
did. IIe admits that he told of killing his brotl~er when his brother wasn't 
killed. He admits that he said he had killed Neville, hired a man to go 
and poison him, when Neville was never poisoned and never killed. Tf 
he can admit that he told the story thnt he poisoned Neville when it mas 
a lie, is there any reason that lie couldn't tell the story that he put  
strychiline into Bradley's milk mhen that, too, was a lie? T ine  after 
time he has shown that he is a liar, given to this kind of wierd romancing; 
tfmt tells what an infamous mortal he is. Not man enough to  lie in his 
words and his letters, he goes into a photograph gallery and poses him- 
self with two other men, he standing with a smoking revolver in his ' 
hand and one man shot dead before him with the cards in his hand, and I 

another Inan standing by his side, EIarry Orchard of course being the real 
hero. He never would take a pose and let the other fellow be holding 
the revolver and lle appear to be dead. Oh, no, never. You can't get a 
truer picture of the type of this liar than the picture that  he posed for 
a t ~ d  which has been presented to this jury. 

COLONEL SELLERS OF CRIME. 
NOW, gelltlemen, while he has perhaps told some things that are true, 

and many things that are not true, he has told this jury of an infinitely 
greater number of people that he intended to kill than the number of 
people thnt he did kill, which is a circumstance worth considering when 
you are sizing up a man like that. He told you that he came pretty 
near blowing up the Idanha hotel, which would kill from two hundred to 
four hundred people. He told you that he was going to blow up Max 
Malich's boarding house, which would kill from three hundred to sir 
hundred more. He told you that he wanted to  touch off a carload of 
powder in the Vindicator mine, that  would kill a third of the men, one 
whole shift; and that 'there were about six hundred or eight hundred 
men employed in the mine and that he would kill a third of them. He 
told you that he was ready to blow up some institution in the Coeur d' 
Alenes, that would kill two or three hundred more. The poor fellow 
has really never had a chance in the world. He has never been where his 
talents would be recognized. It is unfortunate, from his standpoint, that 
he has never been able to  kill five hundred or six hundred a t  a time. All 
of his big schemes seem to h ~ v e  failed, like the big schemee of all tho 
rest of us. But he had them in his head, every one of them. He was 
going to put a bomb under Governor Steunenberg's seat in the car and 
blow up the train. He was going to do infinitely more than he ever did 
do; and in order to make himself a bigger man than he really is, and 
God knows he is big enough, he boasted of crimes that he never commit- 
ted, and told you of attempting t o  commit crimes bigger than he ever 
did commit. Now I want to know whether there is any chance for a 
jury to go astray upon a character like his, whether it could be poeni- 



ble tha t  anywhere on the face of the earth you could bring together twelve 
men who would ever look a t  the testimony of a monster of this sor t?  
Of a man who, perhaps, i s  a phenomenal murderer. but  who a t  least is 

I 
the biggest liar tha t  this generation has known. This i s  the character 
of the man upon whose testimony you a l e  to be asked to  take away these 
men's lives. 

THE BUNKER HILL EXPLOSION. 

Now what did he say he did? Let  us look into the first effort to 
connect MY. Haywood mith the murder of ex-Governor Ste~inenherg. The 
first time Harry Orchard comes upon the scene he had left Canada an? 
ha& taken another man's wife mith him. She had left him and he came i 
to the Coeur d'Alenes, and he worked th i r tv  days as s miner and joined 
the miners' union. So far  he had never killed anybody. He had boasted I 
of IrilIing his brother, but  he failed there and lie never did kill him. So 
far he hasn't committed murder. But here was a man tha t  nobody knew, 

I a man who had oilly been in the union thir ty days, a man who had been 
in the Coeur dYAlenes only a short time, and they got up  an  excursion 

I 
I 

of miners and others to  go down to the Bunker Hill mill, and Harry  
Orchard jumps in and goes, and he swears that ,  although he was an I 

unknown man-he had never been an officer, he had never taken an  ~ c t i v e  I 
part in the union-still he took the par t  of lighting a fuse t o  blow u p  the 
Bunker Hill, and Sullivan mill. Now. gentlemen, whether he did it or not 

, is, perhaps, not so very important in this case. But it is very strange 
indeed tha t  a man of this character, a man perfectly unknown, a man 
only connected in the most casual wav with this organization, should have 
been assigned any such position, if there was any method in i t  a t  all- 
which there was not. Let  u s  assume tha t  he did it. The State gets 8 I 

starting point fronz here. Some large number of men went to the Bunlrer 
Hill and Sullivan mill. They undoubtedly went there for a deinonstra- 
tion. It isn't a t  all likely tha t  one man out of a hundred who was there 
ever dreamed of anything tha t  was goin? to  happen. It is  Iiliely tha t  
there were men there who thought something was going to happen! 

Now, gentlemen, you are not much acquainted with miners, but  you 
know somethinq ahont human nature. is claimed by the State in 

I 

this case? It is  claimed the town of Gem, the town of Burke, the other . 
towns on the road. were ~1acticnIly depopulated when tha t  train went 
through. Everybody got aboard, a t  least all the miners. Do ;you think 
thep are all criminals? Slipnose there was some excitement here and the 
hand wapon should come around and gather up  rvery rancher in the coni- 
mnnity-if their hecrds were turned by something ancl they would nl! 
get toqether and solnething monld happen, and some man would tell the 
jury here tha t  erervone of tlince me11 are PI-iminnlii a n d  mi~rr l~rers ,  dn 
you suppose ailybodv would helieve i t?  Mr. Hawleg might, possibly. 'But 
v o i ~  can't tell me. .rentlemen. tha t  the great mnss of the men who go down 
into the earth with their lives in their hands t o  dig up gold for other men 

,  re criminals. If for Pnv rwclnn n thmisn~irl nien CT~l ih~rqt~lv  d~ te rn~ innd  fo 
PO and blow up the  Bnnlc-er Hill mill then i t  needed blowing up. 'It needed i t ,  
just as much as if you go into a town and persuade everyone of the citizens 
to join in the civiI mar t o  liberate the slaves. You can't get  great masses 



of men to  act from anything but good motives. You may get a great 
mass of men together upon one purpose and amongst them may be 
few men who secretly have another and a criminal one, which was doubt- 
less the occasion here. But if you tell me tha t  everyone of these miners 
who work with their pick and their shovel, who support their families 
and are the brawn and sinew of the land-that if everyone of these joined 
in an excursion like that, you prove that  the condition existed 
wliich called for it. You need not tell me that  a thousand Idaho citizens, 
the bra- and sinew of Idaho, mere criminals and murderers. &fen don't 
act that  way. They act tha t  way only upon great provocation or uron 
sudden impulse or without reflection, and so undonbtedly in this case 
the7 got together to go there and malie a demonstration. a few reckless 
or evil-disposecl men got amongst them, avld perhaps all of them did more 
than they ever intended or expected to  clo or tha t  the7 would have done 
in cold blood. But let us see: Orcharcl said he was there and after the 
mill was b1ov1-1 up h r  mr. amay, and Mr. H a ~ v l e ~  asks, Why did he ruo 
away if he didn't help blow up the miIl? Well. Mr. Hamley onqht to 
know. He has read Orchard's hcok. R e  has heard Orchard's testimony. 
He was familiar with tha t  case. Orchard told you upon the witneds 
stand that  they arrested every union man in the district whether he was 
a t  the mill or not; they nut evely one of tbern in a hull-pen They ran 
out their net and they gatliered tho \m~ilty and the innccent alike. nncl he 
ran awav to get rid of going to the bull-].en, just a s  huudrecls of others 
did in the C o ~ u r  d'Alenes a t  that  time when Goveinor Steunenberg estnb- 
lisbed his bull-pen. 

THE BULLPEN OF THE COEUR D'ALENES. 

Now. gentlemen, I am not going to  disc~lss to  this jury whether his 
method was right or wrong. I believe it, was wrong. I don't believe a n y ,  
lnxvver can defend the ~ i q l l t  of any human beinq to indisrviminxtelv take 
hi4 fellow man ~vitllout anv cl.in?inll ch-1.r~ v~hntever, vithont gny trial  
ur any henrinq. and shut him no in a pen, as was done in the Coeur 
dYAlenes in '09; and whatever Governor Steunenberg might have thought, 
and however honest and sincere his motives v~ere a t  the time (and I ztm 
not here t o  impugn them) when he established the bull-pen in the Coeur 
cI'Alenes he soned the send of mole stlife nnd contention t l ~ ? n  mnr, evrr 
.iowv 11v PITV COVPTI~C)I. fr nni tlre r l g r ~ s  t h r t  thiq vition 1~~1s  fol17derl 
to the present i i i : ~ .  There was nothing to  justify it. If the arm of 
the  law mas not stronq enoucyh. if the civil authorities mere not strong 
enough, then the military nuthorities slionld have been c~ l l ed  in to  awist. 
But when you say tha t  a govprnor or a general may reach nut indiscrim- 
inately and talte whom he will, ~vithout warrant, without chlrge, without 
a, hearin: of a n v  Iiiild. ~ n d  Iorl; t h e m  ny, ~q he pros fit. then v o i ~  snv 
tha t  all government shonld he submerged and the onlv law he the law of 
mipht, and I don't thiuli the ~ n n n  lives who cgn defend it. Doubtless 
Governor Steunenberg felt a t  the time of this crisis tha t  there was nothing 
else to  130-1 don't propose to discuw him for R moment on that  account- 
but 1 believe that  large numbers of riqht-minded people, in labor crganiza- 
tions and out. h a w  a l m ~ v s  rlpno~mced that  oct and ~lnravs mill 3eno1inrp 
tha t  act so long as we pretend to have a government by law in these 
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United States. It ie not atrange that at that time large numbers of 
miners and workingmen, that honest lawyers, ministers, congressmen and 
all classes of people protested against this as beiug an outrage, a crime 
against the liberties of man. But what had Moyer, Haywood and Petti- 
bone to do with it? Orchard was doubtless there and he ran away. 

E M W O O D  NOT CONNECTED WITH THE TROUBLE. 
The state says that thi? is the foundation of thc case, because Steun- 

enberg eetablished martial law in the Coeur d'dlenes in 1899. At that time 

er and Pettibone, they are forced to bring 
years before Haymood had any connection 
Miners--exrept a local union-and charge 
not see ma could not see, things that  he 
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hang them in addition t o  all the  rest. Ed Boyce took ' "The 
Miners' Magazine" and entered the office of editor direct from the gmelter. 
I don't suppose he hardly had a common school education. He never went 
to  college. What business have worliingmen going to college? If he could 
gn t o  college he woulcln't need to  work, he woula know how to do some- 
thing easier t h m  to  work. He could not get a coIlege man t o  run "The 
Miners' Magazine." What does a college man know about a mine o r  a 
smelter? And take all of our editors and newspaper men, what do they 
know about anything except to  use fairly good words, to  say sometimes 
fairly good things and generally exceedingly untruthful things, because 
somebody paps them t o  do it. True, they graduate o ~ ~ t  of colleges; true, 
they have good educations; but  if they had graduated from a smelter they 
might not write so good English but they would write a mighty sight bet- 
ter sense and there would be a good deal more heart in i t  than there is. 
Ed Boyce had worked in the smelter until his arms were twisted, and 
perhaps his English, too. If i t  mas I, I would get my English twisted a 
long ways ahead of my arms. Ed Boyce worked in a smelter until his 
joints were knotted, until his teeth had fallen out, until his jaw bones 
were decaying, until he was a wreclc-one of Gaagenheim's wrecks thrown 
out on the dump, one of them-one of the thousands whom he 
has worked up into coin to bay a seat in the United States senate-a part 
of the blood and the nerve and the muscle of the American people that) he 
has used for a short time and thrown away, thrown away upon the dump 
and left to  starve. He would be in this indietment here, too, excepting for 
one thing. There is only one thing tha t  keeps Mr. Hawley from declaring 
tha t  Ed Boyce is  one of the monumental crimina.1~ of the age, t ha t  he is 
black as compared with his saint, Harry Orchard, and what is t ha t  one 
thing? Why, he has money. They happened to  point the prospect hoIe in 
the Hercules mine in the right direction anrl they str l~ck it,  and now Rcl 
Boyce is respectable and his name is left off of this indictment. That  is 
the only reason. And they base this crime from that, and they take the 
language of this man who has got money and is therefore immune-noth- 
ing makes you immune so soon-they take his language, they don't t ry  
to hang him with i t ,  but  they t r y  t o  hang Bill Haywood. It is a wonder- 
fully honest prosecution from beginning to end, is it not?  Ed Boyce wrote 
those articles. As articles qo there is nothing wrong with them. Was 
there any reason why the Western Federation of Miners should not speak1 
up with ringing words in behalf of a thousand brothers loclied in the foul- 
estl pen that  man could build? I n  behalf of a thousand men placed there 
witl~ollt charge, held without trial, denied the common necessities 
life, covered with filth and dirt and mire, surrounded with lice, Pinker 
detectives and other vermin and left t o  rot? Was there any reason w 
they should not condemn i t ?  If they had not condemned i t  they wouldn't 
men. They would'nt be Inen from whom you could build a great n 
tion. They wouldn't be nlen who would be fit t o  take the liberties that  
our fathers have decreed t o  us through blood and toil, peril and struggle- 
to take those liberties and defend them with their honor and their strength 
and their life, if need be, and to pass them on t o  the generations tha t  ar  
yet t o  come. Behold, the smelterman-a man could only live about thre 
or four years in a smelter before he would be thrown out onto a scra 



heap-and he got into the editor's chair and he wrote with a smelterman's 
pen. I wish there were more blacksmiths writing for newspapers, and I 
wish there were more newspaper men doing honest blacksmiths' work. It 
would be a good thing for the press of our country, i t  lvould be a good 
thing for the progress of our land, it would be a good thing for somebody 
not a time-server, but who morlcs for a principle, to take his pen in hand 
and say what he believes. And I am glad "The Miners' Magazine" has 
said it, even though half they say may not be good sense and the otherhalf 
may be In very bad English. I don't think this jury is going to  hang a 
man on what Ed Boyce wrote or what O'Neil wrote or what anybody else 
wrote. If they were, if we would get busy we would clean out ail of these 
newspaper offices while our hand was in. But one excuse is as good as 
another when you want a man, a ~ d  they want Haywood. Somebody blew 
up the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill. At that  time Governor Steunenberg 
vras  g:.o~el.nc.>~.. I:ct.~\-oo:l w::s:~'t Gilo~si~. I t  may be that Governor Steun- 
enberg was misjudged by the mincl.s. It may Ile if any one of yo11 gejltlc- 
men had been governor and sdrrounded by the  influences that surrom~decl 
him you would have fe l t  t l ~ a t  you could not have acted any differently t l ~ a n  

catching the innocent and the guilty alike and penning then1 there like cat- 
tle without a trial or without a charge, but still with that  he might have 
done the best he could. And they take this incident and make i t  the basis 
of a criminal charge against a Inan who had nothing on earth to do with it. 

becomes tlie secretary-treasurer of the West- 
mark you, the next thing they have against 

t occur until 1903, four years after the Bun- 
been blown up, four yeam after t h e  time when 
here a t  Silver City. In the meantime he had 
of the Western Federation of Miner8 

was peaceful and serene, and they have 
single act up t o  1903, and then they gather 

arr l 's  to chitrye to him. It is n strange thine, 
Mr. Haywood, the secretary-treasurer of the 

s. Here is Mr. Moyer, the president. They 



where the Pinkerton~, with their million eyes focused upon him, with their 
million ears trained t o  catch every sound that could come from his voisc: 
can you tell me while the public was poisolied against him and wheie i ts  
captains of industry poured out their gold to  compass his death-can you 
tell me-why it is that there hasn't been one word, one loolr, one letter, one 
circumstance that  does not coue from this foul creature upon ~vhose tes- 
timony I undertake to say thexe is not one of you farmers but would blush 
with shame if you should kill a sheep-stealing dog! A man who ~ o u l d  not 
give a dog a show for his life againsf Orchard would not be a man. Who 
else has said anything against h~m-the world of wealth, the world of 
power, the world of influence, the world of officialdom-aod they have pro- 
duced Harry Orchard and they have not produced another line or another 
letter or another word or another look or another thing. Gentlemen, an- 
other thing: Tn all of their unions everywhere were the Pinkerton de- 
tectives, ready to  report every act, every word, every letter. They were 
present with them in all their trials and in all that  took place. The Pinkc- 
ertons were with Moyer in the bull-pen and stuck to him as close as a bull- 
pen tick. Why didn't they get a word out of him in the days of his un- 
lawful imprisonment and his tribulation? Why haven't they found some- 
thing somewhere that would give tn7elve men a reason, if they wanted it, 
for taking away the life of their fellow man? Why h a ~ e n ' t  they found it? 
And these men have been conspiring, they have been talking, they have 
been writing, they have been working-this Pinkerton and all his cohorts 
-with the ilioney of all the mines and all the mills behilid them, ant1 
have produced nothing except the paltry story which you have heard 
upon this witness stand. 

IF OILCHARD WAS AT BUNKER HILL. 

Now I don't care whether Orchard had t o  do with blowing up the 
Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill or not. Nobody has answered McHale, 
Dorninicl~ Flynn and Dr. McGee, all three of whom swear that he was 
present in  Wallace on that day, playing cards. NOW, gentlemen, as between a 
chance to go and explode sonle dynninite and a chance to ganible I don't 
lcnow.~vhich chance I-Izrry Orchard would take, so I can't argue any thing 
from that. I do not know. There is no reason why this jury should disbs- 
lieye these witnesses. True, it is a long time ago, but it was a day to be 
remembered. What, have they proved against it? They brought a man 
here from Walla Walla, which is a suspicious place on its face to bring it 

man from. Some time about that tfnie he went to Dominick Il'lynn and 
nslted liirn where Harry Orchard was, and he said he hadn't seen him for 
two 01- three weelrs. Does that prove anything? Is i t  not rather strange 
that this man from Walla Walln should remember it at this time and 
tell i t  a t  this time-a circulnstance that could not possibly affect him in 
any way? And they brought a druggist here, whom I think to look a t  
would be to  condemn, and he snys he saw Harry Orchard going up the 
street that night after the train got in, and he did not see him a r ~ u n d  town 
that  day, and that is all. Well, now, there it is, gentlemen; so far a s  the 
evidence is conceinecl, the men ~vlio snoie he  war present a t  that time have 
entirely the best of it. But I don't care whether he was there or not.: 
What of i t ?  He says he was there and he saw Bill Davis, and Bill Davis 



awears he was not; there. Now, Senator Borah thinks Bill Davis did not telI 
the truth-you know how it is-because Hawley argued he did not, and be 
will have to follow as near as he dare in Mr. Hawley's footsteps. Now 
let us see a moment about Bill Davis. There are two people who said he 
was there, if you can call them people. One is Harry Orchard, but I don't 
exactly lilre-I haven't anything against dugs and things of tha t  sort, and 
I wouldn't call him that, so I will call him Orchard; he is one. There is 
another named Dewey. Do you ~exnember Dewey? If you do not, 1 can call 
'him to your mind. He is another. Now let us look a t  Dewey for a mo- 
ment, for me mill never see another man like him. If we had called 
Dewey and you had 11ok foui~d our nie21 guilty bec%~~se  we put him on 
the stand, I should be surprised. I will tell you how you can remember 
Dewey. I used to be a- farlner myself. I once hired out for $20 a, month; 
I think I worlsed a weelr-I mean I stayed n week; and the fellow I hired 
out to didn't find any fault with my leaving. But l remember this, I re- 
member one morning, when I got up mther early to mill+-pretty early, 
along about sunrise-tlie farn1c.r or sonle otlier alarm. cloclc called me- 
andwhen 1 got. out to  the pasture to  get the co~vs I' saw a dog. You have 
seen them, one of those sheep-stealing dogs. If you have ever gotten up 
early enough in the morning you have seen them running along by ihe ~.ide 
of the fence with tail and head drooping on the ground. These sheep-lcill- 
ing dogs are different from any other dogs. You will never mistake one 
as long as you live. You people know a11 about i t  the same ne I do. I 
kriew t h a t  dog had been Idl ing sheep. Any man who saw him would 
know it. But if he hadn't been killing sheep he would have been cioing 
something else just as bad. A, sheep-lriliing dog! Now, whenever I think 
of Dewey I will Bnow exactly how to classify him; exactly. You remem- 
ber him. Did anybody see his eyes? Re didn't loolc up. He didn't speak. 
He held his head down, and I suppose for the first time in thirty-odd years 
I remembered my work on the farm avay back in Ohio and that  sheep- 
killing dog. You remember Hawley told him to take the toothpick out of 
his mouth. Me ought to l~ave taken a crowbar and pried it out. What 
kind of a story did he tell? Now let me show you, gentlemen, what sort 
of a story this fellow told and see whether you believe him. I wouldn't be- 

eve him if I knew he waa telling the truth. I don't thinlr anybody else 
as a matter of princil~le. I would 
people. You couldn't tell rvbat it 

y might inake an argument before me a t  some time 
man. What did he swear t o ?  This fellow swears 

in the Coeur dYAlenes. He got in a box car and rode 
help blow np the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine. He 

Davis. Orchard swears Bill Davis wore a mnslz, but 
he did not. Now, I don't suppose the fellow would 

bly wouldn't look up. He might h u e  told whether he 
Id not tell mhetlier he wore a col- 
a strange and unfortunate thing 
illustrious citizens and then find 

em contradicting each other. As between the two 1 don't know which 
would believe. When I listen to Orchard I think the fellow's face was 

are, and when I listen to Dewey I thinlc he must have worn a, mask. If 



you can harmonize i t  some way to  find they both lied, all right; but I 
haven't been able to  do it. And tha t  is the greatest mystery in this 
case, because I am bound to believe tha t  if Bill Davis was there one of 
those fellows must have told the truth, and I won't believe that, anyhow. 
So the only escape fro111 tha t  is to  believe tha t  Bill Davis told the truth 
and he was not there. Now, this fellow came up here from Colorado, from 
Victor, and this man Dewey said he had been marshal of Victor. Well, now, 
if Dewey was marshal of Victor I should hope you twelve gentlemen would 
forgive us for anything the fellows did down in Victor except for leaving 
him alive; you couldn't forgive us for that. He swears he was once mar- 
shal of Victor and he quit tha t  job and went to work in a mine, and he 
is there now. The superintendent called him into his office and asked him 
to conle here to Boise to testify. Now, just thinli of it, gentlemen. i 
wonder who is  interested in this case! I wonder what powers are back 
of this prosecution which deniands this man's blood! I wonder what 
subtle forces have gotten hold of this county attorney, the man with the 
iron maslc and the iron will, who is the backbone of all of i t  and the guid- 
ing star of the whole scheme! I wonder where the pull is, when you bring 
Dewey from Colorado t o  Boise! For what? To confess tha t  he is a mur- 
derer-for Mr. Hawley has told this jury tha t  every one of that  thousand 
men were guilty of murder-every one of them-and here is Dewey, who 
had been an officer of the law-God save the mark-who had been en- 
gaged in pulling in people who had robbed chicken roosts and who hstl 
been drunk and been disorderly-he had been protecting the lives and the 
liberty and the property of his citizens down there as  an officer, and lo 
and behold Dewey isn't tha t !  He is n murderer! His hands are red with 
the blood of two of his fellow men; but he had escaped and would escape 
any time unless he was caught out. somewhere on the prairie when the 
game law wasn't working, and then he would be in danger. He had es- 
caped and been a respectable citizen, elected to  office, holding a place in a 
mine, and the superintendent comes and calls out, "Dewey, 1 want you." 
And Dewey comes with his cap in his hand to the superintendent of a 
great mine controlled by the officers of the Mine Owners' Association, to  
find what little job the superintendent wants, and he says: "Come into 
my office; I want you." 

"Well, what do you want?" 
"I want you to  go up to Idaho and swear to  a jury that  you are a 

murderer." 
And he comes. He comes, gentlemen, by the first train, and he takes the 

witness stand and tells the jury that, although he has been a respected 
citizen for seven long years, zlthough he has been elevated to  a n  official 
position, still he is a red-handed murderer. But tha t  is not the strange 
part. This man with the iron nerve and the iron will, the brain and 
the courage and the baclcbone and the guiding spirit of this prosecutioll 
sees Dewey get down off the witness stand after he confesses that  he has 
comniitted murder in the State of Idaho--confesses tha t  he had com- 
mitted murder-and he gets down off the stand in the presence of the 
State's attorney and he goes home as peacefully and as  innocently as  a 
lnn~b! Were you sleeping? Were you, gentlemen, who are charged with 
protecting the honor and the good name of this state; you, gentlemen, who 



are making a bluff before this  jury of upholding law and order, you who 
pretend t o  be prosecuting crime, were you sleeping or are you lying? 
Were you sleeping when you let  this nlurderer go back unscathed, or is 
this prosecution from the  beginning t o  the end a wicked, damnable con- 
spiracy to  pick u p  the  president and t h e  secretary of the  Western Fed- 
eration of Miners and hang them by the neck for the  benefit of the mine 
owners of Colorado? What  is  Idaho getting out of it? 

AS TO ICIDNAPlNG. 

I don't want  to  forget anything. You will remember Orchard's tes- 
t iuony in  reference to a cbild-stealing expedition t h a t  he was going into 
with Dave Coates, the former lieutenant governor of Colorado. Of course, 
Coates asked him into it. Orel~ard is always asked in. He never sti~1.t.s 
anything. He  just does it. And Orchard says, yes, t h a t  will be a good 
selieme, and lie says to Conies, kVl~at will you do?  Coatev says, T will 
take the money. Now, t h a t  is about the  game they have got on Idaho, 
only i t  worlts the  otller way. It woriis the  other way for the  State  of 
Idaho. Let us  assuine for a illonlent t h a t  Orchard tells the t ru th ,  which 
he does not. He has charged Haywood with the murder of 
some seventeen or eighteen men in  Colorado, has he not? Haywood lived 
there. His whole official life was there. All the evidence was there. 
The witnesses couldn't run away. They cou!d be brought into court and 
be made to  testify. I f  lie is guilty of one murder in Idaho he is guilty 
of twenty in the  State of Colorado, ancl they have all t h e  evidence of t h o ~ e  
that they have of this, and a good deal more, because he was on the 
ground and part and parcel of a l l  of it. And if Orchard is  telling the 
truth here, he could tell the  truth there, and he could be hanged i n  Colo- 
rado trventy tillles easier tllall he could be hanged in the  State  of Idaho. 
The Mine Owaers' &sociation gets b-usy, the  Pinkertons get busy, they 
have Orchard's confession, Haywood is in Denver in the S.tate of Colo- 
rado, where these criiiles have been committed, the  Mine Owners' Asso- 
ciation is there, the banks are there, the  wealth is there, the orgaaiza- 
tion is there, a.nd his official life has been spent there. Why didn't they 
keep him there? JThy didn't they keep him there t o  try him if they wanted 
to t ry lliru for crime? They had the  entire power. The evidence was al l  
in their possession. They had iilfiniteIy more, so fa r  as his connectio~l 
with affairs was concerned, there than they could have here. The evi- 
dence of Orchard was the  same there t h a t  it is here, except t h a t  in this 
caae the murders were done under their very eyes and here they were 
done fifteen hundred luiles away. 13ut the Mine Owners' Association, the 
real strong iron hand back of this  prosecution, the real men by whom 
i t  has been turned over to these oflicials, the  real men who are pulling the 
wires to malie you dance like puppets, these men saw fit .to take them 
from the State  of Colorado ,znd scild them u p  here so t h a t  Idaho could 
hold the bag. Ida110 has a high privilege in this prosecution. You are 
permitted t o  pay for it. You will have the pleasure of working to  pay 
up the deficiency ~varrants ,  and the mine owners will be grateful, indeed, 
if you do their ~vorlc. If Colorado proposes t o  hang these men anyhow, 
if the mine owners are bound t o  destroy them, better take them back 
there and give them a chance alld le t  them pay the bills. If this  jury 



acquits them they won't get outside of the door. Mr. Bulkeley Wells will 
be there with the epaulets on his shoulders and the Harvard accent in 
his speech-he is a cultured man and 01 course a tyrant-that is what 
cuIture is for, to  get rid of all the humanity there is in a man-he will 
be there waiting to  receive the111 and carry then1 back and be handed over 
t o  the mine owners on the ground. 

THE STRIKE O F  1002. 

Now, gentlemen, I don't propose to spend any more time upon the 
question whether Orchard had anything to do with the Coeur d'Alenes or 
not. He wanted to get in. The first time he heard tha t  anybody was 
killed he wanted to get the credit and the glory of it, just as  he has 
done all his life. The nest t i m e  we hear of anything is in 1903. I n  the 
meantime Orchard has been almost lost. There is  a great gap in the 
history of America between 1899 and 1002. One of the chief characters 
in the history of the world has d~opped out of sight. Nobody can trace 
Harry Orchard. He lands in Cripple Creek in 1902. He leaves the 
Coeur d'Alenes in 1899. Where he is in the meantiln+whom he has 
killed, whom he has married, ~vllat houses he has burned and what deeds 
he has done are left for us  to discover. But  he comes to Cripple Creek 
in 1902. One thing is certain. He cannot tell you where he ever worlrcd 
more than three months a t  n time, and only once tha t  long. He would 
go out and do a little work, and the11 he would go back to  the ganibling 
table. He says he generally woli-or generally lost-and he probably 
sometimes won. I never knew a fellow to follow gambling as long as he 
has who did not win now aiicl then, and could not make a n  honest turn 
if he could get a sucker who was green enough, and he mas always loolring 
for that  kind. He went out  west; he went to California, he went to 
Nevada, he went to Utah, he went t o  Arizona-everywhere. He has been 
a famous traveler from the day of his birth domll to the present time, and 
i ~ v w  11e 11;~a a bteatly job tha t  vrill probably last as long a s  this adminis- 
tration, and then he may go on his travels again. 

But  wherever he was he was following his true character; 
you never could find him but f c ~  a f ew  nioilths a t  a ti111e in any 
place, anywhere, since he left Ontario with a crime floating about 
his head. He has been on the go, and he probably had t o  go 
fast a good n~any tin~es. fie finally Innded up in Cripple Creek iu 
1902, this cherubim, tha t  is paraded to this jury by Mr. Hawley as  a 
paragon of virtue since he got religion. He came t o  Cripple Creek in 
1902. Nothing happened then, tha t  we know of, for some time. He joined 
the union, just as many another man has joined the union. He might 
have believed in it or he might not have believed in it. I have an  idea 
that  he never believed in anytl~ing or in anybody, and that  no human 
being ever believed in him excepting Halvley, and he seems t o  believe in 
him now, and believes in him so strong that  while he may not be willing 
to  do it himself, he is willing to  ask a jury t o  lrill some nisn upon his word. 

There came a strike in Colorado City, and another one in Denver; 
and now Mr. Hawley begins t o  talk once Illore about the wicked unions. 
He says you have got to  destroy the Western Bederation of Miners. 
Wherever they are there is  trouble. Wherever they are they are calling 



strikes without reason. You have got to destroy them. They are the 
greatest enemies t o  liberty; they are the greatest enemies to the prosperity 
of the State of Idaho. What does he know about the prosperity of tho 
State of Idaho? If his theory of this case is true, then I can believe 
rumor-that they have brought him most of the prosperity he has had 
within the last year and a half, and I don't fiee why he is  hd ing  auy 
fault. They are the enemies to prosperity-we have got to  kill them- 
they strike without cause. Let us see, gentlemen, let us see. Let us see 
whether Mr. Hawley's vision is warped since his retainer ran out. There 
was a strike in Denver and in Colorado City. What were they about? 
The evidence shows tha t  the Western Federation of Miners were 
making trouble. What about? There was a strike in Denver, 
I think, in the year 1902. This was what i t  was a b o u t  
this band of conspirators who Mr. Hawley calls criminals, who are 
constantly stirring up trouble, called a strike for this: They had worlred 
long and hard for an eight-hour day in the State of Colorado; they be- 
lieved that eight hours was as long ae a man ought to twist his muscles 
and twist his bones in a smelter--and I do, and I think you do, gentlemen 
of the jury. It does not make any difference whether it was long enough 
or not; I never saw a time yet when the employer did not think the hours 
of labor were too short, and I never s a v  a time, to be fair about it, 
when the worltingman did not think they were too long-I think so. In 
that week when I was a worlcingnlan I thought so, and I hope l 
never will see the time when the workingman won't believe his hour8 of 
labor are too long and his wages are too low, because ~ o u  caa never get 
any prosperity or progress or liberty or what the world has been striving 
for and reaching for and hoping for, until we elevate the poor and weak 
and give them wages and liberty, and give them life, and release them 
from their toil so that  they may have time to  read the newspapers and 
make themselves wise. 

The State of Colorado passed an  eight-hour law in 1809-under the 
evidence in this case, 1899 is right, isn't i t ?  And the Guggenheima fought 
it, and they took it before the supreme court-and the courts are always 
the last to move, and the higher they are the slower-and they took it 
before the supreme couxt and of course the supreme court declnred it un- 
constitutional. It is unconstitutional to  pass a law which won't permit 
Guggenheim to  take ten hours out of the hide of his men instead of eight. 

Mr. Richardson-It mas twelve hours in the smelter. 
Mr. Darrow-Well, a man. that will work in a smelter ought to be 

worked tu7alve hours a day. 
The courts declared it unconstitutional. Of course they would. What 

is the constitution for except to use for the ricb to destroy the laws 
that are made for the poor? That is the main purpose in these latter 
days, Then what did the workers do? They said, If the constitution is 
wrong, let us change it. And they appealed once more to the s h ~ t e - t o  
the people. The people are blind and stupid, but still more generally 
right upon an issue lilte this-and they put  i t  to a vote of the people, 
and the people voted six to one to change the constitution which wns in 
their way, and the new constitution provided tha t  the next legislature 
should enact an eight-hour law. This was the strike which Hawley aaye 



was unconstitutional-was unwarranted. They appealed to  the people, 
and by six t o  one they changed the constitution of the state and then the 
legislature came in in 1902, and was asked t o  pass tha t  law 
which the constitution commanded them to  pass, and what did 
they do? Why, the constitution is only meant to  be obeyed 
by the poor. What is the law ior 11 a rich ua i i  has to obey i t ?  Why 
should they make it if i t  can reach them? Why should they have the 
constitution if it could be used against them? The constitution said tha t  
they must change the law-must pass an  eight-hour law, and Mr. Guggen- 
heim and Mk. Moffat and the Union Pacific railroad and the Mine Owners' 
Association and all the good people in Colorado who lived by the sweat 
and blood of their fellow men-all of these invaded the chamber of the 
house and the senate and said, "No, you must not pass an eight-hour Iaw; 
true, the constitution requires i t ;  but here is our gold which is stronger 
than the constitution." The legislature met and discussed the matter, 
and these miners were there. The evidence in this case has shown you 
who they were. Haywood was there; the labor organizations were them, 
and they were there pleading then, as  the7 have always pleaded, for thcr 
poor, for the weak, for the oppressed. I don't mean t o  tell this jury 
tha t  labor organizations do no wrong. I know them too well for thnt. 
They do wrong often, and sonletimes brutally; they are sometimes cruel; 
they are often unjust; they are frequently corrupt; they will be as  long 
as  human nature is  human nature, and there is no remedy for it.  Biit 
I am here to  say tha t  in a great cause these labor organizations-despised 
and weak and outlawed as  they generally are-have stood for the poor, 
they have stood for the weak, they have stood for every humane  la^ that  
was ever placed upon the statute boolrs. They have stood for human life. 
They have stood for the father who was bound down with his task; they 
have stood for the wife threatened with being taken from the home to 
work by his side, and they have stood by the little child, who has also 
been taken to  work in their places, t ha t  the rich could grow richer still, 
and they have fought for the right of the little one to have a little of life, 
a little of coinfort while he is young. I don't care how many wronys 
they have committed-I don't care how many crimes-these weak, rough, 
rugged, unlettered men, who often know no other power but the brute 
force of their strong right arm, who find themselves bound and confined 
and impaired whichever way they turn, and who look up aud worship 
the God of might as  the only God that  they know; I don't care how often 
they fail-how many brutalities they are puilty of. I know their cxuac 
is just. I know that  trouble and strife and contention have been 
involted, yet through brutality and bloodshed and crime has come 
the progress of the huinan race. I they may be wrong in this 
battle or that, but  in the great long struggle they are right, and they 
are eternally right, and they are \vorlring for the poor and the weak, they 
are working to  give more liberty to the man, and I want t o  say to  yo;], 
gentlemen of the jurjr, you Idaho farmers, renloved from the trades url- 
ions, removed from the men who work in industrial affairs, I want to 
say, had i t  not been for the trades unions of the world-for the trades 
unions of England, for the trades unions of Europe, the trades unions 
of America-you today mould be serfs instead of free men sitting upon 
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a jury to t ry  one of your peers. The cause of these men is right. 
If t.hey make n mistake, gentlemen, as they often do, i t  is not for 

you and me to judge them--to judge them too narrowly-too. critic all,^. 
It is not for you and me to judge theni as we judge the man of leisure 
and opportunity and learning. They are reaching out in the darkness, 
they are moving toward the light, they are raising the whole world upon 
those shoulders which have borne the burdens of the human race. These 
fellows worked for an eight-hour law. It mas submitted to  the people 
and i t  passed. The mine owners sent their men to the legislature and 
the7 blocked the cornmand of the constitution with their gold, and the 
legislature adjourned without obeying the constitution that the people 
had carried by six to one, and then the miners struck for an eight-hoxr 
day. They struck for what the constitution gave them. They struclr for 
what the legislature had denied them a t  the behest of the rich, and they 
struck for what they had a legal right to, and a moral right to, by every 
lam of morals known to  man. 

Gentlemen, I want to know whether you twelve men condemn that 
strike. Mr. Rarrley says they have made trouble and you ought to get 
rid of them, and a good way ~ L I  begin is t o  hang the secretary-tremurer. 
That is the wa.y to begin to  get rid of the Western Federation of lWiners, 
because they have made trouble. Yes, they have made trouble, thanis 

: God, and more power to  them. Nothing good in this world ever came 
excepting through trouhle and triblllmtioll and toil. Were they to blame 1 because they bad trouble in Denver? Were they to blame for calling a 
strike to  provide for a legal day? If you say so, all right, gentlemen, you 
are more hopeIess than I thinlr yon are. 

That strike mas settled and they got Weir eight-hour day. Do you 
want them to give it u p ?  Is there a man en this jnry who ~vould want to 
send those men back to the smelters for twelve hours a day? H~wleg  
says you want to  kill this union. Do you, gentlemen? Tliink of it. These 
mpn have doubtless done some b r u t d  things: these men have likeIp done 
some criminal things, nnd these men have likely done some cruel thing?, 
and some that were not wise, nnd some that were not just. That is ad- 
mitted. I know they did. I am not going to tell yon a117 lies upon that 
subject, f o r  I think too milch of theni, but. admitting that, x~onld you 
destroy the Wes t~rn  Federat,ion of Miners and send back these forty t , h o ~ ~ -  
sand workmen, with their wives a n d  children to deal single-ha.nded with 
the Mine Owners' Association of Colorado ? Ah.. g~ntlernen, i f  you moulil, 
I think you woulrl be traitors to th;hnt country in which you live. Wou!d 
yo11 dissolve this union and force every poor man to qo to Gnggenheiin 
with his hnt in his hxnd and inrlivid~~ally beq for a job? Let me teIl 
vou. gent7emen. i f  yola dest,roy thr lahor unions in this conntrp. you 
destroy Iiberty when you strike thc. blow, you would leave the poor bound 
and sha.cl;lecl 2nd helpless to do the bidding of the rich. It would no t  
reach vou todny, for you Rre fnr away from the centers of trade and in- 
dust.ry, hut i t  xvould r-nch you tomorrom. It mouId take this country 
back-bnck to the t,ime when there were lu~s te r s  and s la~es .  You h a ~ e  
not lived in an indllstrial country; you hare  not studied trade mlianisn-3 
s some of us have studied it-and T hope I have studied it-but 1 don't, 
elieve, gentlemen, that you can gather up iLny twelve mnn-any tme!ve 
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men even if they have had no more enlightenment than the newspapers- 
even if  they have read nothing but poison-I don't believe you can gather 
up twelve men anywhere in America, if you take them by chance, who 
do not know and understand that in nome way these Iabar unions have 
stood for the righte and the liberties of the human race, and that  to 
destroy them would send the human race back once more toward s la~ery .  

THE STRIKE I N  COLORADO CITY. 
The strike in Denver was for an eight-hour day. Then came the 

strike at Colorado City, and what was that  for? Oh, everything we do is 
unholy. The best way is to kill us and get rid of us because we are 
making trouble. Now, gentlemen, I don't want to  make any mistake about 
this-I don't mant to  mislead you. not for a minute. If you turn Hay- 
wood loose, the chances are he will make more trouble. So long as there 
are Guggenheims, so long as there is a Morgan, so long as there are 
Rockefellers, and so long as there is anybody who has the spirit of inde- 
pendence and justice in their hearts there will be trouble, and if these 
men can live, and live without trouble, then we are slaves and we will 
have to begin all over again. 

If you, gentlemen, by your verdict mant to do your part in this direc- 
tion, I cannot help i t ;  you will have to  go ahead and do it, but I don't 
think you do. I don't think anybody does who is in his right mind and 
who loves his country. They had a strilre in Colorado City for a matter 
just as simple. What was it? Why, the Guggenheims down there were 
turning off their union men-nothing new about that-they were turning 
off their disturbers and their agitators to break up the union, and so 
they struck. They had to, or else give up the union. They had to 
strike or give up every hope they had for the betterment of themselves 
and their fellow men, and they strucli. The strike dragged its weary way 
along for da;ys and weeks and months. I don't h o w  whether you, gentle- 
men, understand just what it means to strilre. Did any of you ever do 
it? I did not. I don't suppose I would be brave enough. If the law- 
yers got up and struck for an  eight-hour day and wages of three dollars 
and a half a day, I don't believe I would be brave enough to go out with 
Senator Borah and Mr. Hawley and the rest. And then i t  would be nn- 
reasonable for us felIows to demand three dollars a day and public senti- 
ment mould not support 11s. When I speak of public sentiment, I mean 
the newspapers. That is the only way we know whnt public sentiment 
is, end the only way me can know about it is to read what they say 
~ n d  then guess the other way. It is a serious thing to call a strike. 
YOU never heard of a case where the outsiders did not sap that the wall;- 
ing deleqate, and the president and the secretaries called the strike. 
Now, I have known their affairs for a long while and I want to sny whot 
a11 history shows, that  thev are alw\.ays the most conservative men in 
the union, because responsibility brings conservntism. Even if 191.. Hawleg 
IVRS p ~ t  on this jury I nm not sure that  he monld hang this man without 
Orchard's testimony. Re mieht get responsibility, and conservatism with 
xeenonsihility. And they are, yentlemen, conservative. and they hxte t o  
call a strike because a strike iq a serioils thing to the workingninn. If 
some of us who have saved a little, or who have a ranch where we can 



get chickens and potatoes and one thing and another, and live-we could 
go on rt strike. Bu t  for the man who has a family, and is living from 
day to  day and consuming al l  he ea.ms, as  all workin,men are--probably 
if they were not  consuming all they earn they would cut down the wagea 
so they mould-if a man is  in tha t  position, a strike is  a raerious thing. 
To ask a man to lay down the toola of hi8 trade, t o  lose his jab, and face 
~tnrvation for himself, his wife and children is a serious responsibility, 
and working men hate to  take it., and they only take it with the direst 
necessity. 

How many bankers do you suppose vou have in  Boise who would rBk 
starvation for n cause? Well, I thinlc they are few. Row many lawyers 
w.ould run the chance of starvation for the sake of a cause? How many 
business men .cvould close their stores and face starvation for themselves, 
their wives and their children, for a cause? Mighty few. That is  what 
t,he worltin,pen do. It is mhat they are bound t o  do when they bind 
themselves together in a great organization, each fiyhting for himself 
and his fellowmen. They are hound, not t o  take their lives in their 
hand, hut t o  13lxce their lives in the hands of their fellow men. 

80 these fello~vs went out on n strike in Colorado City. They failed, 
and pretty socn they fcund the smelters were running all right, and were 
smelting t h e  ore tha t  svxs minecl hv their brothers up  a t  Cripple Creek, 
nd the C r i ~ a l e  Creelc miners snid, We nrill no longer go down in the  
ines and die up the ore to  ho smelted by the men who are fighting our  

rotliers a t  Colorado City. So t.he Cripple Creek miners struck, and their 
amp, where 60.000 men lived, was a t  once deprived of 8.11 its resources. 
he men, women ~ n d  children mere almost turned into the stxeets: they 
ere left 1x1 rl~pend on t,he ~ l m s  they could get t ha t  were distributed from 

he unions, and they foncht i t  out  for months and months, and t.he 
trike had sca.rcely be-gun before they called in the militia. 

VIOLENCE IN THE STRIKE. 
because old man Stewart got beaten up. 

y old man Stewart was benten up. I am sorry for him. 
s T vonld be fnr R I ~ V  ot,her nisn ~ v h n  rmt, inivrcd. hut, sll 

does not go out t o  old man Stewart, who waked so much 
of mv friend H~-rvley. He forgot all the 

world in lonlrincr a t  old man Stema,rt: they were all nothing 
~mplntion of t,he horrible fact tha t  Stewart pot beaken up. 
S t ~ m o r t  beaten? 1 mill tell yon. It was a. nnion camp; they 
tlw eirrht-ho~w dziv; they had fought for it, gentlemen, and 
t f o r  i t  a8 imp11 have elwnys foixght for everything tha t  is 
vorld henan. Do vou think anv 1)rozess ever came mithont 
mn.ke proo.ress mithoi~t  ~ t r u ~ g l e  and fiphtinq nnd sometimes 

strne~lerl  for an ei,ql~t-hour day. They had 
ei,~l-ht-how day was established. and they 

snrv. in their  jndy~nent. to  cnll a. strike, to ask all their Inen 
adtled. And old nmn Stewart who smears 
day-inst eight-enjopine the fruits  of all 

st,mg,ulen. of all the .crictnru. of all t,he Inen who had risked their johs 
their lives to  gain an  eight-hour day. He was willing t o  take the 



ehort hours which these blunt, rugged, brave men had won; he 
was willing to take the high wages that  had been won by those rugged 
men; and then he went to  work to cut these men's throats. That is what 
Stewart did. 

BULXELEY WELLS. 

They had no right to beat him, but when you consider how bad men 
are, I want you to  consider the provocation. Could you compare that, 
gentlemen, with the conditions they had in Colorado-with Bulkeley Wells, 
who swells around with his epaulettes, and his English accent from the 
Back Bay of Boston; can you compare that  with this contemptible parn- 
site who never did an  honest day's work in his life, but who has been fed 
by the toil of honest men, and d o  stood a man up, in a cold February 
day, chained to a telegraph pole because he was not, forsooth, getting out 
of his carcass as Inany golden guineas as he would like to  spend in Boston 
or in England? 

Gentlemen, you may take all the deeds of violence an& all the unlaw- 
ful acts of all the men in Colorado connected with the Western Federct- 
tion of Miners, and they could not reach my, contempt for this contempt- 
ible man. You might think of this when you think of old man Stewart. 
You might think of BulIreIey wells and the other men of his ilk-the 
other idlers whose families are clothed in silk that  is spun from the lives 
of workingmen-and give them some share in the ~esponsibilities of the 
events in Colorado. 

THE SENDING O F  THE TROOPS. 
Was there any trouble about arresting the man that  beat up old 

man Stewart? Do you suppose if  it had been Bill Easterly that  was 
beaten up the governor won14 have called out the troope? Not in a, 
thousand years. And do you believe if their thugs and assassins had killed 
every union man in the district that  Peabody would have raised his hand? 
Not in a thousand years. But when something befell old man Stewart, 
although the authorities of the law were in full authority and were all 
powerful to apprehend the man if they could find him, this furnished an 
excuse for sending in the militia and turning loose in the Cripple Creek 
district every thug and plug and crinlinal which the contemptible mem- 
bers of the  Mine Owners' Association could hire. I take it there can 
be no doubt x b o ~ ~ t  the evidence in this case upon that  point. 

Then what happened? They must have some trouble, and so they 
planned a railroad wreck-a railroad wreck to swear on to  the Western 
Federation of Miners. Gentlemen, is there any doubt about who is respon- 
sible for tha t  railroad wreck-that never happened? Why, they have not 
dared to bring evidence in this case to show it. They have not dared to 
dispute it. A couple of r!etectives went to the engineer and asked him 
where would Isn E, good place t o  wreck a train. Think of it. Mr. Scott, 
the special detective of the  Florence & Cripple Creek railroad, and Mr. 
Sterlinq, his ruilning mate, the detective of the Mine Owners' Association, 
go to Rush, the engineer, and say to him: "Where would be a, good place 
for us to  wreck a train?" and he tells them, and they ride on the train 
down to this good place, and these two detectives get off and the train goen 
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on about i ts  business. It comes back in two or three hours, and Scott and 
Sterling stand on the track, and they tell the engineer i t  is  all over-the 
train has been wrecked, or will be unless he stops it.  Think of i t ,  gentle- 
men. They have pulled out eleven spilres, out of forty in one rail, where 
no harm could possibly be done, and then they signal the engineer to stop 
the train. Then they charge i t  broadcast throughout the United States 
that  the wiclied Western Federation of Miners tried to plunge four or 
five hundlxd illen over tlie precil~ice into eternity. 

Now, gentlemen, this  story is not  even disputed; and Scott was here, 
and Sterling was here, and the resources .were here-unless the nzoney has 
all been spent-and i t  has not  been disputed, and they tell you in these 
last days that  they don't claim anything on accoui~t of it. Well, we do. 
We claim i t  was the first act i n  the Cripple Creek district to  bring dis- 
wedit and i~~fa i l i y  upon this nrganisatian, tha t  mas being fonplit to  its 
death by the mine owners, who wanted to  destroy i t  then as they want 
to destroy i t  now; tha t  they have fought i t  every day and every iiigllt 
fro111 tlleil until. today, and 11om they are pleading to this jury throuqil 
the man with the iron mill to have you complete the  job by hanging the 
officers by the neck until dead. 

THE VINDICATOR EXPLOSION. 

Then what happened? Orcllard sliowa up. And who is  Orchard? He 
says he went into the Vindicator milie and he took in t~venty-five, or there- 
abouts, pounds of powder and he laid i t  down on the sixth level, thinking 
i t  mas the seventh, and he rigged up revolver with a wire so tha t  when 
you raised the safety bar you would shoot into the powder and it ~ o u l d  
explode a.nd blow up the mine. Let us see about that ,  gentlemen; let us 
see about that. Is t ha t  another story to  cast discredit upon this organ- 
ization, or  i s  it t rue?  

I take it,  gentlemen, after you are all done with this case and go back 
to your homes and think over the 150 or 200 witnesses mllo lmve appeared 
here from day to  day. t h a t  there are a few men whose nanles anci faces 
will stand out clearly before you; t ha t  tliexe are a, few inen who bore t.lle 
stamp of candor upon their faces, and whose story showed in every line 
that  i t  WRS true, and one of thosc few inell is Thonlas Wood, and nnother 
is Rush, the rngineer of tlie t,l.ain. 

Now, gentlemen, Thomas Wood might be mistaken; an honest nian nlay 
swear to somethirig t h a t  is not true. H e  inay think i t  is true, but he may 

e deceived. Thomas Wood ]nay be mistaken, but you have got to give me 
good, straight evidence t o  show lne t h a t  Thomas Wood is a perjurer or a 
liar. I don't believe it. And yet we have got to believe it in order tc~ 

lieve Orchard. Let me see. Tn the  first place, the only person, of course, 
ho directly swears t o  this is  Harry Orchard. He swears t h a t  he and Bill 

an went down in there and fixed this powder and this revolver. They 
ed i t  on another level, although Harry O r d ~ a r d  was thor- 
with the mine, and it did not go off for a week after, when 

.e ~1-ns 2n explosion on t h e  sivth lr~yel.  on? hs, of ccurse, 
a n  explosion. Nothing could happen tha t  was not his. 
Ailtman swears tha t  no such thing evey occurred. Now, 
it. Mr. Hawley, on a certain occasion, says:  "Why dian't 
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you get Floyd Miller here to prove that  he did not sell powder t o  Billy 
Aikman-not in this matter, but in another? V h y  didn't you get Floyd 
Miller? He was R, member of your orgnnization." Why should we get 
Floyd Miller. WiIl you tell me? Would I have made Mr. Hawley happy 
if I had got Floyd Miller? Would you be glad to  see him4 I suppose, 
gentlemen, if we had brought Floyd illlller this defense would hal-e been 
complete, but \~-hy?  IVhat do we get when we bring a man? You re- 
nlember Mr. Hawley's argument, When we bring Davis, when we bring 
Easterly, when we bring Ail\man and AfahnIich (who went into the smelter 
a t  nineteen y e u s  of age, and who, though lie may be a liar and a ljerjurer, 
being a union man, still was good enough to  slave by night and day for 
Guggenheiln a t  nineteen years of age), when we bring all theqe rnen here, 
Mr. Hawley says: "Oh, what did they amount to?  I don't doubt but that  
you could get ten thousancl of them; yon could get all the members of the 
Western Peilclation of Ilinrrs to come here to Boise to ccmmit pel jury if 
yon gave the commancl." Thnt is what Hawlep sags. Then, gentlemen, I 
do not see holv we would hive helped ourselves any with Floyd Miller. 
Would Hawley have given him credit? Has he given 2ny credit to  any 
man-to any huinan being in this case, but Orchard? Hss  he found any 
good anywhere on the face of the earth except in the cowarcll~ brnin of 
tha t  contemptible man? Would it have done us any good to  have called 
here into this state and into this city of Boise 40,000 members of the 
Western Federation of Iiiners to raise np their hands and smear to  their 
confidence in their devoted lenders? TT7hy, Hnvley would hn7.e called out 
the troops. Undoubtedly he debated i t  in his own mind, anyhow, whether 
he would call them out and drive these women witnesses away. 

I wonder if we did not get enough for him, ancl if me could haye done 
any better if me had got more. Let me tell you, gentlemen, I thinlc when 
you take this case t o  ;pour jlirs room ancl have EL chance to  sny something 
yourselves., you will say tha t  me hare done pretty well on that  line. 

DEVOTION AND ITS REWARD. 

When you consider that  Cripple Creelr had a membership of some 10,- 
000 men. ancl tha t  when the mine owners commenced their crusade of crime 
and destruction they drove these men off the face of the earth; they 
qtarved their wives and their children. 2nd s~vel7t i t  as clerr nq if the hot 
winds of the desert had blown across it, and they had been scattered t o  
the four corners of the earth; and me have had to bring them here. The 
State of Idaho has not paid for i t ;  the 40,000 devoted men working clown 
deep in the bowels of the earth have sent of their earnings ancl undergone 
their toil that  these commdes of theirs might  be dofended in this court. We 
have brought most of them here. They were scattered like the leaves 
of the forest. They vere  scattered lil:e the tmelve tribes, and me have fol- 
lowed them all over the earth. We have paid for them to  come. Some were 
dieginq dourn in tho mines of Nevada, which was an asplnm for the outcnst 
and the despised, where the men driven o11t bv the riff-raff of the Mine 
Owners' association and by the connivance of their tool in the governor's 
chair, had found work, and hope. and bread. They have come here from 
Nevada, they have come from California, they have come from far-off Brit- 
ish America, they have come from Kansas, they have come from Colorado. 
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from northern Idaho, from Washington, from Montana-from everywhere 
these men have gathered. They have come, gentlemen, even taking their 
lives in their hands, to face prosecution by the iron Inan who conrtuci;~ 
this case. They have coine here to tell their story and to  help us in our 
defense, and what do we get?  . 

Mr. Hawley says: "You are a gang of perjurers-you are a gang of liars 
-you are a gang of assassins-back to the mines." That is what we get. 
Men whose hearts are as true as any which ever beat in the breast of any  
Illan since the world began; inen whose faces are as open and as frank and 
as fair a s  the face of ally n?nn whom you have ]net since you have been upon 
this' jury,men as courageous, and strong, and devoted as any band of fa- 
natics who ever offered up their lives for a cause-and they have been 
called perjurers and murderers and Iiars. We are told, "It is no wonder; 
you could have got 40,000 n~ore." And then v7e are aslied why we dicl not get 
Floyd &Iiller, so ths,t he might be called a perjurer and a liar! And now 
it  is claiined that  Harry Orchard stoIe some powder from him. 'CVell, all 
right, gentIemen, if you folks want to  condemn us  be2nnse we did not 
bring more of them, while Hawlep condemns us because we brought so 
many, it places 11s in an  embarrassing position. I rlon't exactly know what 
to do. We won't know how to  tu rn  when they go for their next 
victim to  coiltinue the sacrifice. 

We brougllt Billy Ailrman here and he says tha t  Orchard lied when 
he told the  story that  Orchard and he went down and blew up the Vindi- 
cator mine. Now, gentlemen, let us look a't it honestly and candidly for a 
few moments. Are you going t o  believe tha t  Billy Aikrnan is a liar or t h a t  
Orchard is a liar? Billy Aikman is a member of the Western Federation 
of Miners. He is not as good looliing a s  some men; he does not wear as 
good clothes a s  some people-he does not need them in his business, the  
way I do, for instance-but he works-he w ~ r l i s  with his hands; he does 
not lrnow how to get  a living any other way. He has been siclr; he suf- 
fered; he has been boycotted; be  has heen without a. job; he has been 
driven from his home; lie has starved; he has gone to  worlr again in tha t  
land of promise-in Nevada-and he is working down there in the mines. 
He is a poor, uncouth man. There are a thousandnien tliat you coulrl meet 
every day that  know more than Billy Ailrman. There are a thousand b ~ t -  
ter looking than he is, and plenty of them tliat wear better clothes, but  show 
me a mail thn.t works harder; show me a man whose devotion has been 
greater; show me a man who, t o  the extent of his ability and intelligence, 
has been wilIing and able to do more. He was examined, and cross-er<!~,m- 
ined. It is not, exactly a n  even battle when you match Senator Borah 
against Billy Aikman. The senator has had advantages which Billy never 
had. Fellows like Billy Aikman have t o  work in the mines so that  Sen- 
ator Borah mny be senator and I may practice law. If it were not for 
them we would have to work in the mines and that  would be a calamity. 
That would be- 

Mr. Borah-It would be for the mine owners. 
Mr. Da.rrow-You mean by that  tlmt you ~vould raise trouble? 
Will you tell me any really good reason why you are going to  believe 

this infamous wretch, Harry Orchard, against Billy Ailrman? Hawley 
says you must. Ailrman Elas never confessed to  a crime. If he has com- 
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mitted one he has beeu a man. H e  has stood by his  fellows and he has  
stood by himself; he has looked the world i n  the  face, and looked his God 
ill the face aiid kept a proud heart aaci a proud spir i t  through al l  his 
troubles. Are you going t o  believe this cringing, cowardly cur in  the place 
of Billy Ailnilt~ii? I don't t l l i~ik so, gentlemen. I don't tIiink you would 
believe l~iiil  i i  SOU lilik!\~ he was telling the t ruth.  I wulild not. I would 
~ i o t  l ~ a v c  il; oil 111y co~~science to  thinli t h a t  for one n ~ o i i ~ e n t  1 ever gave 
one word of credit or one thougpt of credit to  a n  abortion like him, and 
1 don't believe you would have lt on yours. 

Nolr, horn does this case stalid with Billy Aiknlan on the  one sirle 
a i d  I-Iarry Orc!~~l.r! ~ 1 1  t?:? otha.? T ail? ~:ot  p-rticulnrl? n l l s i o ~ ~ s  t o  p ~ o -  
tech Har ry  Orchard and I don't think he would want it. Orchard heard 
about the Vii~clicatoi. e:;ploaion just as  he heard about the Bunker Hill  
and Sullivan niill, j i ~ s t  ::a lle I~earcl about tlie Bradley matter,  just as IIC 
11eard about the liillillg of mralley, just as  be 1lea1.d about the  lcilling of 
Gregory, ant1 he sitys, "1 am the ulan; I will weave you a story thn t  will 
be a tell-or to  ~ g ! ! ~  :;:id !,.r:i: 3 -,yill i:~!l yc:! 2 ::to:.y !'!?+t \yjll l>lr?cr ern.  
particular hair t o  s tand  on end;" and he did. There was not  very 
much 11a.1)peliing t l i :~ t  was Iior~ible t h a t  Harry Orchard did not do-after 
he came u i~der  tlic holy loving iilfluence of Father McPartland. 

TESTIMONY O F  'THE PROSECUTION. 

E u t  we cIon't have to stop liere, gentlemen. They called a ~vitness 
whoso testinjolly wns o i~ ly  circu~xstantial,  and was as  niuch our may a s  
theirs. They called I-Ioln:nu, who s\vol.r t l ~ n t  I!e v,ont. r?nc.n i!itn Ihr !.tine 
first, from the  top upon another cage, and he says t h a t  there was no safety 
bar a t  tha t  tiliie. '1'Lley exlied Naylor, wllo swears t h a t  he went afterwards 
ancl t.liere was x ~ a f e t y  b : ~ r  there and he tooli a wire off of it, and Naylor 
swears thnt  both Beck and McCloricick were blo~vn to pieces below their 
bodj--llie legs of boll] 01 them practically destroyed-and they were 
blo~vii i n  opposite directions, x~~liicli entirely corroborates our theory of 
this case-that it; nf:is 311 accidellt. Nobody ever dreamed it was any- 
thing else until  Mc'Partland, busy wit11 the weaving of rope t o  hang Hay- 
wcorl, pu t  i t  into the  con~ni~tlly bmin of tha t  cowardly cLrr \\rho says he 
sneaked into the  n:inc gnrl rlid thc net hi!~?self, 

Now,gentlemen, we have one witness in  this case outside of them. L 
never saw this nlan until  11e calm to Boise. I don't want you t o  tninlc 
t h a t  I linow allything about him, whether he is honest or dishonest. I 
never saw Tllomss Wood unt i l  I saw him here; I don't know anything 
more about him than you tw-~elve nleil linolv. B u t  I have spent time study- 
ing llunlan nature-I have beell doing tha t  while these poor C ~ L I I I I ~ I S  liave 
been digging in the mines, and you people have been ploughing corn-it 
is not so cleali a job, bu t  i t  is pleasanter and more profitable; and I tbinl; 
you, gentlemen, in your journey through the  world have learned something 
about human nature, a11c1, s o ~ i ~ e h o ~ v  or other-iiot always-the Lord stamps 
npon the face of a man His  stamp, if lie is genuine, just  a s  much a s  the 
~n in te r  puts the stalnp upon the coin; if he is  a hang-dog fellow like 
Dewey, the  Lord has p u t  tha t  upon his face, and he is  boulld t o  carry it 
through life with hiin unfortuaatelp. I am sorry t h a t  Dewey has got 
tha t  sort of a face. Maybe he could not help it, but it is not a face to 



hang a man on unless tha t  mail should be Dewey. Now, you saw Thomas 
Wood. To rue Thoillas IVood's face shows tha t  he is an  holiest man. I 

I believe i f  none of you ever saw him before in your lives, when you loolied 
upon him you tliought you looked into the face of an  honest 111211, ,z 111~11 

~vhorn you could t rus t  and depend on, and believe in, ailcl I believe th:rt 
~vhen you l1eal.d his story you tllought you were lieariag the story of 
an honest man; and for anybody to say tha t  this story should be set aside 
£01 & mukhe~1L LO give c l ~ ~ i i L  to u lc i~i~l 'd  16 ~illilg tba i l ; O i i a L : i l ~ 5 ~  10; iiie 
to consider or to  talk about. If I thought there was one lllall oil this  
jury tha t  moulcl set aside tlie story of Tlloil~as Woort to  give crcdit t o  
th:~t; thing, then I would nerer ~ v a n t  to unclertake nnotlker jury t r ia l  i n  
nly life. I xvould feel t ha t  illy usefulness ~vns  over and tha t  tliey better 
get soinebocly who knew juries better tliail I do. 

Now, as I said, a Inail may be honest and mistaken, but  in this 
case 1 will show you, gentlemen, and conclusively, unless this was an 
accident, Thomas Wood was not mistalien. He is a perjurer pure, plain 
and simple, just as  MT. Hawley said he was-with no cl~ance to be mis- 
talcen. Before we coiile to  that, me might say tha t  Thom:ts Wood a t  that; 
time was a. scab. Now, I never expected to find myself passing a eulogy 
011 scabs, and, to  be honcst, I clon't l<now as  1 ~vo~llcl, excepting in this 
case, for I don't like them, a i d  I clon't believe in them, hut  there w e  
plenty of honest nlen who do--l)leaty of tIiem-men who thinlc they are 
figliting for human liberty wllell they are fighting against a union, and 
when they thinli so I respect them for their holiest upmions. Thomas 
Wood -was ~vorkilig while his fe l lo~\~s  were on a strike. EIe has %wurl<ed 
in Cripple Creel; all the tiwe since: 2nd he laid dolvn his picB and sho-,.el 
to collie to Boise to testify. He 1:ot oilly did not belong to  the union, 
but he has given his life to fight against unions 2nd 11e \\-as 011 the other 
side; so you callnot accuse Iliin of s~vcar ing  t,o a lie with tlie rest of the 
bu~ich t o  heip us. Of course, lie C ~ l l l ~ i l ~ ~ t e d  perjury-&IT. I-Iaarleg says 
SO. How, gei~tlemen, I want to  1.exd you just n little of Tlionlas 'Wood's 
testimony. I read fro~ii  page 2653. Tlioii~;~s Wood, you remember, sn.vs 
this was t h ~  seco~lrl dsy of his ~vo;.k there; they were just stn,rti~lg with 
new lilell t o  take tile place of the old ones on a strilie: 

TESTIMONY OF WOOD. 

"Q. VT2lnt dicl you do wit11 ~nfeseilce t o  ally powder on the day be- 
fore t h e  explosion? A. 1 carried a box-a half box of ponder--for a ]nil,- 
chine inan tha t  could ilot use the powder, back of the  shaft, for accom- 
nlodation to the n~achine nlel1; t ha t  was tlie clay before. I carried a half 
a box of powder bncB to  the shaft. 

"Q. Where did you put i t ?  A. I put i t  011 top of the water barrel 
a t  the shaft." 

, let ilie intersperse a r o r d  here: They b~~ough t  s young innn- 
whose step-fnther uTns Idled. 1 hare nothing to stty against the 

e sags lliixself that  his jildgn~rnt was of !lo vnlne at tha t  time; 
could not tell a thing strnig!~t or see things straight. Rnmsey 
.e was no water bar~.el or1 that  le~rel, but he says tl1el.e was an oil 
ere-there %rere oil barrels on all the  levels. NOW, i t  is entirely 



possible tha t  Ramsey may he telling the t ru th  about it, and tha t  Thomas 
Wood set i t  upon an oil barlel instead of a water barrel. 

"Q. Where did you gu t  it? A. I put  i t  on top of a water barrel 
in the ahaft. 

"Q. A t  the shaft on the eighth level? A. Yes. 
"Q. Do you know what the rule was permitting any powder to  stay 

in the level? A. Yes, I understood from the man stoping that  day tha t  
McCormiclc was very careful in keeping the powder out of the mine and 
took it back to the powder magazine the night before or st any time. 

"Q. How much powder was thele'l A. A little less than half a box 
-fifty pounds in a box. 

"Q. That would be about twenty-five pounds? A. Yes. 
"Q. Did you see that  powder on the 21stT A. Yes, sir. (That 

was the day of the accident.) 
"Q. What did you do during the 20th, during the day? A. I tim- 

bered all I could until quitting time. 
"Q. Did you go back the 21stl A. I did. 
"Q. Did you see tho powder? A. I did. 
"Q. Where was i t ?  A. The same place I had laft i t  the  nigilt 

before-on the water barrel. 
"Q. HOW far do you say you were working from the shaft? A. I 

should judge about four hundred feet; I never measured it though; I 
I don't h o w ,  I guess a t  that. 

"Q. How far past i t  did you go to get to the stope? A. Four hun- 
dred feet. 

I "Q. Was the powder a t  tlie end near the shaft 'l A. The powder was 
I a t  the shaft in the morning when I went to work. 
I "Q. whereabouts was the powder on the shafb-the levelt A. At  

the shaft on the top of a water barrel. 
"Q. The water barrel was right a t  the shaft? A. Right a t  the shafc. 
"Q. Did you see Beck and McCormickT A. No, sir, I saw Beck and 

I McCormick something about ten o'clocl+-a little after ten. 
"Q. How long before the accident, the explosion, or wnatever it was? 

A. As near to  the time as I could guess-I did not hear the explosion, it 
I was up on the sixth and I was on the eighth a long way from i t i t  was 

I around near twenty minutes past ten or twenty minutes to eleven, as 
near as I could tell-about twenty minutes to eleven, I should judge. 

"Q. The explosion? A. Yes. 
"Q. And you saw them what time? A. I saw thein shortly after 

ten. I met them above and got ir~structions v h a t  to do. 
"Q. Where did ycu meet them? A. I met them on the stope. 
"Q. And was instructions given you by them? A. Yes. 
"Q. And then whele did they go? A. They went down the ladder 

and I went on from there up the shaft. 
"Q. That is, they went down to the eighth level? A. Yes. 
"Q. And you supposed went 011 out?  A. Yes. 
"Q. When did you hear tliere was an  explosion-how soon after you 

met them? A. Not long; I should judge from twenty to  thirty minutea. 
"Q. Where did you go? A. I mado for the shaft. 
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i "Q. Did you meet other people going there? A. I met men in sll di- 

which was the last time I saw the powder. 
"Q. Was i t  there then? A. It mas there then, yes. 
"Q. And betweeri tlixt and half-past, or x~hatever time it was, it was 

7 

emen again he says that mhile Beck was there 



t h i s  powder exploded. I l e  was careless w i t h  it. H e  l ikely  was  no t  ac- 
custolned t o  it. I t  doubtless fell ou t  o f  h is  pocket, and, Beck, standing 011 

one side and McCormick o n  t h e  other,  t h e y  were blown in opposite direc- 
t ions,  and th i s  s tory  i s  brought here and ye t  Harry  Orchard says,  "Oh, I 
did it-1 did it." 

Gentlemen o f  t h e  jury, I t a k e  i t  t h a t  for  t h e  purpose o f  accommodat- 
ing Mr. Hawley and t h e  Mine Owners' association you will have no right 
nor license t o  s a y  t h a t  W o o d  i s  a perjured scoundrel. There  is n o  
evidence upon which t o  base it, and if h e  told t h e  t r u t h ,  t h e n  th i s  was  a n  
accident pure and simple, and Harry  Orchard, as in other in- 
stances, has  talcen credit for  committing a crime which he never corn- 
nlitted i n  t h e  ~vor ld  01. had anytliing t o  do wi th .  If h e  did comiuit  it, it is 
no t  claiined i n  th i s  case t h a t  these defendants had anything t o  d o  w i t h  h im.  
He had never spolten t o  t h e m ;  h e  had never even seen t h e m ;  he  acted 
~ v i t h o u t  any instructions or a n y  authori ty  f r o m  t h e m  whatever, and hc 
did not  k n o w  them.  

ORCHARD'S INTRODUCTION TO HAYWOOD. 

W h o  ZCCIS 7 ~ 0 ,  and U ~ I L U ~  zoas he doigzg a t  t h a t  t ime? Le t  trs see abovt 
t l ~ i s  felloru. Harry  Orchard swears tlzat he tried first t o  explode a carload 
of g ~ ? ~ p o a ~ d c ~ -  c~nd failed, m~td  he clid ?tot get ailby tlzoney for i t ,  and the91 
Bill Davis lold I L ~ I ~ L  7 ~ e  ZOCLS goiug t o  have p le l~ ty  of ?no;tey whelt tl~.ay 
coreclied th i s  l~air~ altd it made EIa.nhy Orchard jealozcs because somethirty 
zous going om c~nd Ize zoas ?lot in i t ;  to  feel tha t  m y b o d y  should explode a 
17vine or  tear up a 1-ailload truck,  or lcill arty 7zzm.ta~a being and Harry  
Orcl~ai-d'lzot co?lsiderecl. H e  said:  Eere  i s  t h e  uwion put t ing ou t  their  
good ?no?~ey fol- a co?l~13ai.at,ively easy job; w h y  dofz't t hey  lzi-re me? And 
he toelat to  Scott .  NOZU, do you suppose tha t  toas the  reasola? I dolzlt 
ltinozo ho.~u m y b o d y  can tell. If you clcn tell, you are wiser tknn. I ,  hu t  
th,el.e i s  oile i l t i~lg  he did aqtc2 t h a t  is sure-he did go to  Scott .  He zl ;ent  t o  
Xcott, the  c h i ~ f  delective of the l~Zore?zce a?td Cripple Creelc railroad, agl,d 
he 1~ud a co~~/ ' c~ .er~ce  with hin~, c~nd,  stravzge .to say, the  fil-st t ime  he cvcr 
saw Noyer  07- Vay~ooocl i n  the  zco~ld he  ujelzt u p  t o  Dertver w i t h  a pass 
f%&~rvisl~ed b y  lh i s  detectizjc and twelve or fifteen dollars i l a  h is  pocLst 
zuluich th i s  ~Zetective lzad given to  him. Noto third6 of it. A d  y o u  are 
uslced t o  believe that  toe a9.e responsibbe for I~int.  Before Haywood ever 
su,zo 7~ i in  or bud heard of hi~rz, he had Scott's naoney im his poclcet. lie 
m s  sent to  I i a y ~ o o d  zvith a PCISS and cash t o  get aemt to t he  officers of 
the  1,Vester.l~ Pccleratiolz of Afiners. Tl'hose hired mam was  he? Now, le t  
m e  be plain about th i s  mat ter .  

I don't believe t h a t  t h i s  m a n  -was ever really i n  t h e  employ o f  any -  
body. I don't believe he ever had a n y  allegiance t o  t h e  Mine Owners' asso- 
siation, t o  t h e  Pinliertons, t o  t h e  W e s t e r n  Federation o f  Miners, t o  his 
family ,  t o  his kinclred, t o  his  God, or t o  anything h u m a n  or divine. I 
don't believe lie bears any  relation t o  anything t h a t  a mysterious and in- 
scrutable Providence has ever created. I don't t h i n f i  t h e  mine  owners 
hired h i m  t o  kill anybody;  I dcn't t h i n k  t h e  Pinliertons hired him to kill 
anybody; I don't t h i n k  those th ings  are done even b y  mine o-cvnel-s or by 
wor1;ing men. I would as soon thinlr it o f  one as o f  t h e  other, b u t  I 
don't thinlc it of anybody when there  i s  anything else to t h ink ,  and there 
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is plenty else to thinlr in this case. What I think of this contemptible man 
is this: He was a soldier of fortune, ready to  piclr up a penny or a 
dollar or any other sum in any way tha t  was easy, tha t  did riot cause him 
any sweat-ready to do anything for cash except to worli-ready to serve 
Scott, to serve Sterling, to  serve the mine owners, to serve the Western 
Federation, to  serve the devil if he got his price, and his price was cheap. 
He never did get a good price for trying to kill n nlall until McPartland 
got holcl of him, and got him in this union, and told him the value of 
killing a lliixn; and now he clemailcls his life-his life for Haywood's. That 
is not such a bad bargain, either, because Haywood's life is worth two or 
three millions of his, no matter what Haywood might be. 

Orchard went up to Deavel. with Scott's nioneg and Scott's pass, and 
there he says he saw hloyer and Haywood. Now, Scott and he do not ag.i.ee. 
I asked Scott how much money he ever gave him, and he said forty-five 
dollars a t  the most. I asked Orchard how rnuch money he ever got of 
Scott, and lie says he got either twelve or fifteen dollars oilce, anu five dol- 
lars afterward, and tha t  is all. They don't agree. Perhaps neither of 
them tells the truth. I don't care which, or whether either of them does. 

ALLER'S EVIDENCE. 

We have brought n, railroad rnan  he^, Aller, tvho Mr. Hs,wley, of 
course, says is n liar because he swore against Orchard. He swore that  
he saw Scott and Orchard together three different times; that  the last 
time was about two  weeks before the Illdependence depot was blown up, 
and ak that  time, on n Suilday e~eiling, they were it1 Scott's ollice- 
Scott, Sterling and Orchard-and were there two or three hours; that  Scc-tt 
was going to take his dinner with him, but he was detained so long by 
01.chard tha t  lle could not get it. Now, is tha t  story true? Let us see 
about it, gentlemen. They have been pretty free with A f r .  Aller's nanie- 
let it be said t o  tlieil ererlnsting sh~me--but is there any re:rsoa why 
yon should disbelieve hinl? TT7hat reason? He swore tha t  Scott was 
with this man three times. what does Scott say? He says he was with 
him seven times-certainly six, and probably seven. That is what Scott 
says, and yet Aller is a liar. What else does he say?  He says tha t  on 
one evening-a Surlclay evt~iing-lle stnyeil a t  least an hour, niid tha t  on 
another evening he hnd an engagement with AIler, but could not keep it; 
and yet they say tha t  Aller is a liar. Do you? 

What else? I will tell you \v11at else. Aller says that  Scott and Ster- 
ling a.nd Orchard were there. What is the matter with Sterling denying 
i t ?  Why doesn't he pipe up in this case? He must be the prosecuting a t -  
torney of Canyon countj~, by the 111.ofo1~l1d silence he Geeps, ~vhile 
everybody else is working. If Scott and Sterling and Orchard were not 
together for an hour or two on that  Sunday evening, pray tell me why 
has not Sterling's voice been heard denying it? Why, gentlemen, i t  is the 
merest child's play. The idea that  a lawyer mould tell this jury that  Aller, 
a, rai1roa.d man, in no way interested in this case, came here to colnlnit 
perjury, and he did not swear to half as nluch as Scott! Do you suppose 
it malces any difference whether he was there in April, or May, or the first 
of June? There might be some desire on our part to get the time as near 
the Independence depot explosion as we could, but it mas before t h a t  time, 



88 Wagland's Monthly. 

and that  is enough for any practical purpose, and i t  is enough for us, and 
here we have this man swearing that  he met him those three times; we 
have Scott admitting seven times, and we have proved in this case that 
the first time Orchard ever saw these defendants he went there with 
Scott's money. Now, are you going to charge him to us. I want to l i n o ~ ,  
gentlemen, what is right. I want to know, in spite of what Hawley says, 
i f  you believe i t  is fair and honest and decent to charge this man up to 
us when we had never seen him-when those men had held conference after 
conleielice wiLll 111111 and had lured him and paid him and given him the 
transportation to conle, and he comes to Denver, and, strangely enough, 
Scott comes with him. Now, gentlemen-just think of it; is there one 
man on this jury who has any question in his own mind but what he and 
Scott came to Denver so that he might get next to 3foye~- and 13apvoodl 
Scott gives him a pass and gives him money and they go together, and Scott 
goes to the Adarus llouJe &nd walLs  ~ V I .  a le l~ort  i101Lt Harry Orchard, and 
Orchard goes over and sees this man and conies back and rnaltes a report. 
True, he says, gentlemen, he went to see Billy Easterly, but he was not 
there, but he found he was in Pueblo; and i f  Billy Easterly wa3 in 
Pueblo, he could I l a ~ e  found i t  out in Cripple Creel; as well as in Den- 
ver, because Cripple Creek is nearer Pueblo than Denver. He comes up and 
he meets Moyer and Haywood and he has his conference with then1 and 
he then goes baclr and reports to headquarters. And he sees thein day 
after day. And what does lie say about his first meeting? 

I 
ORCHARD'S INTRODUCTION TO HAYWOOD. I Now, gentlemen, let me think of that a minute. Do you remember , 

the first time Harry Orchard says he saw Moyer and Haywood? He came I 

up on this pass, with Scott waiting a t  the hotel, and he went into the 
room. He did not lcnosv them and they did not know him. He says that 
he was told by then1 that Billy Easterly had told theln about him. Billy 
Easterly denies it, they deny it, and i t  is ut1reasol;able on its face. He 
did not have an identification card; he did not have a letter of iatroduc- 
tion; he had nothing. EIe >~i~iallced into Moyer and Haywood's office-the 
president and secretary of a, great labor organization-"My name is Or- 
chard; I have just blown up the Vindicator mine and have killed Mc- 
Cormick and Beck, the superintendent and the boss." And Moyer and 
Haywood slap him on the back, and say, "You are a good fellow; and 
you done noble," or words to that eflect. And Moper reached hi hir  
pocltet and pulled out twenty dollars and gave i t  to him, and the nest 
day he went back and Haywood gave him two hundred and eighty dollar4 , 
more for that job ! 

Now, gentlemen, do yon thinlr that story is true? Of course, if one of 
you had lived an upright life, had loolied after your family, had earned your 
living in the sweat of your brow, had fought for the poor and the wealr mid 
the disheartened, had talren n hand in every good movement that came 
within your reach,-if you had f o ~ t ~ h t  the stronq and the po~verful, and the 
great, and had given your Iife to this work-and some murdering scoundrel 
should be caugllt in his criine and turned and accused yon to save his life, 
you would think i t  mas pretty hard if t~velve jurors would not take your 
word, unsupported, against hi, would you not? Of what use 
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I i'~ character-i what use is l i f e o f  what use are good deeds and a good 
name--of what use is the  hope and the aspiration and the desire to serve 
your fellow man, if a scoundrel like this-a scoundrel like this-to save hid 
OWTI neck, can come illto a court of justice and take your character and your t name and your life to save his own4 You mould not expect that  jou  had to 
do much except to  give your plain, simple word, and you w~ould expect your 
words and your deeds and your life would stand as a shield to protect you 

[ against all  such scoundrels as Harry Orchard. And yet you Rre 
asked to hang Bill Eaywood on tha t  kind of testimony. He has been 

! more fortunate than you might be. You might be caught by such a scoun- 1 drel and no one near to  support you; you might be caught with your un- 
k corroborated word, and you might be taken so far away and be so poor that  

you could not get the witnesses, and you could not hire the lawyers to 
@ come and defend you. And eve11 then you would expect the word of a n  1 honest man who has lived an upright life to be your shield and your pro- 
1 tection and tha t  it would be ample for your cause. But  no, not h e r e n o t  
I here. 
! I want to say tha t  these things were always good in any case where g labor unions are not involved; any case where it is  not the case of labor, 

but if it is a labor union-if i t  i8 a president or secretary or a walking 
delegate or some man who has devoted his life t o  the cause of the poor, then 
such excuses do not go, and they are presumed to be guilty until proven k innocent, and the jury is crazy if you can prove his innocence. As Mr. 

1 Hawley remarked, this jury would be crazy if i t  did not believe these de- 
Vendants guilty in  this caee. i 
i 
L A SUPPOSITITIOUS CASE. 

Well, now, let  us-lock a t  tha t  story a little further. Does it look rea- 
!  ona able? Let us assume that  this man is a cut-throat; let  us assume that  

Bill Eay-cvood is a cut-throat. Nobody ever said he was a fool. His  word  
E enemies have not made tha t  claim. Let us assume tha t  he is  like all the 

rest of us-& Doctor JeByl and Mr. Hyde, and tha t  the Mr. Hyde preponder- 
I ates the Doctor Jeliyl ; tha t  he would be willing to slay and t o  kill; and let 

him be a criminal as bad as Harry Orchard pictures him; he is wealring a 
net to catch every man who is  unfriendy to him; he is making bombs for 
governors and judges and the strong and the powerful who hate him. He is 1 a plain assassin, and the head of a great labor organization. I s  he a fool? 
Do you suppose a man could carry on those deeds and take no measure to  
protect himself? Do you think he could leave his doors open to  every tramp 
and every criminal that  miglit enter them, and when this criminal should 
my to him, I sent two men to  eternity, and I blew up a mine, tha t  he could 
turn to the Inan, without introduction and without acquaintance, md, 
slapping him on the back, say, "Well done; here is $300 for your work 
and we will need more of i t  in the future." Now do you believe it? Does 
that loolc reasonable? 

Gentlemen, let me say this: If this jury believes t h a t  H a p ~ ~ o o d  and 
Moyer met Harry Orchard in their room, and without any introduction of 
any sort, they let Harry Orchard tell them of this murder, and that they 
then turned and gave him $300-if you believe tha t  story, for God'e salre 
M e  them out a d  Ilarfg tj!-~!t-tllfy ~ P C ~ ~ Y C  t~ die. The7 have not g ~ t  
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brains enough to  lead any labor rnoyelnent in the world; they are misfitrl, 
and 1 don't see why they have been alive so long. 

NOT THAT ICIND. 
CTe?ztlcfr~e~~, it i s  uo t  nren of that clzn?-ctcter t h a t  could build u p  a greu 

orgalaisatiora l ike  t h e  Tl'cstcr?& Pede.ratioiz of iuiizers; it is lzot m e n  of tha 
nzulcl t h a t  coztld plccnt 7tos~;itals ~ P L  all your hills cc~acl ct l l  your mou?ztwi?ts; .' 
i s  ,1201. W L ~ ~ L  O? t h a t  k i ~ z d  t l m t  could dispcase a. iwillio7~ a i d  a half (EolIu~-s 
widotos a ~ ~ d  o~-pka.tzs in dejt years.. I t  is not  those me7z t h a t  could take  t 
ElzgEisl~ at~cE the  Irisli., t l ~ e  U w t c : ~  a d  
l r~old  tlcis % I L C O I L ~ I . ~ L O ~ L S  ?HUSS in to  o m  gveat nttd mighty power so a s  to  nuz 
Ihc cause of label- one in tlie la+td. I t  ta7ces hrains. I t  takes  courage. 
takes  dcuotio?~.. I t  does not  talce n man st~c7z as  Orchard describes. I t  tah 
good7~ess, too, n?zcl you cannot l1za7~e m e  believe it  of Bill Haywood, or 
Cl~u?.ley iiloyc,; or of al1.y o ther  labor leader in t h e  U ~ t i t e d  States .  

1 don't clailu tha t  this inall in an angel. The Western Federation 
Miners could not nfford to  put  an angel a t  their bead. Do you want 
11il.e a n  angel to  fight the Mine Owners1 Association and the Pinkertc 
detectives, arid the power of ~veal th?  Oh, no, gentlemen; you better get 
first-class lighting man who has physical courage, who has ~nea ta l  conrag 
:vho l lns strong devotion, who loves the poor, ~ 1 1 0  loves the weak, who hat  
iniquity iliicl hates i t  more when i t  is with the powerful and the  great; a 
you canliot win it, and I believe tha t  down in your hearts there 
not  one of you would wish him to  be an angel. You know an angel wou 
not he filled ior that  placc, L L I I ~  i itialie no ciai~n 01 tllt~t, but he is 11ot 
demon. If he were a denlon or 5~ bad m a n  he -rrould never be worlring in thi 
cause, for the prizes of the wox.ld are somewhere else. The man who entel 
the labor movement, either as  an organ 
enters i t  in the hope of reward, is a f 
on the other sick-unless yon look for 
t o  your consciouwess of n duty we11 done. I presulile t ha t  th i  
malr is  a man, a lnan tha t  has strengkll and has power, and has 
tnan 01 lore and affection, a nlan of strong nature, of strong 
don't li110tv about tllnt, and I don't care about it; I don't look 
else i11 man; I want the inan of courage and brains and 
strenglh. 

R a x y  Orcllnrd saps he 7r.enC t o  H a p ~ ~ o o d ' s  house. E e  did. He says 
knew his children. He went t o  his room and Bill Haywood Itnew 
You may believe what you will, but  you can never make me believe t 
this sLroiig3 r -~ggc~l ,  dei-otecl ~:;:LII T V O L I ~ L ~  g ~ s p  1,he I~lfiod-st:~i~w(l lla11d 
this  mnrdcrous villiali when he linem that  his hand was dripping with hj  
fellow mort:~l's blood, ancl t11el1 tltrn nncl stroke the golden locks of hn 
little girl. Men are not of t ha t  sort. It don't believe so. He is a man o 
sti.engtll, of coiungv, of clevotioii t o  . a  pl.ineipie, and i:e is lue~~ig p~osec~l le~ 
and pexsecnted in this case, not because he is veak, but because he is pov 
e r f d  ancl strong and brave, ancl beea~lse his heart beats for the manhoof 
w-lvhich he linows and -sees and feels and lores. 

THE ABSENCE O F  JACII STnIPICINS. 

Gentlemen of the jury: Before I overloolr it I want to  refer t o  



few suggestions made by Mr. Hawlcy a s  t o  Jack  Silupl<ins and why he 
is not here I suppoqe the reason he is not here is becanse he is afrald t o  

,be h e ~ e .  Tha t  is  tlie liest reason 1 c:uii give. 1 do not p:opose t o  go arovr~rl 
;the question or get up any  fantastic reason. Tha t  is  t h e  reason. B u t  
Mr. Hawley says t o  ycu t h a t  the fact  tha t  he r a n  away p lows  that, he is  
p i l t y  bevon? a reasonx1,le doubt W ~ t h  t h a t  statenlent 1 t ake  seri0113 
Issue. If the  fact  t h a t  Jack Simpltins ran away proves t ha t  

;he is guilty, then the  fact  t h a t  Raywood and &foyer did not 
zwny, but  wnitcd in their ofices and stayed t o  face whatever might 

!come, proves t h a t  they a l e  innocent. Neitlte~ statement is t r u e  Oiic ir 
:as true as  the  otliei, b1l.t neither one is true. I used t o  tl~ililr thnt  I could 

11 something about ~vhetlier a 1ila11 was ii~iiocent or guilt7 by the way 
acted. But  I have gotten ovei it. Sonietinies the  guiltiest ~ t r e t c h  on 

rtli is the coolest mnn. Accuse a guilty man of crin1ix, onc who has 
Tvn i t  a i d  has lived in it snrl is acrnstoinecl to  i t ,  and 11e is oftClr 

coolest man  you can imagine. Accuse an innocent man of 
ims, a man n h o  has lived an uplig!lt life, and he inay drop dead with 
ar, 01 he may tlemble with confusion, or lle 111ay run away. No man 
n tell what any individual is going to do under ciicumstanees like that.  

en you undertake to  ~ n d g e  a, man's guilt  01 his innocencp by his 
net vhen  11e i s  accnsecl, vou a re  on very d~np- rous  g~ouncl MY I'Iaw- 
qays t h a t  because Jack Simpkills ran  and hicl hiinrelf therefoae he  ir 
tv beyond a reasonable doubt. Now, Mr. Hawley is an exncrt on the 
~ c t  of coiivelsion and what i t  does for a sinful man. I clon't h o w  
her he is n, student of the Bible or not. B ~ r t  I can call his attention 

onp h i s t o ~ i c ~ l  illnsti??ion of ~ r h o t  a n  irillocent JilalJ > i l l  rlo: ..ld if 
is a s  well posted on the acts t h a t  prove guilt, as he is 

on conversion, he is  making a, pre t ty  dangerous statement when 
says tha t  i f  a man hides or runs anray t h a t  is  conclusive evidence of 

s guilt There was olire a great ieforlner and a ~ t ~ t o i -  who lived on 
earth and malbed with men and w l ~ o  was a disturber i n  his clav and 
ration, one of the  Bind of men t h a t  Mr. Hawley describps who xlwavs 
es trouble wherever he is, because if a rnan stands for t r a t h  and 
ce and righteousness he is bound t o  make t ~ o u h l e  no matter  when hc 
or where. There ~ 3 4  a nian nineteen hundlcd years aeo who stood 

truth and justice 81113 r i ~ h t e o u ~ n e s q  a s  he uilderstood t l~em.  ar, our 
stand for t r u t h  and justice xlid riyliteonsnes~ as  t h ~ v  mlderstnnd it. 

d this man offended the  Jerusalem Daily Adve~t i se r  and t h e  other falce 
spapels which published the ads. of the Pharisees of tlrnt time. and hc 
nded the great and the strong and the mighty and they raised a mob 
Jernsalen~, just  aq they ra~secl a mob a t  Ci11q1le C ~ e e k  ~ n c l  Vizlor, 

d they went ou t  after this rlistl~rber and this o~i tcast .  What  drrl h r  
7 TS'17v 119 i q11 n v  9 . i ~  ~ n c l  hid Y'qs Ire mliltv? ?To 111.1 q, -q.i. -r;rl  hi , l  
save his life from the  mob, from the righteous mob t h a t  believed in or- 

r and law, especially order so long a s  they made it. And he hid hiinself 
urelv, unt11 pile of his f ~ i e n d s  a i ~ i l  clivi7le3. J u d - s  l>~tr:r~rpd 1ii1-1 1c1 

dollnls. T I,pllc - ;? ..--- T :, p r r l q l  i f  ~ i - ~ o l  -~li!tv! T : p , '  ' 3 ,  ; F  

was s criminal because he hid himself because he did not wish Lo throw 
msrlf illlo tllc 11711~19 ~f t l i ~  nroh of t h a t  tnne! 

Why, the first i i lsti~ict of any illail who is i n  danger is  t o  flee for 
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his life, to protect himseIf, to  care for his family, t o  look out for hi3 
friends, and, above all, to look out for his own life. L d  us see about 
that*, gentlemen. I don't know whether Jack Simpkins is innocent Gr 

guilty. 1s there any way I can tell? I ask this jury is there any way 
I can tell whether Jack Simpkina is innocent or guilty. I have not aeea 
him. E e  ran away. He was in Caldwell about that  time; he was in the 
presence snd the company of this infamous man; he was his friend; he 
had been with him in Wallace for a month just before Orchard left; he 
had been with him up in northern Idaho on a ranch a short time before; 
he came to  Caldwell and Orchard wrote the name of Siinmons down in 
the register for Jack Simpkins, and he stayed there for a few dam with 
Orchard. More than that,gentlemen of the jury,he had been in the bull- 
pen in 1699 in the Coeur d'Alenes. He had been there a t  that time when 
all sorts of indignities were heaped upon laboring nlen because they loved 
the union and because they stood by their principles. He had been made 
to stand up by a post while a darky soldier held a bayonet in front of his 
breast, and to stand up for six hours in the blazing sun until he dropped 
down in a dead faint, with a darky soldier in front of him and prodding 
the bayonet into his breast when it was necessary. He had been confined 
in Governor Steunenberg's bull-pen to be eaten by lice and vermin of all 
sorts. He lived in the filth and the dirt and the mire for five long months, 
and he dug a tunnel t o  get out and had been caught in the attempt 
He suffered every indignitv that a workingman could suffer a t  the hantle 
of the mob, and no doubt that burned in his heart-it will burn forever 
and is there today. Jack Simplcins had some reason to harbor hatred 
and bitterness against Governor Steunenherg. Harry Orchard had some 
reason, good or bad, to have his feelings of hatred against Governor &tell- 
nenherp. m7ere these two men thkre together in Wallace for a month 
plotting Steunenberg's death? I don't know. There is nothing upon which 
I can guess whether Jack Simpkins had anvthing to do with that  affair or 
not. I do know this, that  if he came to Caldwell for that purpose he wenl 
away without doing it. He a t  least never raised his hand against him. For 
my part  I prefer to believe that Jaclr Simpkins came to this section for 
the purposes for which we claim, that he got off there with Harry Orchard, 
that he went to Silver Citv. that he went to  Hailev, that  he went to 
Denver, and lie never had such a purpose. Mr. Hawley blama 
us because we re-elected him to the board. Well, now, gentlemen, I 
don't know but i t  might have been better to leave his name off. This 
is nn awful cowardly world. It might have been better for the 40.000 
members of the Western Federation of Miners to turn their back on Jack 
Simpkins because he is accused, and we might stand better before this 
jury. Rut I presume if we had done that, hIr. Rawley w o ~ ~ l d  call thi 
attention of the jury to i t  and have told you that since this happenedd 
they dropped Jaclr Simpkins like a hot potato because they knew he was! 
gniltv. I tnlre i t  that i t  would be pretty hard for us to do anything to  pleas@ 
Mr. Hawlej-we couldn't please him unless we had hired him first, an4 
we didn't do that. It might have been better to have dropped his name; 
But that is not the Bind of men that the Western Federation of ~ iners i  
is mode up of. They will drop his name when he is proven guilty. They! 
will drop his name when he is brought to trial and convicted, but until 

4 



that time, T take it, every member will stand by him and give him their 
defense and give him their support, ctnd not judge him until he  has hia 
dnp in coult. 

Suppose Jack Simpliins was a friend of anyone on this jury. Suppose 
you believed him innocent. Suppose he was up in Spo~rane a t  the  time 
Governor Stelmenberg v a s  killed 2nd pou knew the fierce wave of psr- 
sion that snept 0---r the ~ ~ - b o l ~  Tlnit~d S t n t ~ s .  and P ~ T ) P c ~ R ~ I B  oT7er the 
State of Idaho. Suppose you had been living here in Boise and been the 
friend of Jaclc Bimplri~ls and believed him innocent. Would you have 
advised him to  come baclr? There isn't a man of you tha t  would have 
dreamed of ad\-ising him to come. You would have said to him, preserve 
your liberty while you have it. Go away until the passions of men have 
cooled, until you can come back home and appeal to  an unprejudiced 
jury, a jury thnt will listen without passion to  your case and who will 
try you upon the lam and the evidence unswaped and unmoved by public 
clamor and public feeing. That is what you ~ ~ o u l d  hare  done. Wouldn't: 
you have done that  for your brother? Wouldn't you have done it for 
your neighbor? \\70uldn't you hn7.e done it for your friend? I ask yon, 
gentlemen, 1~711o bnre lived here in the neighborhood of Boise for eighteen 
mol:tl7s, ~ r e n ' t  f 1-c-i. -14-3.1 :ilt- Q-fc?- tor177 th7n tbev wei-e ci~hta-en 
months ago l \\:ill not Jncl; Sinl plci~ls get 3 fairer t-I lnl bdure  :L Iury 
of Ada count- + + r l q ~ -  tl,-.- 1:- ~ \ - ~ - i l r ?  3 - t ~ o l ;  ~ f t ~ r  Ftc?in>mh~rg nqr, k i l l ~ d ?  
Men's passions cool. They losc their person,zl feeling, and then 
they look g t  a mottpr calmly ~ n d  di~nnssionately and say, After all, 
is this wan innocent or  guilty? There is not one of you, gen- 
tlemen, \vho does not I<IIO\-J pe~fectly me11 thnt these men can naturally 
have a fairer tr ial  today than they could bnve had tvelve months ago 
or eighteen months aco, and are qetting a fairer trial today than any 
court or any jury could possibly have given them in those days of pas- 
sion and of ~ ~ ~ I l i t e  heat. When anotl~er year has  passed zvay or another 
eighteen months have gone ancl the judpl~ent  and renson of man can again 
assert themselves once more, then every man ~vl io  has not been hanged 
can p e t  F f-ir t-iql in R o i w  Tllr men who 71-onld lir,ve tried them ~ i q h t e e n  
months ago may have intended t o  give them a fair trial, but 
they could not do it. The white fever of hate was upon them. It 
vas impossible. WouId yon ndvise Jack Simplijns to  return? I f  you 
belimed him. innocent. ~vozllcln't 7011 sny. Stnp whrre you are uiltil such 
time as the reason of Inan hzs once more gained sway and then come 
back ~ n d  face your trial  like a man? Suppose you were a member of 
tbe F ~ ~ t o ; - i l  vndrr-t;c- of ;R4:nrrq ~ 0 1 7  kn-7~  vnt1i:iiy c ~ r ~ n t  f h ~  ~vorrl 
of 0rch~1.d. Simpkins mas one of the executive board. He had suffered 
in their cause. B e  hncl bared his breast to  the bayonets of the foe. He 
had sufferer1 ever? i n d i q i t y  that  worlringmen can suffer and lle had stood 
by them in the clay.; of t h d r  darkness and their sore tribnlation. You 
helve men, if you hnd been nmning the Western Federation of  miner^, 

k would you have t ~ r r n ~ d  your h ~ c l i  on him and dropped him when he 
~ F P P ~  q ~ - - - x - ?  Wqr1-r T-1 --~i11d l > ~ i f  T Jni ' t  thir l !~ tFnt j3 thr I;ind cf qt l l f f  

p t h % i  settl~cl np the h a ~ r e ~  wastes of T ~ R ~ o  itnd rnnrle n garden out of the 
desert. Mr. I-Tawley map lmow you better than I know you, bnt I don't 

k;think there is a man on this jury who would ever have dreamed of desert- 



ing this comrade because an irlfainotis wietch like Orchard had said some- 
thing against him, however suspicious the circumstances ruight be, until 
he had been tried and convicted of a crime. 

AS TO STEVE ADAMS. 

Again, while I a111 on the question, n4r. Hawley asked, Why didn't 
you put Steve Adams on the stand? Now, I hope I ail1 not like that bird 
that, pursucd by his enemy, goes and luns h ~ s  head in tile sxiid mirl 
t ~ , l l , l . ~  p p ,  7 ,  e-.?.? "C" b:T., 1 ,?<s -7TLn  7 ? .  ,--,'4 < m e  '.:? p-7" ,-7 , ? l , i l n  

his whole body is esposecl. I know very well that  a legitimate argument 
and a stlong argument can be made because me did not put Steve Adams 
on the stand. And when I objected to  Mr. Hawley's statement I did not 
p l - i ~ ~ t .  2 s  tl'is jlrl..r 1 , T C I T ~  ! ec-7 ;c '-qd 1.0 5 ! -. i ; ; ~ ! , c  - 7  L t i v : r l ~ t  

t ha t  we did not put Steve Adams on the stand, but  I objected t o  his 
statement t l ~ a t  they liar1 b3071ght hit?] he lp  for uq T t  nT.ts n ~ +  t ~ u e  T h c ~  
have done mighty little for u s  except t r y  and kill us. They brought 
hiin here because they thought tha t  in soli~e way they migl~t  possibly use 
him, or they would bring him in her? before this jury to show this jury 
tha t  Steve Adanlq 7vas in toma, so we could call him if we wanted to. 
Nov., T do77't co:i1pln~~1 c f  +'.?t. 4l;v l i icle +r:cl< il.qC, nl o i l ~ r r  ROI a h  cq tl 
turn in this case I don't blame him for. I brought Sterling into court 
t o  show you he mas h e ~ e ,  for exactly the snlne purpose, so I could turn 
to  you and say, why didn't you put Steiling on the stand? I don't object 
to  those things. They are all fair  in war and in lawsuits. And this jury 
has the right to aslr us the question. Senator Borah has the right 10 
9"': 116 tllr q ~ n q t i ~ s a  I T P ~ ; ~  XxT1,T A'ili.i7t T,OI. l~..f stel-(. . L < ~ y q  07 thn  qt-nd 9 

Now, let  me tell you why we did not put Steve Adame on the stand. I 
don't suppose there is ally doubt in the illind of any juror here but tbnt 
Steve Aclams moulcl have testified for us i f  we had put him on the stand. 
TTIIP. SPV?~OI-  l?171-711 77 it11 1 1 ; ~  ~ l ~ i l i t y  ?11~1 hiq q r - 0 1 7 t h i i ~ g ~  nlinht h7.y 40 

twisted him tha t  we could not have recognized him by the time he got 
off the stand; but, so far as his sloiy is concerned, he would have testi- 
Fed fol- 1.3 Tf F o  7 ~ n : ~ l d  11777- tmfifiod $01- tl-e-37. of C Q ~ - T S O  ~ ~ I - T I  1vnl11.l 
have put  him on the stand. But the Senator knows he would not. And 
Rh.. Hnwley was x iwing logically xvhen he said to this p l y ,  he is your 
client, you ale defending him. We are. You could not expect us to put 
your client on the stand. No, me could not. There is no use of tlying to  
deceive anybody. We could not I could no more expect thein to put nly 
client on the stand than they could expect me to put  Sterling on tlie 
stand, not s bit. They might be glad if we put him on the stand, in 
the hopes tha t  the Senator, with his keenness and his shrewdness, could 
tangle him up I nrould have been rery glad if they had put Stelling on 
tlle q t ~ n d .  porl  T7- -Tr  cn-fidmt tlilt ;~;tEn..f R-7, cnrciql ahilitv in t l ~ l t  
direction we would have been able to fix him. We did not put Adams on 
the stand. They did not put Sterling on the stand. But there is more 
than that  to this q-ciest~on. Steve Adams, i t  is shonn by this ev~dence, i3 
under indictinent foi m u l d e ~ .  He has been tiied once ~ ~ r i t h o ~ t  a result. 
He is still ~lnrlp, j n r l i r t ~ c r t  ~ P T  l r i l l ~ ~ m  4 x 7 0  ~ ~ l * i ?  i ln  in thc Coclu d'Alenn?. 
and he is charged with crimes in Colorado. NOW, Steve is not a great man 
a t  all. You have seen him here. I-Ie is a plain, comlnon worliingmaii. 
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. You couldn't make a. lawyer out of him any more 
a miner out of Senator Borah or me. He is good 
He is fit for that. He is a good, useful man in his 

n't amount to  much. He will do to  work while we 
in his place, but he has t o  keep his place. He is a 
nysnan, and he has got t o  be tried for murder. He 
, he has got to be tried again, if Orchaxd'o health 

oily in this case would be a very serious impediment in his 
Why? There isn't one of you men who can go upon the wit- 

for  two days and tell all the details of your life and do the 
an t o  keep back some little matters which you have a lway~ 
g out from your neighbors and your friends, tell all the details 
e, and submit to  ,z cross-examination for two days, and then 
year again and tell it the same way. You couldn't do i t  to 

ife, and you know it. And any n~an  who goes upon t h e  wit- 
and submits himself to  cross-examination and knows that he 



not afraid of what he would say about Bill Haywood, but T am afraid 
to  let him turn himself inside out a t  the questioning of this cunning 
lawyer, then t o  be confronted six months or a year from this time with 
what he said in this court to be explained over and over angin. And I 
want t o  tell you tha t  no lawyer who knows his business 
w o ~ ~ l d  perlnit i t  with a mnn like Adams. Some of you, gentlemen, l i ~ l ~ ~ w  
sonlething about Inen who are charged with murcler. who have s prelimi- 
nary exainination before a justice of the peace or a probate judge. Did 
you ever hear one of them testify? However innocent they may be they 
never go upon the witness stand. A laivyer who would permit them t o  
go upon the witness stand never ought t o  be allowed t o  enter a court room 
again. Whether they are innocent or guilty makes no difference with 
the case. Now, what I say about Aclams applies equally t o  Pettibone. 

EACH IlIUST STAND FOR HIMSELF. 

Pettibone is waiting down here in his cell until the State gets througll 
mith this csse 2nd lrnds out allother victim. H e  is goinp to be tried 
for killing Governor Steunenberg. I would like t o  have Haywood ac- 
quitted. I never na r~ ted  anything so badly in my life, and 1 have wanted 
lots of things pretty badly. I ~voulcl like to have hiin acquitted. But  I 
don't clesire to  have hiin acqnitted so strongly tha t  I mould imperil the life 
of Steve Adalns or the life of Geo~g-e Pettibone to  get his neck out  of the 
noose. He has got to stand by himself and they have got to stand by 
themselves until the end. That is one of the inisfortutles under which we 
labor in this case, and i t  is one tha t  we cannot avoid, no rnatter wllat we 
do. George Pettihone, a plain, companionable, generous, sympathetic man, 
is acquaint~d mith Orchnrd-just the kind of a man into whose life and 
whose aff~ctiotl Orchard mould worn1 his way, as he wormed his way into 
George Pettihone's house. His personal conilection with Pettibone was very 
nnuch closer and more freqnent than i t  xvas with Haywood, and George 
Pettibone voulcl be on trial today instead of EIapvood except t ha t  the 
Mine O~vners' Associ,ztion mould give ten dollars t o  get Hayr;vood's scalp, 
as Brother &mley puts it,  where they m7onldn't give ten cents to get 
George Pettibone's scalp. And i t  is just possible that  even the Mine Own- 
ers' Association might feel t ha t  if they can have one feast of blood, that; 
is about all the country .tvould stilnd for in x case like this, and \vhile they 
are petting tha t  feast they liad better get Hapvood, whom they hate the 
worst of all. But if they were seeking to take the nlan who mas the most 
cIoselg connected with Orchard, who hacl met hinl the oftenest, I submit 
to  you, crentlemen, Georqe Pettibone would be on trial toclay instead of 
Raywood. But George Pettibone is not the secretary-treasurer of the West- 
ern Federation of nfine~s.  I suppose the inlelligent Mine Owners' Associa- 
tion thinlc if they can hang the treasurer they can hang the treasury, too, 
and so se t  rid of them. and pet of them forever. Now. is i t  plain 
why I did no t  put  George Pettibone on the stand? He has got t o  run the 
ga~tntlet  of a jury of his fellow men. He has got to  be tried for murder, 
for killing ex-Governor Steunenberp. And I don't propose to turn  him 
over to Senator Borah for examination and cross-examination upon every 
fact and every detail of his life and then come into this court room six 

months from now and be confronted with tha t  tes.timony t o  explain again. 



There isn't any man on earth, gentlemen, who could tell his story twi-ce 
exactly alike, and there isn't anyone on earth but what will malie mls- 
taIres, and the lnistakes you make in a case on trial are always enough, 
without being obliged to confront the mistalies that  you lnade in some 
other case. And no lawyer who had any regard for his client would ever 
think of consenting that  he should be placed upon the witness stand in 
the defense of someone else in a case like this. 

NTell, now, Senator Borah is a fairly reasonably good lawyer, as  
lawyers go. He is all right for up here. If he was down in Chicago he 
would soon be a t  the head. There .is a little story I might tell the Sen- 
ator for his own benefit. W11en I commenced practicing I a~v  I connnencecl 
in a town of about five or s i r  hundred, where I was well acquainted. 
Everybody knew me. Anybody who didn't line\-v me thought they did, 
which may be someti~nes worse and solnetinles better. I made up my 
mind to go to the city, and everybody told me no, I had better stay there 
where I was acquainted, and I run onto a banlier and he says to me, "You 
had better go to  t11~ city," he says, "the city is the best place i11 the 
world for a poor la~vyer." Now this was on me, Senator, not on yoi~. 
A man who could get along in Boise or in a small town can get along 
in the city-only a question of time. Now, the Senator knows perfectly 
well that  you cannot, except in extraordinary circu~l~~tnlices, place a 
man upon the witness staild when he is t o  be tried for murder. You 
haven't got any right to do i t ,  excepting, as I sap., under the most es- 
traordinary circumstances, and he wouldn't do it. NO lawyer 
who understands his job will think of doing it. But I know what 
he will say. He can't deny that. Here are twelve Inen of the world who 
have been in court before, wvho have been in the justice court, who have 
read nen7spapers, and you a11 knowv tha t  i t  is a very, very rare thing wvl~cn a 
lnan charxed with ~ n u ~ d e l .  will go nnon the witness stanci until the dav 
of his trial. But this is what he will say: He wilI say if yqu did not 
dare put Pettibone on the witness stand, did not dare pnt Adams on the 
witness stand, because .they arc e11n.l.gcd with murder, \vhy did you put 
Moyer on the stanct? Why did you take the chance of putting nloger upon 
the stand when Moyer was to be tried for murder? 

THE CHANCE WITH MOYER.. 

Well, now, let iue tell you. We did take a chance. It was a ll~ntter 
of very serious doubt with lilyself and with illy colleagues whether 1%-e 
hnd any right to  pnt Afoyer on the stand. It is a inatter of very serious 
doubt with me a t  this tinle ~vhetlier me had any right t o  put  hiill on the 
stand. True, he ll~acle a good witness. True, gentlemen. I don't belierc 
there is a member of this jury I Y ~ O  could look into the face of Charley 
Rloyer and hear him testify ancl ~vllo woulcf doubt but ~vllnt he is an 
honest man. I don't believe there is a man on the face of the earth who 
would look at'charley Moyer and compare him with Harry Orchard ant1 
d o  would hesitate one lnolnent to sny that  Moyer w~~as honest and that  
Orchard was the greatest scoundrel un!mng. A mml \vllo ~vould believe 
Orchard against Moyer would strike a blow against his own manhood 
and against the manhood of all men. Poll won't do it. Nobody will do 
it. This is the reasoil we put Charley Moyer on the stand-there are 



two reasons: First, there isn't a breath against him excepting the tes- 
timony of this perjured wretch. Nobody has testified against Chsrley 
Moyer. Orchard scarcely knew him excepting the time that  he went 
to Ouray with him as a guard. He never mas in his house. He had 
no connection or association with him of any sort. I don't believe even 
Mr. Ilawley is insane enough to ever think he would t ry  %toyer upon this 
evideilce. When you have got done mith this case and we get done with 
Pettibone's case, I undertalre t o  say that  Charley Moyer will walk out of 
this court rooin without any trial. I don't think there is anybody up 
here in Idaho who is so lost to  reason and so blind in his passions and 
his feelings thxt  he urould pIace a man on trial for his life whose record 
is so clean, whose purpose is so plain, and against whonl as little of 
suspicions circunlstznce existed as against Charley Moyer. I am not 
afraid of that. Ag,ain, i t  is not I-Iaywood alone who is on trial. It is 
the VvTestern Federation of AIineis tha t  is on trial. They zre here to get 
officers. TS711y take Moyer and Haywood, play tell! Why not take Davis 
and t ry  him in Coloiado? Why not take Aik i~an  and t ry  hitn in (3010- 
rado? Why not take Max &la,licl~ and t ry  him there? Why not talie 
anyolie of a, dozen men 11110 Orchald explicitly says has been guilty of 
these crimes? Why take Moyer, against whom there is no breqth except 
the breath of Orchard? You lrnow why. Moyer is here because he is the 
president. He is the president and they can't execute the Westein Fed- 
eration of Miners unless you execute the president, and the Mine Owners' 
Association want RiIoyer beeauso he is the presidtent and he is brought 
here far that  alone. Moyer W R S  not content and not willing and would 
not permit this case to go to the jury unless the president testified. Re 
was willing to take the chance of a halter, and a man always does take 
a chance when he testifies iil advance of his own cnse. He was willing to 
do tha t  for his devotion to the Western Federation of Miners. In  his 
opinion and in mi~le, and I beliere in yours, the orpanization was on trinl 
and the president took the stand to testify for that  organization, just as 
the secretary-treasurer talies the stand to testify in his own case and for 
that  organizn.tio11. 

WHY OTHERS DO NOT TESTIFY. 

Now, gentleme~i, so much for that. There are other witnesses in this 
caac. McPartland is not ullder indictment. Mae is too slick. EIe has been 
here. He is the head xnd the front of this prosecution. He is the fathsr 
confessor of the greatest criminal of modern times. He is the man who 
has brought every witnes3 into this court room. He is the man who knows 
~rllethcr Harry Orchard was promised immunity fro111 his sins. He is  
the man ~ 1 1 o  knows ~vllether lie promisecl him telnporal s~lvat ian  or 
solnebody else pronlised him e.Lernal salvation. He was not indicted. He 
has been connected mith this case from a time long before the case arose. 
Re has been connected with every feature of it.  Why didn't you bring 
him? Why does he sit around the lobbies of the hotels, come into this 
court room and weave his webs everymhere between here and Colorado? 
Why is he busy herding these witnesses and bringing them here from the 
four corners of the earth-and be did not dare to  come on the witnesa 
stand? He isn't indicted, although he ought t o  be. 
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How about K. C. Sterling? We have brought some of these things 
home to the door of K. C. Sterling. He is the most inlportant witness 
there could be in the case to  dispute those three women who gave tlle lie 
to Harry Orchard. FIe  as the man more acquainted with it-under our 
theory of this case-the explosion of the Independence d.epot-than any- 
one else. He is not under indict~nent. IIe was here. Why didn't you put 
him on the stand ? 

Then this young Neville, who came in and out of this court room 
and was watolied mith the tenderest care; he couldn't get three feet away 
from a Pinkerton detective t o  save his life; he was talcen care of as if 
he was the greatest gem on the face of the earth-Neville a t  least must not 
be lost; if he is lost tlle day is lost; and you couIdn't get a chance to  !oolr 
a t  Neville, you couldn't under any circumstances ask Neville a question 
and find out what he was going to  testify to. Why did'nt you put him on 
the stand? Nothing has been guarded so carefuly in t h i s  case as yowlg 
Neville. Neville was mith Harry Oi.chard on 11iv famous ride from Crip- 
ple Creel; to Cheyenne. Neville knew whetl-~er Harry Orchard blew up the 
Indepelldence Eepot .;r not. Neville knew whether P a t  Moran came down 
to Denver after $500 while they waited in Cheyenne or not. Neville lmew 
every fact and every circumstance conilected with tlle flight, or whatever 
it was, from Cripple Creek t o  Cheyenne. Neville lcne~v whether Bfoyer 
told you the t ruth  when he said that  the fztlier caille into the office ilcd 
aslied for $250 to make hi111 good ~~d:en Orehard told you that he came into 
the oOice and dernanded $1,250 as  blood money for keeping his mouth shut. 
Charley Veville was there. hfoyer says he was there. Why didn't yo11 
put him on the stand? You might explain that. Neville is not under in- 
dictment. He has been wa,tchert and giarded as cm-eft~lly as could be i n  
this case and the reason why you did not put him on is probably because 
if he mere put  on tliere was grent danger tha t  he ~ ~ i o u l d  corroborate us 
instead of them. 

CORROBORATION ( ? )  OF ORCHARD. 

ilgain, we have been told, and we will be told again, tha t  Harry Or- 
chard has been col.robo:.s~ted in almost everything by our QFYII wituesses. 
Well, now, think of it! It is a wonderful statement, is it not?  We are 

, ,  . told tha t  he is corrobornted by our own \vitiltt;se~ iii ci-c~ytfii::g c-xccpLi~ig 
their criminal connection with him. Now, that might be food for babes 
and imbeciles, but I don't tliink it would be food for grown men. And 
get I have read newspapers wfiose co~respondeats did not know any better 

\now than to dish up such rot to the American people, or if they did 1. 
better they mere willing to sell their consciences with their pens. Let 
us loolc a t  it. If Harry Orchard was a t  Pettibone's house, or if Harry 
Orchaxd was a t  the headquarters, or if Harry Orchard was at Crippie 

- Creel< when Moyer was there, or if Harry Orchard was at  Ouray when 
Moyer was there, Rloyer said yes, Haymood said yes, he was there. But 
when. he says that  mhile he was a t  Cripple Creek, while he was attending 
that tr ial  and Moyer was present, that Xlfoyer gave him a hundred dollars 
for his cl.iminal act, Moyer says no. And these people, who either have 
no bi-ains or no conscience, would tell you tha t  because Moyer admitted 
he was at Cripple Creelr he corroborated this infamous monster, when 
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he denied every single particle of criminal connection. He is corrobo- 
rated again when P a t  Moran admitted t h a t  he was at Cheyenne. Oh, won- 
derful thing-looli a t  t h e  attorneys for the defense corroborating Har ry  
Orchard! Here comes P a t  Noran  who says he was at Cheyenne. Yes, 
b u t  he says, "I did not get  $500; I did not go. t o  Pettibone's store; Ididnot 
conle back and hand hiui $500," and there is no connection, but he is  cor- 
roborated as being in Cheyenne. Now, then, I have no doubt but what 
nine-tenths of all t h a t  this monster said is  true-nine-tenths of it. H e  has  
told the story of his life, ,given his co~inection with o t l ~ e r  men, but  his 
life, o r  t h a t  portion of 111s story where he says t h a t  these defendants 
had any criminal colmection with him is not true. Isn't it plain enough? 
I t r u s t  i t  is plain enough for this jury, but  there a r e  people who thinli 
the  American people a re  such infernal fools t h a t  they can feed then1 this 
slop. 

Orchard is corroborated again; he is corrobornted when he says he 
was in the  Coear d'Alenes; and Paulson corroborates hila and Dave Coates 
corroborates him. Mr. 1-Iawlt.y says he  is  corroborated al l  around. Yes, 
he is corroborated. I-Ie \vent t o  the Coeur d7Alenes, and he  went t o  Dave 
Coates and aslied him sometIling  bout stealing Paulson's child, and when 
Dave Coates coiues in  here and tells you t h a t  Orchard made the propo- 
sition to him and he spurnecl it and clrore him froill his office, they say  
t h a t  Dave Coates corroborates Orchard because Dave Coates says lie 
was there. Well, all  right, gentlemen. We have got to t r u s t  the jury 
for something, and if t h e  jury does not  understand a mat te r  a s  plain and 
simple and as easy a s  this, then it will be all day  with us anyhow, and we 
niight just a s  well be worrying about some other matter.  Spialcing of 
Dave Coates ancl this sco~uldrel-now let  nie call your attentioa, gentle- 
men, as  llonest men, t o  t h a t  matter.  

COATES' TESTIMONY. 

Who a r e  you going to believe? Are you going to believe Orchard 
against Coates. ?Vill you tell rile why you a r e  going t o  believe Orchard 
against h i m ?  Herc is Dave Coates, who, so fa r  a s  the  evidence i n  th i s  
case is  concerned, never did a dishonest act  i n  his life. H e  never stole 
anything, he never Billed anyhocly, he never lied, as  far as  the evidence in  
this case is concernecl. Tlle onIy thing against him t h a t  we have been able 
to  find out is t h a t  be was oilce elected t o  a high and important oEce. 
The Senator won't holcl tha t  against him, I lniio~~r. But aside from that,  
Iiis life has heen pure. I-Fe hns been a printer, a newspaper man, earnin% 
Iris living, supporting his family and with a n  uilblerllished name. Ancl 
now collles Mr. Hawley and tells you t o  believe t h a t  Vrcliard tells the  
t ru th  against Dave Coates; t h a t  Dave Coates fornled a plan t o  steal his 
neighbor's child, and t h a t  you a r e  to  believe this  ~nonster  against a man 
~vhose character is unblen~ished and who has not  t h e  slightest intereat 
in  this case. Now, gentlemen, if you do n. thing like t h a t  you can iiuagiac 
what sort of a game we a re  up against i n  this case, call't ;YOU? Can any 
of you form ally excuse in your o\vn nliild for believing H a r r y  Orchard 
against Dave Coates ? And uilless you do this inan has been a n  infamous 
liar since his conversion. H e  has given perjured testinlony upon this 
witness stand for the sake of tying a halter around Moyer's, Haywood'a 1 

I 



and Pettibone's necks. I vr'ould like to know what excuse you could make 
to your coiisciellce and to your God for believing Harry  Orchard against 
Dave Coates, eny more than you could for believi~lg Harry Orchard against 
Miss IZjng, Mrs. Iiiiig and Mrs. Pitzhr~gEl, or any more than yon could 
for believing Hariy Orchard against Raymer, Mr. Gill, Mrs. Gill and 
against the world. 

The senator limy say, as Hamley snicl, tha t  it is not a 111atte1- of 
very great importance whether I-Iarry Orchard visited Sterling in Sterling's 
room or not. FlJhzt of it, be iuny say. I f  there was nothing else of it, 
there was this of it-Harry Orchard swore he mas never i n  those rooms 
ill his  life, he did not lcnow where they were, and be tias never there; and 
he perjured himself on this wit~less stand for the sake of convicting these 
men, and you can't argue, geutlemen, tha t  he has got a right to perjure 
himself on iinnlaterial matters, but that  he tells t he  t ~ u t h  on other mat- 
ters. Are you going to  leave it to Harry  Orchard to say tvliat is material 
and what i s  imruatel.iuI? I f  you admil; t ha t  he has cp~ne into this court 
and connnitted perjury-and we hnve nearly forty witliesses ~ 1 1 0  coa- 
tradict him, nlnily of the111 tha t  no sane nlan could disbelieve for a single 
moment-what becomes of his story, even i f  his record was good, if i t  
was not covered with infamy and slime? Now, gentlemen, I want to go 
to the next act with which they tried to connect Moyer, Haywood and 
Pe t t ibone the  blowing up of the Indepenclence depot. 

THE INDEPENDENCE DEPOT. 

Let us see about it. I s!~all attempt to  show tha t  even the Western 
Federation of Xfiners had notlring to do with it, let alone Moyer, Hay- 
woocl and Pettibone; tliat i t  was a schelile and a plan to agitate the 
people, t o  get them t o  t h a t  white heat which would impel them to drive 
the Western Federation of &liners fro111 Cripple Creek. Now, I don't 
believe tha t  the Mine O~vners' Association and the Pinkertons ever intendcd 
to kill fourteen men a t  the I~ldependellce depot. The reason I don't be- 
lieve it is tbnt it is bald for Ine to  believe such things of men. I clo 
believe tha t  they intended to do as they did in tlie train-wrecking case, 
to put up a job to  lay i t  to the Wester11 Federation of Miners, tha t  these 
worshipers of law ixnii orcler illight take the law in their own handu, 
might defy courts, il~igllt t~11-11 nut oifici~~ls, and with the strong ai-in of 
force I~ i l l  and inaiii~ and beat and drive out forever from tlie Cripple 
Creel; district every 111a:i tha t  belonged t o  the Western Federation of 
Miners and ererp nlaii, wolllan and child who dared to sympathize wit11 
them in their plight. What is the Independence story? Let us tnke 
Orchard's story. He swears tha t  he started to  Cheyenne; tha t  he was 
with the old inail Neville and CEiarley Neville; t ha t  the three of them 
melit together in x. wagon on Sunday afternoon and they got down sight 
or ten miles beyond Inclependence, and they cn.mped for the night, and 
then he got up in the night, and got on his horse and rode back to within 
a mile of this place and tied his horse in the underbrush, and he met 
Steve Adams, and he put a box of po~~lcler or t ~ v o  boxes of p o ~ v d e ~  under 
the depot; t ha t  they fastened a mire to  i t ;  t ha t  they went down and 
pulled the  wire by the aid of s ellair round fastened to t h e  other end; 
tha t  the depot was blown up, and he went away in the night and off on 



this journey. And he swears that  after he got up to  Denver, Moger, Hay- 
wood and Pettibone gave him their blessing, put their seal of approvi~l 
on it. gave him the $300 tha t  he asked for, but, not content 
~ 1 1 h  that, gave hiin $500 more a few days later. Now, let 
us see who is Harry Orchard. We find that in the three 
months preceding the blowing up of the Independence depot he had been 
seen a t  least eighteen or twenty times, entering, by night and by stealth, 
the rooms of one K. C. Sterling. We find him there olmoat t o  the very 
uight before the powder was placed uuder the Iudependence depot. him. 
Fitzhugh says she never saw him afterward, but she saw him almost im- 
mediatell before. I take it, gentlemen, that  there can't be an honeat man 
with an unprejudiced mind on earth who won't believe the story of these 
three women. Here mas this man who had eighteen or twenty meetings 
with K. C. Sterling, who mas managing the strike, so far as the de- 
tective associatioil was concerned, for the mine owners. In addition to  
that, we find he had held at least seven meetings with Scott, the deteetivo 
oi the Florence and Clippie Creek iailroad, who was working with Nr. 
Sterling. We put Aller on the stand and he puts them together for two 
or three hours on a Sunday night one or two weeks previous to the 
blowing up of this depot. Scott, Sterling, Orchard! Sterling never dis- 
putes i t  and Scott admits that  he was there with him, although he puts 
the date farther back. We put a woman on the stand who swears that  she 
saw these people together a t  the switch house-Scott, Sterling, Orchard , 
and the switchman-on a night or two before what is claimed to  have 1 
been the derailing in this case. W e  have proven a t  least twenty or 
twenty-five times inside of three months, when this miserable, sneaking 
coward was present with the detectives of the other side. Do you suppose 
that  is all? He wasn't living out in the broad light of day. He wasn't 
going where his companions and his friends could see him. He was 
sneaking up the back stairs at night. He was meeting them in the 
office a t  tho depot where no human eye could see them. He was work- 
ing with these sleuths and giving or selling them anything he had to  1 

sell-selling his soul with all the rest, and if they gave him $46 for that they 
puld too much. l h i s  was the situation up to Vile night vvlierl the Inde- 
pendence depot exploded. He was ten times more their man, from all the 
evidence in this case, than he was ours-willing t o  pick up a penny from 
anybody who would give i t  to him, willing to  ~vorlr for anybody in any 
way tha t  didn't call for sweat, willing to  do any scheme that  wasn't 
honest or fair or just or where he took no chance, willing to do any 
col~ardly act for pay for the first man who came along. That was the con- 
dition up to  the time he blew up the depot. Now, let us assume that  
Orchard did it. VVho did he do i t  for? If we cannot show, gentlemen, 
beyond a reasonable doubt who he did i t  for, then I wilI just give i t  up 
right here. You linoxv his connectioll with Sterling. There can't be any 
doubt about that. I thouqht Rawley mould believe it,  but it seems he 
did not. Everybody does but Hawley. On the night this depot exploded 
Olchnid met Steve -4clalns alone long after dalk and they put this po:vder 
under the station and blew i t  up a t  two o'clock in the morning, and then 
Ada~ns went back t o  his home, according t o  Orchard, and he ran away 
and down the road and out of the country, and has never been t11ei.e aince. 

. 



Now, it is fair to presume that  only a day or two before this time he had 
held conferences with Sterling. Whether on this matter the  evi- 
dence does not show. You will have to  use your best judgment upon thia 
matter. He had held conferences and they could not have been upon any- 
tiliug cacepti1:g this strilie and excepting to betray the lneu oi t!ie union 
to  which he belonged and the people tvith whom Ile pretencled to asao- 
ciate. And this station was blown up. 

The next nlorniiig the crowd gathered around it. Tliey are moved by 
all sorts of einotions. They swear dire vengeance against every member 
of the  Federation, the feelings of the beast are unchained, the tiger in 
the Inall is uncaged, and a vmvc of wrath sweeps over the Cripple Creek 
district such as  ha^ seldom swept over any district in the history of the 
;rorld. The crowd gathers around this depot and Mr. Hawley sags they 
we11t up to the wire and they tramped over the ~vhole spot, but the evi- 
dence shows that, a rope was fastened around where this wire and thia 
chaii. i . o ~ i ~ d  i reye iiiaced, znci they jvt-re guai.dec1 curelilily a31 da,y, nobody 
being allowed to approach. They bring the bloodhbuads there toward 
evening. Twice the bloodhounds go directly from the chair round to A1 
Bemore's door. Now, I do not know whether A1 Bemors had anything to 
do with the Mine Owners' Association or not, and I do not like t c  accuao 
a man whom I do not know and never have seen. He may be a poor man, 
a workingman. I do not like to  accuse him of that. But the fact that 
the hounds had bcen sent from that  spot and went twice to that door, 
and the fact that  this man was a deputy sheriff and was working for the 
mine owners, is a strong suspicious circunlstance in this case. It is 
enough to raise a 1.easonable doubt, i t  seems to me, in  the nlind of any 
honest, unprejudiced sisn, that solliebody else besides these men had to  
dc with i t ;  and i f  these dogs traced somebody to A1 Bemore's door, then 
i t  must be that  Harry Orchard's story is not true. But they put  other 
dogs on the track, slid the otlier dogs took the scent of tbe chair round, 
and they followed straight down the load a mile, straight down the road 
which Harry Orchard said he took toward Colorado Springs, straight down 
the road ~vllere his 1101.se WSLB hitched in the bushes. They followed it 
down a mile to the pumping station. There the man in charge of the 
dogs telephoned t o  the Mine Owners' Association, m d  got Sterling on 
lile ii!epi~oi:e, cntl tells !lil:; thcy base got a fresh t r a ~ l ,  t o  send lliill 
solile money and n team so that  they may follow .the dogs, and Sterling 
answers back, "No, they are on the wrong scent; we lmow who did it." 
And they call off the dogs and bring them baclr, and the next day I ra  
Blizard sees Sterling and says, "Why did you call me off? The dogs were 
on the scent, mere going the right way; why did you call me off ?" And 
Sterling sa,ys, "1 did i t  because we know who did that. It wag Steve 
Adnma." 

STERLING AT THE BOTTOM OF THE CRI&lE. 

Now, gentlemen, Orchard says he and Steve Adams did it.  Will you 
tell me how Sterling lnlew i t ?  Can you answer that  in the light of this 
evidence? There mere only two l~ulnan beings who knew it-one was 
Orchard and the other was Steve ,Adams. Steve Adalua went back to his 
house and about three o'cloclr in the afternoon went from the house to 



Denver, fleeing for his life and his liberty, fleeing like every union man 
in  the district, to save hie life and his union card. He could not have got 
the story from Steve Adams, and if he had goLtell it from Steve Adaus 
it was up f,o Sterling to come and telI you, and it was up to  Sterling to corns 
before this jury of twelve men and give you solne reason, some clew as lo 
how he got that information. Wlier9 did he get i t  7 Tliere is just one place. 
He must have got it front the man who haunted his door by night and day, 
from the man who went almost directly from Sterling's room out upon 
his journey, fro111 the lnan rnho~ll he had laown and been intimate with, 
and t o  whom he and Scott had given money for three months past. He 
nlust have got it froin him. ,4nd let me call your attention to this fact. 
Orchard never could have seen Sterling after the depot was blown up. That 
is plain. After it mas blown up he rode down toward Colorado City and 
then off to Wyoming, and never came back since. If Sterling got i t  from 
Orchard, and there is ilowhere else that lie could have gotten it, he must 
have got i t  before i t  happened. I-Ie must haye got it a t  one of those mauy 
conferences when Sterling and Orcliasd were together-together planning 
ways and methods to catch the TiTiesterlz Federation in a trap, to  weave 
a rope that  should hang Haymood and Moyer and Pettibone, planning some 
scheme 01- some way that infurinted people would rise in their m a t h  and 
drive the last man over tlie inouutains alld the hills. Ke could only have 
gotten it there, and there is where he did get it. It is as  clear as the 
~looliday sun. Talk about a. xeasonable doubt! If you were trying Ster- 
ling I want to  know what a jury would say. What would they say with 
his mouth closed, as it was closed here in Idaho? What ;tyould they say 
without a word of explanation, as 110 word of explanation was offered in 
this case? They would say lie was guilty, guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 
And yet, upon the word of a ~i~iserable scoundrel, you are aslced not only 
to charge up this atrocious deecl to us, but you are to say hloyer and 
Haywood and Pettibone paid for that job. Gelltlernen, I take it that 
this jury wants to arrive a t  tlie truth. There is no great public need 
to kill my client. If there was, gentlemen, I would take i t  under your 
oaths ancl under your collscirnces and in the light of your God you moulcl not 
kill him without evidence. It is not  enough tha t  you want to  get rid of 
some nian. The eviclcnce must slio~v his guilt beyond any reasonable doubt. 
Now, I do not believe that  Sterling intended to  kill fourteen men. I do 
not know him very well, but I do not believe it. Here was a depot that  
was nut worth anything, a depot tha t  had been abandoned, the windows 
boarded up and the doors boarded up, the platform used when these 
trains came along, but still i t  mas wort11 so little that they never fixed 
i t  up afterwards, and have talien it away entirely since. If they could put 
the keg of powder under the platform a few seconds or few minutes 
ahead of the iuen coming do.cvn a i ~ d  explode it, then tvhnt? Then all the 
larvyers and all the populace and a11 the good people ~vould cry out 
against the Western Federation of Miners; then indeed they might get 
rid of these disturbers. Can there by any cloubt about tha t?  What fol- 
lon~ed? Let us see. Very few pages of history have ever been 
written more important than the history of what followed the 
explosion a t  the Independence depot. Solne day when men get the right 
angle on this case and tliey look bncli clearly and dispassionately and 
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try to  Bnow what i t  means; when men look a t  this great labor mar in 
Colorado-as important as the war of the revolution-when they look at 
this mighty contest between the powers of greed and the 40,000 devoted 
miners who were fighting for their lives and for yours, gentlemen of the 
jury, who were fighting for their liberties and for yours, gentlemen; who 
were fighting for their freedom and the freedom of every man who toils, 
and they look back upon that  scene they will read one of the most stir- 
ring and one of the most important and one of the most pregnant chap- 
ters in the history of the United States. 

AFTER THE EXPLOSION, 
After this depot was exploded the crowd began to gather. I n  the early 

morning hours they stood around the depot, they stood around the scene 
of this great crime. They had gatbered up the dead, talteil tllem 
away, and the surging mass came there uttering curses and imprecatio~la 
and dire threats upon tlie 13iestel.n Federation of PIiners, which, it was 
assun~ecl, had coiuniitted this horrible crime. Then some one got out 
11andbills that there would be a meeting a t  Victor. They were scattered 
all over the country, and n ~ e n  p the red  there from Goldfield, from Crip- 
ple Creelr-everywhere-to the meeting a t  Victor, and lawyers got up on a 
wagon and orated to the ci-owd, and somebody fired a shot. Somebody else 
fired a shot and there was a general skirmish. The mob gathered, a mob of 
respectables and of disrepntables-the lawyers, the  banlrers, the miners, 
the nlil~e 111e11. Our fi,iends gi~tliered :mtl \::ere drive11 into the u:lion l!nll; 
they were driven up the hills. Bill Easterly told us his story as well as  any- 
body. They gathered there from all  parts of the county. They assembled 
around the wagon. The mine owners were the ones who uttered the incen- 
diary Ianguage. They were the ones who called down the threats and the 
imprecations upon the Western Federation of Miners, whose blood they had 
shed a i ~ d  whose lives they had talien for ends of their own. They were the 
ones. A shot was fired. &!ell forgot they were men. They jumped for 
each other's tilroats. They jumped for their guns. Solile nieil mere killed, 
others -\yere driven off'. Easterly tells you that  he was in the cro~vd; tha t  
11e went back to his cabin to get his gull. As he went back he met Steve 
Aclams and told him what was transpiring a t  Victor and tha t  they would 
all have to leave, and Steve Adams left. And Easterly gathered with him 
some thirty-five men, and they went down in the midst of t ha t  aeething, 
boiling mob; they saw the town hall a t  Goldfield, and that  loolced t o  
tliem as if i t  might be a spot where they could defend them- 
selves, and they got there, thirty-five strong, with their 
and their allnnuiiitios, piepaled to dafend i t  wit11 ~l le i r  lives. %k 
troops rode down tIie street firing as they caine, and one by one these 
men went out the back door, until Easterly and two others stood there 
alone-alone against the woh; and then t h e y  ran  up the hill, these three 
men, together, scrambled up the mountainside with the shots of the soldiers, 
of the mine owners and of the gun men, falling thickly around them; u p  
through the quaking ash trees, into a prospect hole, and in tha t  way 
he managed to get off, and finally got to  a railroad and escaped to Deli- 
ver. And I aslied Bill Easterly whether be shot ba.clr. I-Ie said, "No." 
I said, "Why didn't you shoot back." He did not answer tha t  i t  rras because 



he was Iaw-abiding, a Christian, and did not want to kili; but he did aot 
shoot back because he thought his gun would not carry far enough. He 
only had a shotgun. This was Bill Easterly. 

TI333 ACT O F  EASTERLY. 

Gleatlen~en, our men have been called traitors and murderers and per- 
jurers and assassins. We have brought them here and Mr. Hawley, in 
referring t a  them with a sneer and a jeer, says they are bad, bad through 
and through, and that you could not believe them. Let me call your at-  
tention to Bill Easterly. Do you think he is bad? 1 do ilot 1in01v but 
Bill Easterly might stand up in open conflict and fight for his life. I 
rather think he mould. I rather think he would fight a regiment of sol- 
diers in a fair contest and die fighting. I believe he would go out, as he 
went out to that mob, with his gun in his hand, and meet the largest body 
that could be brought against him in fair conflict. Let me tell you this, gen- 
tlemen, a man who would do this is not o man who would go and put a bag 
of dynamite on your front door and then run away in the night. He is not a 
cowardly snealr who would shoot you down while you were staggering drunk 
with no chance to defend yourself. Orchard was not there. From the time 
his mother gave him b i ~ t h  until the last look you have seen of Orchard 
on the witness stand, I will defy you to show one act that was not t h e  
act of the colvard and the sneak, one act froin the beginning to the end 
of his whole career where he would not sacrifice anybody, even down to 
his little girl, to save his life. 

TBE ORDER OF THE DISORDERLY. 
I do not care to go into all that followed if 1 could. Talk about law and 

order! Talk about respect for law! Will you tell me where in the 
civilized world law and order were trampled in the mire, were destroyed 
and defied as they mere in the Cripple Creek district by the Mine Ownera' 
Association? Where they took a boy who had delivered an oration 
a t  college and received a medal from his professors-a proud young man 
-and he goes back to hi? home where he sliould be met e i th  applaus~ and 
approbation, and they thiow him into the bull-aen because he has talked 
too much at school; because he has delivered an oration. And then 
they talk of law and order! And you remember this contemptible, this most 
contemptib1e county oflicial that rotten politics ever spawned out upon any 
Anlericaiz conlm~~nity, Sheriff Rutnn, wl~orn they brought there-this nlan 
who is a reproach to  the coui~ty in which he lived-tall< about our elect- 
ing Simpkins, & brave nlan accused of crime! Will you tell me what you 
think of a community that would elect a apineless nothing like Rutan, tvho 
stood, while he was sheriff, and saw men beaten and abused and killed and 
never raised his paltry, corrupt hand except to get more gold? And 
Snckett! Talk of lam and tall: of order! Saclcett eomes here, called by 
t h ~ m ,  not by us. Xe is from Telluride, and he took a hand in all of this 
work and murder and crime and killing, and he says it was the law of self- 
defense. "We col~lil not trust the court$, we could not trust honest old Judqe 
Stevens." They eou1d not trust the courts and so they took the law into 
their own hands, and still they talk of law and order! Listen to  these 
men who have stolen everything of value on the face of the earth, who 



have taken the mines and the land and all the implements of trade and 
stolen the American flag and appropriated it to their o m  use, a flag 
of righteousness when they wave it and a flag of dishonor when we hold it! 

AGAIN ON ORCHARD'S TRAIL. 

Gentlemen, Harry Orchard left. He came to Denver. Neville and 
Neville's son came with him. Har ly  Orchard says he got $300. Nobody 
corroborates him. Moyer and Haywood explicitly deny it. I want to 
know if you have any license to believe him against Moyer and Haywood? 
Charley Neville was there. He does not swear t o  it. Re does not smear t o  

, a single fact tha t  could in any way corroborate it. He comes and lle 
goes away without uttering a single word to in any way support the 
claim of his traveling companion. Orchard goes from Denver to Chey- 
enne, and what does he do? Nom, let us loolr a t  that. He says I V ~ ~ P I I  

he got to  Denver he told the boys he wanted $300 and they gave i t  to  him. 
And he was paid for his work of crime $300! Three hundred dollars for 
foulteen men! And then he qoes away to  Cheyenne, and when he got to 
Cheyenne he went to P a t  Moran's saloon and he gave Moran a ten- 
dollar bill and asked him to  go down to Dcn~rer and get $500 mole. Thrre 
was not any nlcney coming to him. He had been paid all they ngeed t o  
give him. There was no reason why he should expect $500 more. But 
he says he gave P a t  &{oran $10 and told him to go down and get $500 
more. Now let us see whether he did i t  or not. 

P a t  Moian comes here and says it is a lie; i t  is  one of Orclinrd's 
dreams. He must have had $300 before. and a hundred or two more, a 
hundred tha t  he got from Neville. and he had all of Neville's resources 
to draw on besides, when he drove away, and you need not tell me tha t  
Harry Orchard would lie down by the side of a man wllo had s thou- 
sand dollars and .qolnethinq ~vould not happen to the tho~z~and  in the 
night. He is not tha t  lrlnd of a fellow. He celtainlp x1rn3 not be for^ hc 
got religion, whatever he  may be since. If he had any such alnount of 
money, where is i t ?  He says lie gambled and lost it. H a ~ e  they bronglit 
anybody here to show it7 Has anybody identified Harry Orcliard? IIe 
must have lost some five or eight hundred doilars in a single night. Did 
anybody he inet on his tr ip come here and give you one sinde word of 
corroboration to tha t  story? It rests upon Harry Orchard alo~~e-where 
all the sins and all the burden and all the iniquities and all the testi- 
mony in tltis case nnist rest-upon tbe sboulders of Harry Orcl~~rcl .  It 
is rather strange that if this cherub should lose $800 in a night there 
would not be somebody somewhere whom McPartland could get next to, 
who~ll this \vonderful detective coulil find, tha t  could identify ZI marl 
t ha t  was flus11 with his  money cad \vIxo spent some seven or eight hun- 
dred d o l l ~ r s  in a night nt  a gaming table. 

PAT MORAN'S EVIDENCE. 

Again, P a t  Mornn swears i t  is a lie. I would like to h o w .  eentlc- 
men, what license any of yox~ have to  disbelieve Pat Molan for the sake 
of Harry Orchard? Is thele nny rencon for i t  9 Can 7011 efcuse your 
conscience for saying tha t  he is n liar and Harry Orcl~nrd a. truthful man7 
Oh, but, they say, a fellow in the business of dxing gasoline stoves saps 



tha t  he saw Pa t  Moran on the 16th or 17th of July, 1904, in Denver. 
Well, now, what do you thinlc about tha t  yarn, gentlemen? What do you 
think about tha t  yarn? In  the first place, this man's face and his ap- 
pearance were such as I think would condemn him with any honest man. 
His face loolied better than Dewey's-allbody's face looks better than 
Dewey's. I wouldnot exactly say this man's face looks better, but I would 
say Dewey's looka worse; that  wouldbemorecorrect. But he did not  have 
th s t  appearance of chaiacter and integrity which I tslie it would stamp 
itself upon the mind of an unprejudiced man. Next, do you think this 
fellow ren~embels tha t  ou the 16th or 17th day of June, 1004, more than 
thlee years ago, on s certain date when he was out fixing a gasoliile 
stove, he got on a street car in Denver and saw P a t  &loran? I think 
i t  is  a lie out of whole cloth, mallnfactured by the chief perjury manu- 
facturer in  this casc, Mr. Jarnes McPaltland, and manufactured in his 
perjury office down in DP-ver. He swears that  he saw Pa t  Moran once 
before, and that  he saw Pat Morsln once after. To save his life he could not 
tell tlie 111011th in wliicll he saw hi111 aild he coulcl not tell the yeai. And 
yet he sveass that  this man got on a stieet car-this man-and it WAY 
on the 16th 01. 17th day of June, and he knows i t  because he had been 
fixing a gasoline stove. And I will venture the opinion tha t  if this man 
ever did any honest work i t  was nothing but fixing gasoline stoves, and 
he probably fised them every day of his life. How did he pick out the 
16th or 17th day of June?  I will tell you how he picked it out-per- 
fectly simple how he picked i t  out. Orchard left Cripple Creelr on the 
Gth; it took him about three days to  get to Denver, according to his 
story: he spent about three days there; i t  took him about four more 
days to  get to Cheyenne. McPartland knew it ,  and he iigured up sixtepn 
or seventeen d a y ,  and then told this fellow to swear i t  was on the IGtli 
or 17th day of June, and t k r e  you have it--% piece of testimony which 
is as worthless, as croolied, as valueless as any figment that  ever went be- 
fore a jury. 

Let me tell you what else there is about t ha t  matter. Orchard, Ne- 
ville and CharIey Neville went to Cheyenne. They went to Pat IKoran's 
saloon rind P a t  illoran's eating-house. Orchard waq advertised and yur- 
sued. Pat Moran says they sort of hid themselves. They did not go around 
town much. They stayed in his saloon. They stayed back there where 
they would not be seen. If Pat Moran went away he must have been away 
a t  least one whole day. Ire mnst h a ~ e  left Cheyenne in the morning and 
got back not earlier than eight or nine o'clock a t  night, and they were 
tlwre only two or three days a t  the outside-probably not more than two. 
Will you tell me that  Pa t  Moran could have gone down to  Denver and 
been absent the ~vhole day whilo these three men wpre hiding in th:lt 
saloon and tha t  Gharley would not have known tha t  he had gone away? 
Was tha t  one of the reasons tha t  they had Charley Neville here? 
Did t l ~ ~ y  hilve lijm h e ~ e  to  prove that  Pot hIornn was n liar and thnt 
P a t  Moran went t o  Denver, or a t  Ieast mas absent for a day f I f  they 
did, they sent h im home without doing i t .  P a t  l loran swears he was not 
in Denver for s i ~  months. ITTould i t  not be likely ths t  somponp in Chr::- 
enne mould h-,r-e linnrvn of hi7 going? Would i t  not be likely tha t  aome- 
body in Denver would nee E m ?  Would it not be Iikely that Charley Ne- 
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ville would have known it? And yet  they had him here, and upon the  
testimony of a man who on his face and the  face of his testimony is 
shown t o  be unworthy of any credit or belief, they would ask you t o  
impeach Pat &loran. All right, gentlemen. There is  the story, you will 
have t o  settle i t  for yourselves. 

OPLCFIARD I N  HIDING. 

Now, ~ v h a t  happened after t h a t ?  Orchard swears t h a t  when he sent 
back for the money he intended to go t o  California from Cheyenne. He 
knew he was suspected. The neTvspapers were full  of it. Ere had talren 
another name. He mas in hicling. H e  linew of the  blowing up of the s ta-  
tion, whether he  d ia  it or not, and he was in  hiding; like niost of the 
other Inen who were driven out of the Cripple Creek district a t  that  time, 
he took another name. H e  was looking out for himself the best he could. 
He swears be got a letter from Pettibone. and Pettibone told hiin they 
were looking for him. and lie had better' take t o  the tall timber, and then 
he turned around, and, instead of taking t o  the  ta l l  timber, a s  he intenaed 
t,o rlo ~r l l en  he snvs 11e qent, fo;. t t ~ a t  iiionpTr t o  ITnvrsond, i i ~ s t ~ ? d  of goinq 
t o  California, a s  he intended from Cheyenne, when he got direct notice 
t h a t  they were looliiing for him and he ought t o  t ake  t o  the  ta l l  timber, 
lie t.il~.i?~: nrni11:d aiiil Coil:pT l i?r ' I :  tn D P I J V ~ ~  Dn van 1)elipvp i t ?  A l l  riqlit, 
believe i t  if you want  to. m7l1o sees him in Denver? Who sees this Inan 
Orchard? Another witness, whose appearance upon the stand and whose 
testimony in this case was such a s  t o  make him doubted by every intelli- 
gent man-a shifting, uncertain, inconsequential forl~ier lteeper of a rooin- 
inq house. ZTe !]as not ~ o t  a honlc. he ha8 nnt <rot, n dntr. he hns not qot n 
scrap of paper, he has not pot anything except a shifting relnelnbrance and 
a shifting trade and a shiftinz cllaracter, and he is the  only human being 
w5o ever saw Orchard in  Denver, the  only one in  a great city full of people. 
FJe 11nd rooi-r?crs in his ho:ise-he. menilt rnmors inst~ncl of roomers-his 
11nnqe -wns fill1 of them. T-Tr roulcl not f ~ l l  t!:r n?m- of one excentinn the 
woman he afterwards married. He could not tell  the  name of another 
l i~unan being xvlio was there a t  the time. H e  kno~vs nothing about i t  ex- 
rept 1v11nt he pot fro!n l\TcPxrtlnnd, and i t  is sti~aiipe t11a.t in all Denver- 
they could not  get  a better looliing man and a better appearing man, and 
a ninn of solile sort of hus in~ss  standing or character, who could hnvc 
F P P ~  Har ry  O f r h ~ ~ c l  on the stlyet. Tlint is the only lunn they h a ~ e  got. 
Ynw. 1 monrlrr if you he l iev~  i t !  Conlcl he go h~cl; to  Denver nnd stnv 
there a month-a lnonth mixing with people-sitting a t  the  gaming table, 
going t o  the  saloons, going up  t o  the  cheap theatres-could he go there 
and be Hn!.rv C)rchard, 2nd nrborly but  t,liis fellow ser him, and this fel- 
low with not a scratch of a pen on the face of the earth t o  show 
the tinie. Impossible! 

DR. IlcGEE'S TESTIMONY. 
What  is t l ~ e l e  to  dispute t h a t ?  Dr. McGee collies here from the 

Coeur d'A1enes. This 111an was  a l ~ i ~ n v s  t i~ rn inq  for the Coeur d'Alene3, the 
place where hr  pretty nearly pot rich. He turned t o  the Coenr d'dlenes 
in 1504. H e  filst went t o  the Coeur d'Alenes in  1892. stayed there lonqcr 
than anyvhere else in his life, and turiled back t o  them again i n  1904, 



and ha turns back again in the fall of 2906-always turning his face to  
the Coeur d'Alenes. We traced him t o  Cody, Wyo. I take it he could get 
from there very comfortably to the Northern Pacific railway. The last we see 
of him he is there. The next we see of him Is at the hospital of Dr. McGee 
in Wallace. Ida. I s  Dr. McGee a l ia r?  He has been an  officer of Shosho~ie 
county, he has been the coroner, he is a physician, he o ~ m s  a hospital, he 
is not a miner, he doesn't have to  work; he can do better-a man of posi- 
tion and infiuencn i i ~ d  s t~ l~cl ing .  I c ~ : : d ~ r  if  11e is n, perjurer, too? 
H e  swears Orchard came there and told him he w u  working 
as  a spotter and wanted to  1ino1~ whether there was any easy money. 
That sounds something like Harry, doesn't it? I never knew him to  go 
after any hard money. Easy money was his long suit. He came there in 
July or in August, a t  the Coeur dlAlenes; and, mark you, gentlemen, in 
August he was down to Sari Francisco! I did not think there would be 
any doubt about tha t  story. Whether he went bnck to Denver or not is 
only important for one thing, and that  is to show how big a liar he is; and 
one lie morc or less will not hurt  him. If you ~ ~ o u l d  not disbelieve him 
without t h a t  you would not  with it. 

What does he say? H e  got this letter telling him t o  go t o  the tall 
timber. I-Ie turns around and goes t o  Denver, and he goes and sees PeL- 
tibone and Haywood, and he goes out in the back pard and sits out  there 
on a Sunday afternoon, planning conspiracy and murder. Is the reason 
plain? I will tell you the reason. He started from Wyoming t o  Gali- 
fornia. He wect by the Coeur d'AIenes, his old stamping g~ound.  B e  
got to  California when this accident happened a t  Bradley's house, and 
in order to convert this accident into food for RICcPartland t o  hang these 
men with, he mould have to be sent down .to Denver to get a fresh start  
to California. Now thxt  is xll there is to  t l i ~ t .  He has deliberntelv 
gone from Wyoming t o  Denver without any reason or any excuse on earth 
except t o  make Moyer, Haywood and Pettibone responsible for a gas ex- 
plosion. 

TEIE EXPLOSION I N  SAN FRANCISCO. 
And now, let me call your attention to that. What happened there? 

He did go to San Francisco. He doubtless went by the  Coeur dYAlenes. H e  
could not miss the Coeur dJAlenes, wherever he went. He might manage 
to get his property back-or somebody else's; and so he \vent t ha t  way; 
and then he went on t o  San Francisco. It was about time for him to 
visit San Francisco again. It had been tvo  or three years since he was 
there, and the city would probably be changed-short changed, I mean. 
So he went back to do it. And he says he blev up Bradley's house. Now, 
did he? If he didn't, if he is  lying, I want to  know what credit this 
jury could give him even if he had been n George Washington. If he is 
lying about that, if he is lying about allything in this case, what c r d i t  
can you give him? And everybody knows he has lied about some things 
in this case-everybody but MI-. Hawley 1nlo.w~ that. The Senator knows 
it, and I do not thinlc he would tell you he does not. If he has Iied about 
tho Bradley explosion, then what? 

Now, let us see. Was he lying? They n ~ k  to l<~itlow how Orchard knew 
it. How did it happen tha t  this Bradley explosion occurred while Harry 
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Orchard was there? Well, how did it happen? There is sollle wonderful 
cor~wboration, gentlemen. The Bradley explosiou7, occurred while Har ry  
Orchard was there, therefore Har ry  Orchard lliust have done it. If the 
earthquake had occurred xvhile he was there, therefore B a r r y  Orchard nluxt 
have exploded tlle earthcluake. I f  anytlling happened while Har ry  Orchard 
was there, therefore Har ry  Orchard mus t  have done it-and Pettibone 
mus t  have told him to. Now, 1: will tell  you how it was. This fellow 
was there just a s  he had been tliere before. E e  was there pursuing his 
regular calling, to  get somebody's change without worlring. H e  had gotten 
acquainted with Giubbiny. H e  was alone. There were soille girls living 
over in  Bradley's Ant and he got acquainted with the girls. There might 
be sollle time when he coulil not be playiiig polier, and so he did the best 
he could t o  get acquainted ~ v i t h  them. I-Xe swears he tool; Mrs. C ~ . o ~ v e  
out  t o  the theatre, and she denies it. She says he did not. WOW, there is  
one witness in  this  case t h a t  me have called 1~11om 1 might suspect coin- 
mitted perjury-that is, i f  Orchard did take her out to  the theatre I 
should hope she would connnit perjury about it nnrl. say he did not. 
If she would not I would not  thiilli much of Alrs. Crowe. Would you? 
Gentlemen, I will not argue very strongly on 811's. Crome's testimony. She 
is married. She might have a child sonle tiine, and she \vould hate  to 
have it go down in history that the mother of this ,child once went t o  a 
theatre wit11 Har ry  Orchard. 

Well, what  did happe i l there?  Orchard was hanging around. Tliero 
was a n  explosion. The newspapers were full of it. Giubbiuy's store was 
full  of it .  Everybody in the  whole neigl~borliood knew of it. It was 
the same v a y  when something was found in the ~zlilli. The jar was stnlldi~ig 
on Giubbiny's counter and Orchard came in tliere and ts~lltecl with Giu'J- 
billy about it .  H e  heard of i t ;  he read of i t ;  it was there. 1\LcP,zrtla11d 
got hold of it. H e  tallied religion t o  him. H e  told him about St .  Pau l  
and Helly the  Bum, and how Helly the Bum's life had been saved, and St. 
Paul's soul had been saved, and so this fellow started out to  do tllc 
s tunts  of St. Pau l  and Helly the Bum both in one. H e  knew of the Brad- 
ley explosion. H e  was there a t  the time. If he could say t h a t  he was 
responsible for the  Bradley explosion and t h a t  Aloyer and Hnywood and 
Pettibone mere responsible for him. i t  would be another li11k in the evi- 
dence t h a t  lnigiit t ie  a rope around these ~nen's neclis, and so he adopted 
t h a t  just  as  he hns adopted everything evil from the clays of his child- 
hood until  tlle las t  njonient t h a t  he appeared before you on the witness 
stnnd. H c  adopted tlie Bradley explosion. No~rr, how did i t  occm.? 
Let us see. 

BRADLEY QlT T H E  EXPLOSION. 

These gas colnpanies a re  not easy marlis. Did ouc of you people ever 
get a ~ ~ y t h i l i g  out of a gas company or s stl.eet railway coiupnny or a 
steal11 railway coiiipany or any other company? Do you think tllp Sali 
Francisco Gas Conlpailg gives up  $10,000 on the theory t h a t  a lighted 
cigar caused a n  explosion w h e ~ ~  a lighted cigar could not cause a n  ex- 
plosion? All 'iyht, gentlemen, i f  you thinli so; all  right. This case was 
tried. They had experts in Sari Francisco. It went before the  jury. The 
gas company thenlselves concecled it was a gas explosion, and the expert 



they have put upon the stand here does not help their case a bit. He says 
that  when you are puffing a cigar there mill be a. flame a t  the end, that  hc 
would not ,zllo~v any smoking in any gas room where the gas was not closely 
confined and the room well ventilated, and i t  was easy enough to cause this 
explosion just as  i t  was caused. Now, what does Bradley say? Eve~ybody 
is a perjurer in this ease, everybody is n liar in this case, ancl when i t  is 
all done with the one lllalx that  mill emerge pule and wvl~ite and spotless 
from the wieck and ruin of this case mill be IIarry Orchard. The mlt- 
ncsses lied, the lawyers ~vi l l  be bl,zclienecl, the juxy mill be lalghty luclcy 
if they get off, and the only pure object that  will arise floin the ruins will 
be this spotless che~ubiin, Ea r ly  Orchard. Bradley is a liar. I-Ie is not 
a member of the Western Fedelation. I-Ie has alrvays been on the ot11,h~r 
side. Orehald expressed his hatied of him. He tvoulcl have had a niotive 
in iegard to him quite independent of lloyer, I-Iag\~rood and Pettibone. 
He was in the Coeur dlAlenes in 1899. He was the manager of the Bunlcer 
Hill and Su1li;~an mill. He had inc~uied  the enmity of Orchaid and 
otl~eis. There is no reason on earth why this man should come here nnd 
help us, is there? I presume, down cleep in hi3 heart, this inan Bradley 
would be glad, i f  in some way this jury could find an excuse for hanging 
Haymood. 

Now, what are you going to do v i th  that, gentlemen? You are not 
interested in hanging Haywood. If you mere it might be different. You 
alight say, "Away wit11 Bradley! Away with everybctlg! Let us get a t  Nay- 
wood, ancl the quicBcd the better." But you are h e ~ e  as twelve jurorzi, 
not to kill somebody for liilling ex-Governor Steunenberg, but to  ascer- 
tain wllether somebody did kill Goveinor Steunenbel~. I sub~nit, gentlemen, 
it must be perfectly plain that  i t  cannot help Steunenberg, it cannot 'help 
justice, i t  cannot help anything to  kill a nlan for the ~ilurder of Steunen- 
berg, unless that  Inan is guilty. IVhy should tve presume he is guilty? Is 
there any necessity to connsct hini with it, any reason for i t ?  You are 
aslred to disbelieve Biadley and to disbelieve everybody, and by disbe- 
lieving everything to  do the things that  are nlost revolting to your con- 
sciences and your minds that  you mag kill him. Bradley was the man 
whom Orchard sought to kill. I-Ie takes the stand and swears explicitly 
that as he came downstairs that  morning and put his hand on the door- 
knob that  he saw a i-lash a t  the end of his cigar; that  he is thorougl~ly 
familiar with the smell of clynan~ite and powder and that  there was no 
dynamite or powder there; tha t  he is  sure i t  mas a, gas explosion ai1,1 
could have been nothing else. 

Now, what else is there about this Bradley explosion? We called 
the carpenter and we called the contractor, both of whom have made affi. 
davits in this case, and the depositions weie read to  you, and what do 
they say? They went there immediately after and they exanlined the walls 
and they say the explosion was caused hy some substance between the \valls. 
And how do they kiio~v i t ?  Like tnlcing the six walls of thi? room, 
and that  wall I)ulged out, anrl this wall bulyecl out, and tha t  wall 
bulged out, and this wall bulged out. and the ceiling was raised, and the 
floor was pressed dowml. Was i t  s dynamite bomb? Is the carpenter a 
liar? Is  he in this conspiracy, this conspiracy to save Bill Haywood's 
life? How are they interested with us? What right have you twelve 
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men t o  pronounce t h a t  contractor and t h a t  carpenter perjurers t o  please 
Mr. Hatvley? What  can you say to your consciences, what can you say 
to your peace of mind? When you hear their story i t  is plain, simple, 
straight. They describe it. They tell  you it must  have been some sub- 
stance inside, and where is there a nlan who has disputed i t ?  I-Iarry 
Orchard! H a r r y  Orchard, the oiie thing pure and undefiled which the 
Idaho courts have discovex ed. 

And what else? Was there any pas there? Why, Linforth wea r s  
there was, Bradley swears thele was. half a dozen other people who 
lived i n  the  house, the doctor, tlle lawyer, all  the people - \T~IO lived 
there, everyolie of them, swear t h a t  they had s~nelled gas t l ~ e r e  for a 
week, right there in  the Ball, right there above tlie gas room, and 
this hall was just tluee feet fro111 it and directly above it. They had 
smelled it for a week. But  t h a t  is  not enough. We called the plnmber 
and he made an examination. He went down and exa~uined t h a t  
meter acd  he found tvhele there was a litt le hole nlnning into t h z t  
nleter and the  gas was leaking a steady stream out of tha t  hole, and 
yet you are aslred t o  believe this  nliserabIe story of Har ry  Orchard's. Thcy 
swear t h a t  gas was there. Bradley swears it was a gas esl~losion 
and there was no dynamite about it .  No huinall being sunelled dyllarnite. 
It had been cooped up there for weeks. and nTas there afterwards. 
The floors and the ceiling and the wall a l l  sllowecl the  explosion from t h e  
inside. They got a judgment of $10,000 against the gas company t o  pay 
for it. The gas compangr itself never disputed it ~ ~ ~ n s  a ~ x s  e~plosion, 
but  claimed i t  came from the grate; and ;yet you a re  asked to believe 
t h a t  this miserable sinner is  tellinq the t ru th  against a l l  these witnesses 
and all these plain inferences, so you can hang Bill Haywood. 

T H E  STORY OF THE POISONED RDIiIZ. 

That is  not all  of the Bradley e~~isode.  Let me tell you soale more of 
it. Is not th i s  fellow a miserable liar with all  the rest?  Is i t  not a n  
insult t o  the jury t o  have to listen to his testimony? Is it not nn insult 
t o  any man to ask him to be influenced or moved by mhnt such a man 
would say? O r c h ~ r d  tells you t h a t  he not onIy tried to  blow up Bradley, 
b ~ ~ t  he tried t o  poison him. H e  crept u p  the back stairs in the enrly 
n~orning hour-up tile back stairs-and he found three or four bottles of 
cream, and he got soine strgchnjne and put  it in the cream. He did not 
know ~vhether  it would kill Bradley; he  did not know whether it would 
krill Bradley's wife; he did not know whether it would Bill the girl w~rhom 
he said he had talren to  the theatre; he did not know whether i t  would 
kill one of the other maids in the  house; he did not ltnom whether i t  would 
kill Bradley's li t t le child. And this is  the  story and this is the Orchard 
t h a t  Hawley fixes np with a brand new halo and a brand new hpxrt t o  
send him to his God to sing hallelujahs forever. All right, he and Hawley 
and McPartland can go. I  ill take my chance9 going the other way. 

I s  this story t r u e ?  Let  us  see. Tlris is  a lie out of whole cloth, and 
Har ry  has got in it so fair and square t h a t  even H a w l e ~  cannot figure a 
way out. Let  me show you. He was asked how he got up there. Hp went 
up the  back stairs. Did you wait  and see the  n~i lkman leave t h e  milk 
and then go up?  No, t h a t  would not do, because t h a t  would be a t  a time 
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in the morning when i t  might seem reasonable to a jury tha t  someone 
would see him, or t ha t  he mould not have time, or the milk would be 
taken in first, and i t  would not loolc reasonable. No, I went up there 
first and I stayed on the flat ioof until the millcman had gone, a i d  then 
I got do~vn and put the stuff in the millr. Now, first, gentlemen, this 
was the first time in all Harry Orchard's life tha t  he had ever used 
strychnine. I f  he ever uses it again I hope he will use it on himself, 
but he will not. That Bind of fellow never does. It is  the first time he 
had ever thought of such a thing. It is  unreasonable on the face of it. 
millere he got the story is perfectly plain. The evidence shows that  sorne- 
thing was tvrong wit11 the millc one morning and they toolc a bottle of 
lnillr and sent i t  to the chemist, and they tool< another bottle and sent 
i t  to Giubbiny's store, and i t  stood on the counter, and Giubbiny says that  
he and Harry Orcll,zrd talked about it, and tallced it over, and tha t  is  
wl~ere he got the story. 

WASTING THE PEOPLE'S MONEY. 
I thinli I might go bacl; for a moment to  a subject tha t  I left without 

completing. Vmiere did he get the story of the explosion? Let us see. 
This spotless one-he could get i t  out of the ne.rvspnpers, but  he did not 
get i t  entirely out of the newspapers. Harry Orchard swears tha t  he placed 
tha t  bomb, that  he then went to the street car, that  lie got on the car 
and tha t  l ~ e  wenL away and did not come back for a week. Giubbiny swears 
tha t  he \vent over there half an hour after the explosion and tha t  Harry 
Orchard was there. He was there half an hour after the explosion. I s  
Giubbiily telling the truth or is Orchard telling the t ru th?  We did not 
bring Giubbiny. They brought him. They brouglit him t~vice. They liked 
him so well the first time that  they brought hiill back again and brought 
his wife and his child with him. Is he telling the t ru th  when he says 
he went back there half an hour after and Harry Orchard was there? 
Gentlemen, if he blew up this flat he was not there, was he? Do you thinli 
he tvould stay there if he did i t ?  I think not. He swears he went 
away. That  is  what he mould have done i f  he had blown it up. But  
Giubbiny swears he  as there in half an honr. If Giubbiily i s  telling 
the truth, then Orchald is a liar, and be never did it. 

There is  another piece of evidence tha t  makes it more co~~clusive 
still, and tha t  is t ha t  man who lived in the flat and went to Giubbiny's 
t o  take his illoriling drink. Mr. Ha~vley says tha t  man has been contra- 
dicted, and he has brought Giubbiny clear back here, and he has brought 
his wife clear back here, to say tha t  a t  the time Giubbiny had not gotten 
up and dressed ancl he could not have given this man his moriling drin!c. 
Well, well! Now, do you thillk that  was worth $600 of Idaho's money? I 
have seen a bit of easy money in my time, but I have never seen anything so 
easy as Idaho's lnoncy floating around here at this trial. If Harry 
Orchard was only out now he could be satisfied with easy money to  his 
heart's content. Any old fake or any old scheme is enough to get a de- 
ficiency warrant 011-a deficiency warrant from the State of Idaho, to be 
paid after we have gotten through. And when they cannot find enough fool 
witnesses to bring here and testify t o  nse up your money, they bring 
thirty or forty more and send them back t o  Colorado without putting 



1 them on the  sLand a t  all. Sure i L  is easy inoney. But  I do not Binl; il 
was worth even $600 of the  money of the Idaho taxpayers t o  bring Giub- 
biny back the second time. 

THE MILli  STORY. 

What  did he swear t o ?  Ele swore he hadn't got up, t h a t  his  wife 
hadn't got up. His wife swore t o  it, too. Wow, this man  was in  the  
habit of taking a drink every morning. I do not know how i t  is wit11 
many of you, gentlen~ea. I cannot testify upon tlie subject myself; I slrip 
a llrortling uow and then. But  he swears he took one every morning ant1 
he always ment over t o  Giubluiny's, and Giubbiny no doubt generally 
waited on him, mid g e ~ ~ e r a l l y  had some co~lversation with him. Now, 
his place was open a t  six o'clocli i n  tlie ~uoruing. Giubbiny's saloon was 
opeii t o  catch tlie early bird or the  early worm, ~vliich is  it? It was 
o ~ e n  aaayway a t  six o'clocli in  the *corning. The clerk was there. It is 
a matter of no importance xvlletlier th i s  lnnn 1vho went for his early 
morning drinli got it of Giubbiny or got  it of the  clerlr.. The drink is 
the n ~ a t t e r  of importance, and he got tha t .  But  let us  see what he tes- 
tifies to. H e  swears t h a t  when he went to  the  saloon he saw tlie J a p  clean- 
ing the steps, does he not, right around where H a r r y  Orchard's bomb was, 
and when he  went back from the  saloon he  sa.w the J a p  picking up  his 
pails and liis brusl~es right there, and he  walked 260 feet to  his house, 
and he opelied his gate, and a s  he opened his gate he heard th i s  explo- 
sion. Now, I wonder Har ry  did not sag tliat opening this  fellow's gate 
would cause a n  esl~losion. I le  would, if it had beell ilecessary i n  this 
case. And he walked t h a t  distance and i t  took him thirty-six seconds, 
so t h a t  a t  least ~ ~ i t h i n  thil.ty-six seconds from the  time this esplosion 
occurred tlle J a p  was there. And a neigl~bor next clooi. swears he came 
r u ~ ~ n i n g  illto the flat, t h a t  lie had just barely escaped with his life- 
escaped fro111 the explosion. Now, are  yon t o  believe tha t  I-Iarry Orchard 
ment up  the  step and fixed the bomb, and bad< t o  tlle street car, and was 
away so fa r  t h a t  he could not hear the boinb? H e  could not get on a car 
i n  a minute. If one came along immediately it would naturally have to 
stop, and then get away so fa r  t h a t  he could not have lieard it a t  all. 
And get you are  t o  believe a l l  of tllcse people liars in order to give credit 
to this s tory of Harry  Orchard's and t o  convict this client of ours! Well, all 
right, gentleluen; 1 do no t  have t o  coilvict him. Tha t  is  your job. If  you 
can do i t  on that  testin~ony, well aild good. 

Now, let us  see a b o ~ t  the hack stairs. I s  he  lying? I n  the  first 
place, I thiill; there is soine cloubt about tliat whole milk matter. They 
cross-examinecl Bradley further. They t r ied to  get hini to  admit  tl iat 
he migllt possibly have been mistalien about the gas, and to say a t  t h a t  
time he did not k n o ~ v  ahout Har ry  Orcliard and his testinlolly and the bomb. 
But  he made the alllclavit af ter  he knew about it. But  he had said t h a t  he 
might be a l i t t le shaken since lle had heard about the millr story, and he 
said at t h a t  time he k n e ~ v  nothing whatever about the  mill:. Until  
Harry Orcliaid's confession was reeled off to  this  court Bradley had 
cever heard t h a t  his nlillc was poisoned. 

Well, now, gentlemen, what do you think about it? Do you thinli 
t h a t  milk was poisoned and Bradley never k~le\v i t ?  Can you conceive 



that Bradley's wife and BradIey's girl found some strychnine had been 
placed in his mill< and never told Bradley about i t  and no investigation 
was ever made? 1 haven't any doubt, i f  we could get a t  all the facts in 
this case, that you would find i t  was a lie, that the milk was doubtless 
bitter, but that in some way the chemist had got a bottle switched or 
else the strychnine had been put in after, or somethilig or other. At  least 
I do not believe it was theie then, or Bradley would have known it, and 
not waited two years for Orchard to tell him. Now, let us see whether 
Orchard did it. And here I say we have got him where there is no possible 
escape even for Orchard. He swears that he went up on the flat roof, not 
the flat roof of the adjoining house, gentlenzen, oh, no; but the flat roof of 
Bradley's house, and he waited there until the ~nilkman had come and 
gone, and then he stepped off the flat roof and sprinkled the strychnine 
into the milk. Now, let us see. First, let me give you the exact words 
of this wonderful truth-telIer, Harry Orchard. Mr. Hawley, with a forget- 
fulness that  does him credit-because there are some things you Bad better 
forget if you are going to make a reasonable argument to convict a man 
-he says he went on that flat roof of the next house. Re says it is im- 
material, anyway. That is the first immaterial thing that Hawley has 
struck in this case. It is immaterial whether he went on the flat roof 
or not. He says we do not lay any stress an it. Sure they do not. They 
don't lay any stless on anything but Orchard. He says we mere not able 
to contradict it by anything but Giubbiny, whom I will speak of later. 
But he says i t  must have been the Bat roof of an adjoining house, because, 
when he rends Bradley's testimony he lrnows i t  must 11ave been a lie. 1 

1 do not care so much about one lie more or less of Ilarry Orchard's, \ 
except I want to  show xvliat 1;ind of a lie this one was. I want t o  trap 
bigger game than IZarry Orchard in this particular lie. First, what does 
he say? A 

"Q. Iiow long had the milliinan been gone when ;you got there? A. I 
was tllere when he came. There was a flat roof on his back story and I ! 
got over on thel-c before daylight." (The back story of the Bradley house.) 

"Q. And you laid on a flat roof there somewhere? A. I laid on a 
Aat roof there four or five feet above the roof on the back part." 

Now, not the flat roof of the arljoilling house. Oh, no! The flat roof 
of Bradley's place. Now, let us see about that. What is the testimony? 
The testimony is that the roof was twelve feet above the porch. The tes- 
timony is there mas only one way to get on it and that was through the 
window upstairs. Tbe testimony is that there was no other chance ex- 
cept to build a scaffolding or climb up a rain-pipe. H a r ~ y  Orchard 
did not climb. You clo not cztch Harry Orchard shinning up a pipe. He 
might fall down and hurt his finger. No such chance as that for Harry. 
If he hurt his finger he coilld not play on a harp in the kingdom come. Oh, 
no! He swears he stepped over oil the roof, not that  he crawled up some- 
where. But the contractor says in answer to  Mr. Van Duyn's question- 
by the way, Van Duyn w a ~  in California. when he clid the heavy work on 
this case that Mr. Hawley tells us about. That is the reason none of u s  
have knotvn it; i t  mas so far beyoid the jurisdiction of the court. In an- 
sweriilg this question he says that nobody couId climb up these lender 
pipes, that they would not hold a man, and if they would there was a Chree- 



foot overhang to  the roof and you could not climb over that. DO you 
suppose Harry would risk tha t  overhang? What does Mr. Hawley say 2 
He gives up. A miglity strong statement when Mr. HawIey will give up, 
gentlemen. HB says, now, tha t  is an immaterial matter, anyway, and 
that  he must have stepped on the roof the next door. 

STEPPED ON TO A PICTURED PORCH. 
He must? Now, let us see about that .  In  the first place, he says he 

stepped upon this roof. Now, here is the infamy of i t  511. YOU have seen 
the picture. The picture mas made more than a year ago. And that  pic- 
ture shows a flat roof, level with Bradley's porch, so that  he could step 
from the porch over on to the flat roof without talii-tlg a chance in 
the world. The flat roof is there. But, gentle~uen, Mr. Linforth swears 
tliat that  building was not co~istructed until six months after the ex- 
plosion occurred, and tha t  a t  the tilne of the explosion there was not 
a roof anywhere within twenty feet, and lle could not do it. Will yoa 
tell nie where he got his flat roof? I will tell you where he got it. 
He got i t  froin these myriad eyes of the 13inBel.ton detectives. He got 
it fro111 these Inen rvho, fl.0111 Ban Francisco to Chica,go, and who, fro311 
British An~erica to Mesico, have beell strailling their eyes nlid strain- 
ing their ears to  catch a word, to  catch a look, t ha t  would seal Bill Hay- 
wood's fate. He got i t  from those detectives who h e ~ ~ n t e d  Mrs. Seward, 
\vho visited ller twenty tiines, before she mould collie here and tell about 
finding a cork in Orchard's room. He got it from these detectives who 
had been his constant companions from the day they caught him in Can- 
yo11 couiity until they left him in this witness chair. They could not get i t  
anywhere else and these detectives got i t  from the photograph. Of course, 
anybody but a Pinkerton detective would have taken pains to find out 
when that  photograph was made. But  a (Ietective never thinks of any- 
thing excepting St. Paul and Kelly the Bum, and with them there are 
about ten Iielly the C~rrns to  one St. Paul. They had tha t  photograph 
tvllich this jury has toclny, anil there they sav a, flat roof le~vel with 'Brad- 
ley's floor-a,nd tha t  flat roof had not been constructed for six months 
later, and McPartlnnd did not bnotv it-so these detectives helped fix up 
tliat choice hit of perjured testimony to  hang Bill Hagurood, and i t  is plain, 
plain as anything in this -m~orlcl can be. I s  there any other flat roof in 
that  vicinity? They saw the position they were in. They had heard L h -  
forth's testiniony that  you could not possibly get upon his flat roof. They 
had heard the contractor's and the builder's testimony tha t  i t  wau imposui- 
bIe for any man to  get up there. They heard the testimony that  this back 
roof was not made for six mcr~ths later. They had heard all of this, and 
they sent back for the Dago, Giubhiny; they thought he might help. Gen- 
tlemen, if they had mnntecl specific evidence they would have got soine- 
body else-somebody who Inle\v. But Giubbi~iy says that  before tha t  time 
there was n big house in 3 big yard, the Wise house, wliicl~ everybody has 
told  bout in this case, q ~ d  he said yo11 could not get from that  roof over 
to the roof of the Bradley flats, but there was a place where the corner 
canle rather close to the hack stairs, so if you would climb over the  rail- 
ing yon might climb out on to tha t  Wise roof. Now, tha t  is  what he says, 
but he had never done it. He had never measured. He had never observed 



it. E e  did not know, and a t  the most he could not reach the roof, but 
he could only leach the back stairs, whele this inan never went and never 
claimed to go. 

THE OWNER ICNOWS HIS IaouaE. 
Gut this t e s t i ~ o n y  is not through, Wrlo do you thiilk lcnotvs the m o d  

abont it, Linfo~Ch, who o\vned the iints and built thein, or Giubbiny, ~vho 
co~lld not telI whetller that  house was led or white or brown or yellow? He 
co~ild not tell how many rTmclo~vs or h o \ ~  many dools there were in it. 

You remember tha t  after Orchard came back from San Francisco he 
came t o  Denver and he went to live in two or three rooms with Steve 
Aclams and his wife, and palt  of the time with Billy Aikman, and there 
was hatched some wonderful schemes, according to this prosecxtion- 
some wonderful schemes in the six months, and in the three months pre- 
ceding that, before he went to San Francisco. There he was trying to  get 
Judge Gabbert and Judge Goddald and Peabody and Sherman Bell, and 
BIoffat and Bullieley Wells, and the ~ v o ~ l d  knows who-pretty neaIly eve1 y- 
body with who111 the Westeln Federation had ever had any trouble in Colo- 
I ado f r  olu the begln~llng-p~ etty nearly all of them, and there rvns Penbody 
living In his house, and llia ways were tinown, ailrl his methods were k n o ~ ~ n ;  
n11cl thele nere Goddard and Gabbelt living in their ho~tses and sitting a t  
their open ~vindo~vs, and there was Sherlllan Bell living up beside the park, 
and tlleie was Moffat and there was Healne, a11 together in one little 
bunch, ancI all under the eyes of the officeis of the Western Federation 
of I~Iineis. 

If Orchard is to be believed, and McPar'iland, who has put together the 
testimony in this case-if he is to  be believed, they toolr some six or eight 
lllonths for the purpose of idl ing these men, all of whom lived there, and 
all of whom were the enemies of Moyer and Eaywood, and they had done 
everything in their power to destroy them, and yet, gentlemen, in dl that  
t~me-~n  all t1:c time thxt thcse three ii~en uele on their track, and nll  the 
time that the officers mere there, these men escaped uninjured. Not one per- 
son did they ever harm. Not one thing did they ever do which is corrob- 
orated by any witness outside of Hairy Orchard. Peabody was left alive, 
Goddard and Gabbert were uninjured. Nothing happened to  BIoffat, noth- 
lng happened t o  Hearne, nothing happened to Sherlnan Bell, nothing hap- 
penecl, t o  Bulkley Wells, and the only people that were killed in Colorado 
that  are charged to us are some workinqmen and Beck and McCormick 
down a t  Cripple Creek, and they were lrilled 'cvlien these defendants cer- 
tzillly knew nothing &bout i t .  All their enemies escaped. 

Then Orchard came out here to Idaho to kill Governor Xteunenberg, a 
man who had not Been governor for several years, and who was dead po- 
litically. Now, i t  is a strange cirenmstanee that  with all the men they 
uiihed to get in Colorado, all the men who had Inicl unlawful hands up011 
tl~ein in Colorado, their. lives were saved. 

When you consider the trip of Charles Moper from Denver to  Ouray, 
and from there t o  Cripple Greelr and baclr to  Denver, you would not won- 
der if he had murder in his heart against some of the men who were re- 

@ 
sponsible for the wrongs inflicted upon him, and yet Peabody was unin- 



jured-everybody was uninjured in Colorado who had anything to  do with 
those unlawful acts. 

Let me speak for a lnolnellt about Moyer. Did you ever hear a story 
lilte tha t?  They are trying to kill Moyer here. They are asking an Idaho 
jury to  take away his life when they tool; every means, fair and foul, 
to kill him while he was in Colorado, when Governor Peabody tried to 
murder l ~ i m  and the Mine Owners' Association brought false chaYges 
against him, and tried to send him to  death, aird failed, and now they 
ask an  Idaho jury-an Idaho jury-to kill him when they could not. Ue 
went from Denver to  Ouray. Ele went on a holy mission. He went to 
prcvide food for the wives and children, those whose husbands and fathers 
had been driveil by force and riolence ancl murder, driven from their 
homes and made to flee. He vent  to take care of the families of those 
deported men, and he wired to Governor Peabody if these deported men 
could come back, and Governor Peabody sent him a lie by telegraph. He 
~vired him a lie. Ele said they ~lliglit go bacli, and Moyer started to bring 
them back, and they got half way, and they were met by Governor Pea- 
body's militia and were rliade to  walk back from wlience they calne and 
told that  they never could return. 

He went down there to look after them, and what happened? There 
was no military law when he stnrted. The civil law mas in operation 
in that  county, and this miserable, conten~ptible, slimy tool, this Sheriff 
Rutan, ~vbo  disgraces even Colorado and the Mine Owners' Association, 
when he found Moyer was coming, telephoned to the other tool up a t  the 
state capitol to  send the troops, and he sent them, and they declared 
inilitary law because they knew there was no judge and no jury who could 
be made to mnrder Moyer; nncl they met him with military law and 
threw h i m i n  the bnll-pen. For what? As they had Ed. Boyce a few 
years before, "for safe lieepingn-for desecrating the American flag, when 
the lines written upon tile Amel.ican flag were every one true-when i t  
was printd in Denver and ~vri t ten in Denver, and that  county had no 
jurisdiction over i t  any more than Idaho has. And they threw him in 
the bull-pea for that, ancl, of course, they got him out for that, and then 
the militia tool; llini and held hi111 ~vitliout any process whatever, and 
they put  hinl into the bull-pcn with Pinkerton detectives and vermin 
crawling all around him, and they ltept hiin the1.e for days and he appealed 
to the supreme court of Colorado and that  court turned a deaf ear t o  him 
and said, "No, we cannot help you out of the bull-pen." That  was not 
what the supreme court was for. And then he appealed to the United 
States circuit c0ui.t in St. Louis, and tha t  court issued a writ, show- 
ing that  there mas n cocrt to \~,llich i~ ~vorliingn~ai might ap~eal -  
there was a court Icft open that  the Mine O~vners' Association did not 
0~~17;  and he appealed there, 2nd the United States circuit court issued 
that  \$?-it. And then what did they do? The governor sent down word 
to reIease Ilinl. TTThy? To relcnse hirn so that  the United States circuit 
court could never render an opinion in that  case-so they could never 8 put to  shame the suprenle co~ir t  of Colorado, which sanctioned the inoat 
unholy liidnapjng that  has been told of in this case-so that  the United 
States district court could never coildenlil Governor Peabody. And then 
what did they do7 
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They then arrested Moyer ou a criminal warrant for murdering a man 
down in San Miguel county, a man ~vllose name they did not lu~ow; they 
did not l aow who was killed, and i t  afterward transpired tha t  nobody 
had been killed in that  year in Sail M i p e l  colul~ty, and a t  the time- 
tha t  very time-Moyer was several hundred i d e s  away; but, of course, 
that  does not make ally difference, and they held him a while on tha t  
charge of murder preferred on aceormt of some man who never existed. 
They held hila without trial, and when they had held him as  long as 
they could, they discharged him. 

Then what did they do? Tliey sent over f ~ o m  Teller county-over from 
Cripple Creek-and they arrested 3loyer for killing Beck and McCorrnicl:, 
but he was not t h e ~ e  aild he knew nothing about i t  and they found i t  out and 
they discharged liim, aild then they dicl not lvant to  let him go and they 
tulned and nrrestcd him for kilhng Rosy DIcGee a t  the Victor riot. And 
where was Moyer then? He had bee11 in tlle bull-pen a t  Telluride for 4 1 
sixty days, and he could not have killed IXoxy McGee if he had the 
intent and purpose to kill him. But they took him for killing R o ~ y  
XicGee and sllut hini up in jail without bail, and finally, day after clay 
and \vee!i after weelc dragged along, they prepaied an information againjt 
I~im, bnt he firially gave the slleriff a tip of n huiicll ed dollais to take liinl 
to Denver and allow him to fix a bond, a~lcl time he gmre the boild anil 
nobody ever heard af tha t  case since. 

Gentlemen, tvorl<ingmen are held to very strict accountability-very. 
When a man Iilre Stewart, who ha5 talcen ullioll wages and is enjoying 
unlon hours, is taken out in the heat of the moment and beaten the 
w o ~ l d  stands aghast, and every newspaper prints columns about what, 
an unholy cro~vd are the Wester.11 Federation 01 I\liners and the labor- 
ing men. But when the goverpor of a cleat  state, when judges, xvlien 
the military authorities-whelr the men in charge of the administration 
of justice-.ivhen they make olit affidavit after affidavit which is a perjury 
ant1 a lie, when they violate the liberties of men, when they set  aside the 
laws, when they n t ten~pt  to assoss~nate a labor leader under the forn~s  
of law, then there is nobody to dellounce it-nobody-excepting some 
nobody. 

I ~vould like to linve this jury cornpare the lawlessness of the Wes te~x  
Federation of Miners in Colorado with the lawlessness of the &line Own- 
er.~' Association and the people in charge of affairs in the state of 
Colorado. 

Now, t o  go back a moment to  Denver. Harry Orchard said tha t  he 
tried t o  ltill Governor Peabody and that  he made a boinb ~ v l ~ i c h  has been 
inti-oduced here and has been cl~ristenecl by God-father Hawley as tile 
Peabody bomb. The words are not blown in the bottle, but he has caIled 
i t  the Peabody bomb-for xvliat purpose I don't know, but tha t  is as good 
a natne as any, and I don't tale what yotl call it. The evidence is thlat 
he went over across from Pettibone's store, although Pettibone did not 
tell him to go-he went over there and asked to  have this lead arrange- 
ment made-made t o  put n cactus plant ill-and i t  mas made for hiin and 
he took that  bomb up to Peabody's house and he got Billy Aikman and 
he got Ifax DXalich and he got Joe Mahslich in various ways t o  help 
about that bomb-to steal powder t o  load up this wonderful bomb, and they 
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go a,nd hire a livery rig t o  haul around this wonderful bomb which he 
carried under his arin through the streets of Denver. Of course, all  three 
of these men say he  lies--Joe Mahalich, Max Malich, Billy Aikn~aii-they 
all  say he lies, but 13amley says they a re  perjurers, that  they belong 
t o  the Western Fedel.ation of Miners. Can you, gentlemen, figure out  
any  excuse why you a re  going to disbelieve these three men to sui t  I l a r ry  
Orchard's s tory? Here is  Max Malich, a man of some standing and in- 
fluence, and of some property-just think of his property, and then tell 
us  whether his testimony is not good. A nlan with property would not 
lie. And here is Max Malich mitn money-money! What  about Joe 
Blahalich? You 1leal.d his testimony. A poor boy who canle over here 
from Austria and who went t o  work in the smelter a t  nineteen years of 
age-a boy who gave his youth and his young mallliood and stxength 
toward building u p  the fortunes of the Guggenheims-a boy ~ v h o  nevcx 
did anything but  work. H e  worked for himself, he worked for his family, 
he morlied for his union, and working for his union was worlring for 
hi~nself and his wife and liis children. Is  tliere any reason in this case 
i,o believe t h a t  Joe Rlahalich is a l i a r?  Certainly 11e loolred like a n  honest 
luaii. Certainly he has been living a n  Iloiiest life. Certainly he is one 
of those men who come from foreign lands inspired with the dream and 
the  hope of liberty, and he caine here in  order to worl: in  a smelter a t  
three d o l l a ~ s  a day, and he joined the union to better his ow11 condition 
-he joined it for the sslte of hinlself, his wife, and his children, and he 
has been a ~vorl<ingrnan all  his life, and are you going t o  lay his testi- 
mony to one side and say he is a l i a r?  Are you going to lay t h a t  aside 
for this man who has left his wife and his child to  be brought up by 
charity, a.nd left them without aid or comfort or hope-who committed 
bigamy, arson, larceny, burglary and murder-are you going to do this 
because Mr. Hawley suggests it t o  you and because it will help convict 
Moyer, Haywood and Pettibone? If there is any excuse, gentlernea, for 
it, I cannot find out what t h a t  excuse is. 

THE PINISERTONS. 

And what a re  the circulnstances? They went t o  fincl out Peabody's 
habits-what time he left home in the morning. They couId have got- 
ten hiin any time they wished. They laid the bomb down once by the 
sidewalk; they fixed a wire so they could pull it, and Harry Orchard 
says t h a t  about the time they wanted to pull i t  a couple of coal wagons 
drove along and they did not dare do it, and so they gave it up, and 
they never v e n t  back any more. They followed him wit11 shotguris 
and boinbs t ~ ~ 7 o  or three m o n t ~ a ,  and gavc it up w11en the coal 
wagons came along. But  they started again a s  soon as Harry Orchar& 
got back from San Francisco. What  did they do then?  In the 
meantime, Goddard, \irho was elected a s  n democrat, llad outraged the 
whole state by unseating a governor who had been elected by 10,000 
majority, a s  he testifies himself, and he had aroused against himself the 
wrath of every democrat, and every honest man who is not so hide-bound 
that  he is not  willing to  have a majority rule-he had done all this- 
he had been elected as a democrat, bu t  had become a republican, and di;l 
the outrageous job with ~ n n f h ~ r  man who had been elected as a demo- 



crat-Judge Gabbert. Re had become a republican, and these two-these 
two gentlemen-had called down upon them the wrath of the whole state 
and the whole n~ t ion ,  as Judge Goddard testified himself, and during the 
time tha t  had happened Denver was ablaze. People were talking about i t ;  
the newspapers were printing articles about it. 

H a n y  Orchard got back to Denver. Many ruen were interested in 
Goddnid and in Gabbert. The only interest t ha t  has been shown in this 
ease t l ~ a t  these defendants had in either one was the eight-hour law. 
What does tha t  aillount t o ?  What does tha t  amount to in colllpariscln 
with all the political difficulties t ha t  existed in Colorado in 1904 and 
19051 Pe t  tha t  is all-that is all they claim. I-Ie came back and then 
he staited after Penbody again, and how did he do it? I n y ,  he picked 
up this old Peabody bomb. In  the lueantiine Feabody had been defeated; 
he llad been declared elected, but the delnoclatic governor was seated and 
he had talcen his seat under the agreement tha t  he would resign inside of 
thirty minutes, and had filed his resignation in advance because they 
could not t rus t  him to  carry out the agreement after it was made, and 
before his time expired, he, a iepublican, had appointed this democrat, 
Judge Goddard, to  the supreme court bench. 

Well, Peabody finished his job, or rather his job finished him, and 
he went t o  Canon City, and Orchard started for Canon City. Now, tha t  
was a great exhibition, was ~t not?  He was going dolvil there to k i l  
l'eabody, and he took into his colnpany a man named Vauglln, with who111 
he I ~ a d  not been accluainted, who was not a Western Federation inan a t  
all, wllo was going down thele with him to C Z ~ ~ Y ~ S Y  for lift? iasurance. 01.- 
chard says it was a blind. .I do not know ~vhether it was or not, but he 
went do112 t o  Peabody's to~vn. He saw his house and he learned tha t  
Peabocly s d  a t  the window night after night and he knew tha t  he could 
get hill1 by placing this bomb under Peabody's window, but he did not 
do it. There was no diificulty in i t  whatever. He had every chance 
in the norId to  g ~ t  hiin if lie wanted to get him. Then what did lie 
do? Why, he had an alarnl clock in his valise with the bomb-I sup- 
pose an alarm clock to  wake up the bo~nb ~vitll. He put  these two 
in his valise, and one day Vauglm he,z~d i t  ticking and asked him what 
i t  was, and he said i t  was a bomb and tha t  he brought it down t h e ~ e  
for Peabody, in a joking way. Now, they have brought Vaughn here 
fro111 1R4innesota to corsoborate it, and Vauglnn says Orchard told hini i t  
was a bubble, and he did not say anything about Peabody. Well, i t  is a 
little strange tha t  without a moment's notice lie should have told Vaughn, 
who up t o  tha t  time had been a stranger, and who, I suppose, is not a 
murdeier, 01- else they ~vould not have brought him here, t ha t  he brought 
a bonib there to  l r i l  Peabody with. But, straager still, what did he  do? 
XIe stayed around there without doing anything except canvass for in- 
surance, and then he went down t o  Rocky Ford to canvass insurance, and 
there he made some money; and wllile he mas gone he left this bomb 
and alarm clock in his valise in the boarding house. 

Now, what do you think of t ha t  story, gentlemen? Did you ever 
hear such a story as  tha t  befole? Was any ever made like i t  before? 4 
man with a deadly bo~nb in his valise, ~vhich he intended to  use t o  kill 
an ex-governor of the state, and he deliberately goes away for several 



months and leaves t h a t  bomb in an unknown boarding house, open anil 
free so t h a t  anybody might see it. Now, if you want to  believe it ,  a l l  
right. It has got the  best authority on the face of tlie earth-it has got 
Har ry  Orchard, and if you s ta r t  out  t o  believe Har ry  Orchard you 
might a s  well believe everythil~g he says, even if you don't believe it. 

He went amajr, and three or  four months later he sent down t o  
Canon City for this valise and this bomb, and they brought i t  baclr, and, 
strange enough, the bolllb had not  been disturbed, and there it was- 
forty pounds of lead pipe and powder with all alarm cloclr attachment- 
ready to go off. There it was for three montl~s i n  the  roolu of a boaldiag 
house-three months knocliing a ~ o u n d  i n  a stiange city, something tllnt 
would send him t o  the  g~l lows ,  perllaps, excepting he could malie a qulck 
dodge and swear it onto someone else. 

Then what did he do? Then he says he tried to kill Judge Gabbert 
and Judge Goddard. There are  two matters i n  this case I have not time 
t o  discuss; one is  the  murder of Gregory and the other is the killing 
of Walley by what  he says was a bomb which was loaded and laid for  
Judge Gabbert. No human being but  Orchard in  any  way corroborates 
either one of those stories. No human being b u t  Orchard comes here t o  
gay t h a t  Walley mas ever killed, and he did not see him. All there is  
to  tha t  story, as fa r  a s  we can get it, i s  t l ~ a t  some man was lrilled out 
on the  prairie, and Orchard comes here and .says he was killed with one 
of his bombs; I a111 going to pass that.  80 fa r  a s  Gregory was con- 
cerned, he was a man conling out of a saloon in Denver nnd he mas shot. 
He was a inan who had previously offencled John Mitchell's orqnnizztion, 
the United RiIine W o r k e ~ s  of America, had offended all the worlrln,nmen in 
the  S ta te  01 Colorado, but  there is not a scrap of evidence in this case to  
connect Orchard with i t  except Oreharrl's word. There is no evidence 
t o  show t h a t  he ever had anything to do with i t  excel~t tha t  liere was 
another criminal act out on the  street and Orchard and McPartland charged 
i t  u p  t o  Orchard. Tha t  is  all  there was t o  that.  

Now, a few words about the Goddard bomb. Tha t  bo~nb \.as d11g up  
by a party of mcn who went from the  Pinkerton office-three Pinkerton 
men and Bullreley Wells. The fact that  the Pirikertons took Bullielcy 
Well8 with them shows they are  not  proud. They started out to  dig 
up this bomb, and the Pin1;erton fellows went right to  the spot where 
the bomb had been buried for almost a year. Now, I don't know when it 
was p u t  there. Do ally of you gentlemen Irnow? The ioforlnation was 
obtained from the Pinltertons. It was discovered by the Pinlrrrtons. It 
was dug up and i t  mas taken by the  Pinkerton.: to  the Pinlterton office. 
The exhibits were put  together by thePinliertoas; rverything rvns siyned 
and sealed by tlie Piilkertons in the Pinlcerton ofice. It is suspiciotzs 
t o  say the least-~liiglitv susnicious. 

Let  me look at the other side of the question. Orchard says he 
planted it in Jime; he dug up  a square place in the turf near the  judge's 
gate  The turf 117s been watered rind tended carefully; i t  hnd been irri- 
gated in the summer and mowed with a lawn mower regiilarly. Orchard 
says he went baclr t h e ~ e  after it did not explode and saw a yellow grass 
plot i n  t h e  midst of the green. It lay there all summer, a lit t le yellow 
plot i n  the  midst of the  green plot, and Judge Goddard went in  and out 



and his family went in and out, and the children played around it, and no- 
body discovered this little yellom grave in the midst of the yard. Now, 
you can believe i t  if the evidence justifies you in  believing it,  but tha t  is 
not the strangest part of it. He planted i t  in June. He says that  Petti- 
bone knew all about it. He knew t h a t  the bomb did not go off. He knew 
something was wrong with it and Oichard stayed there until August ZGth, 
t ~ v o  months and a half or three months. He knew that  t ha t  bomb was 
planted outside of Judge Goddard's gate and he and Pettibone lulew tha t  i t  
was there, and pet, gentlemen, he packed his t ~ u n k  tvith a dynamite bomb 
and possibly a few other personal effects and comes up here to  Idaho and 
leaves tha t  yellow grass plot and tliat dynanlite bomb slumbering peaceably 
beside Judge Goddard's gate. And be !ino~vs it, 2nd Pettibone knows it,  an& 
Haywood knows it,  and &Toyer knows it,  if Orchard's testimony is  true. 
Now, I wonder if you believe it. But t ha t  is not the most wonderful part 
of the story; here is another for you: I don't know whether there is 
anything in logic or in facts to  make a man doubt Harry Orchard. You 
could not malie Ila~vIey doubt him even though one should rise fsom 
the dead. But Harry Orchard comes up here and is arrested the first day 
of January. It develops on the second or third day of January tha t  Tom 
Hogan is Harry Orchard. the Harry Orchard tha t  Pettibone knew, the 
Harry Orchard tha t  Bill I-Ia~vood knew, and that  Charlie hloyer knew; tlic 
Harry Orchard tha t  had been planting bombs wherever these men told him, 
and these men were not arrested until the 19th day of February, seven we el;^, 
gentlen~en of the jury, after Har ly  Orchard was in the hands of the state- 
sewn l-veelrs. Pettibone knew where this bon~b wzs in f ~ o n t  of J ~ t d s e  God- 
dard's gate iust as  ell a3 he knew mhere his own cellar vas. Rarry  Orchard 
says so. Haywood and Moyer and the whole of them, if Orchard's story 
is true, knew that  up there in front of Judge Goddard's gate mas a bomb 
which hxd not been working. Now, what do you suppose they would have 
done? Are these men fools? Do you suppose Harry Orchard mould have 
gone away and left it there? Do you suppose tha t  these men, seven 
weeks after Hogan's arrest, would have left i t  lying there? Why, what 
kind of men do you suppose they are?  Don't you think if they were in 
such a conspiracy as this they would have worked by day and by night 
to ilc,st~.oy any evidence tha t  mizht possibly bring them to the galloms, 
2nd vet yon have sot to  believe this storv with all the rest, and you 11ar c 
sjmply qot t o  believe i t  because Hizrrv Orchard says i t  is true. It would 
never do to cast a, doubt upon a cherubim like him. 

Then ~ ~ h a t  llnpvmed? Orchard tool< nnother trip. Moyer came home 
one day find said he was not feelinp well and he could not stand it to  
have anv more murders happen in Denver. There had not been any-not 
one. That  is, there had been no murders of anybody that  Orchard says 
these men were interested in getting, a t  lesst not since the killing of 
Gregory. 3loyer comes home and snys hia health is so bad t h ~ t  he cor~lrl not 
stand qnp more imprieonnient; i t  might hur t  his h~s l t l i  that  is. if he Filled 
Govprnor Peabody and they would arrest him and hold him a month or 
two in those damp jails down there in Denver-it would be bad on his 
health. If they did not catch him i t  mould not hur t  his henlth, srud if 
they did the da~npness would not matter, but anyhow, Ile makes t11i.i 
excuse and I suppose that  this is  as good as any, and he says tha t  



I Moyer came back and told him t h a t  he could not possibly stand it to 
have anyrrody lrilled there, t h a t  he must go off and liill Neville-Neville 
who had wallied into liis office and asked him for $250 to pay his expenses 

f for being brought baclc on a charge of blowing up the  Independence depot 
-Neville, for whom Orchard had submitted a claim to the  board of the 
Western Federation of Miners t h a t  had been turned down, and he never 
heard of him since. Ancl yet he says t h a t  nIoyer wanted hiin t o  go 
and kill Neville out in  Goldfield, and Neville was nothing but  a common 
miner, and Haywood stepped up  and said, yes! and he would Iilie t o  get 
Steunenberg, too, and for hinl t o  nlalie the  clrcuit and liill them both; 
aiid he packed his t ~ ~ u n k  ancl mas away the  next day-the very next day, 
gentlemen. 

THEY EIAD TO GET EX-GOVERNOR XTEUNENBERG. 

When this man lzad anything t o  do he did not stop. Now, where was 
he going? Let us  looB a t  this evidence aiicl see whether he is a liar or not. 
Did he collie u p  heie t o  kill Stelinenberg, or did he coiile for sonletbing 
else? It was about t i i l~e  for him t o  iilove agai~l.  &lark you, all  this time, 
f lom the time of the blo~ving up of the  lndepenclence dcpot, he had gone 
under a n  assumed name, 11e had hidden lii~nself, a s  he states in his own 
story. He was wanted, and i t  J V ~ S  not safe for hi111 to give his own name; 
it was not safe for anybody to write to  hiin by his own name; i t  was 
not safe for anybody t o  bc connected wit11 him; he had been living ill 
stealth, and he packed his t r ~ u l k  and skipped. Where was he going? He 
bought a ticket to  Poitland. I-le was going to sce the  Poitland exposition. 
Ile nlight hare  been going t o  see the sho\v u p  a t  P o ~ t l a n d  and kill a few 
pcol~le on the -\17ay. Anyhow, he went to  Portland. 

If these inen down in Denver had sent him out to  hill Steunenberg 
the chances a le  they ~vould have wanted him t o  liill him a s  quickly as pos- 

t bible. By this time they lrne\v Orchard's h a b ~ t s ,  and it would be better 
for him to kill Steunenberg and get t l i ro~~gl l  with i t  ~vhi le  the $150 was 
still i n  his l~ocliet, or sollie par t  of i t .  H e  paclis the  Peabody bomb 
in a t r u n k ;  he does not stop to unload it, so he says. Now, I don't 
believe t h a t  story. I llaven't any  donbt but t h a t  he packed the  lead 
case in his tr~inlr,  b u t  I don't believe t h a t  even Orchard would send 
this bomb bumping up and down over the  road fro111 Denver to  Port-  
land and bacli t o  Wallace and do~vn hele again, packed in a t runk  and 
kept i n  the  bagenge car. It does not  look reasonable. H e  do~ibtless did 
pacl; this  case in the t ruuk,  taliinq i t  along, thinlring it might come 
handy sometime and somewhere-it is not  much different where or when. 
Anyho~y, Oichard did not 11ant t o  be cauglit a u a y  from home without a 
bomb as  lic mig11t not hare  the tools ~l- i th  him t o  make another, so he 

tlie case. W a s  lle conling after Governor Steunenberg a t  t h a t  tiine? 
Let us  loolr a minute. H e  went t o  Caldwell; he came t o  Boise-he says 
he came t o  Boise-thinking he would kill Governor Steunenberg in  Boise; 
and he 1;new he was here, and, yet, stralige a s  it inay seem, lie left Elis 

)C boillb in  Nampa-never brought it t o  Boise a t  all-never toolr it out of his 
trunli a t  any time, and when lie did malie bombs down there he made new 
ones, and did not use the  Peabody bomb at all. 

TTeIl, lie came up  here to  Boise and saw Governor Steunenberg a t  one 



time. He thought he would shoot him a t  one time-he thought he would 
crawl under is bed and plact a bomb, but he did not have a bomb, and he 
did not think i t  would be safe ant1 so did not do it, and he got thr,onl:h 
here a t  Boise and went away. Where? I n  the early days of September he 
went on to  the Portland fair, gentlemen-went on a junketing trip to  the 
Portland fzir-and he tool< in the Poitland f a i l ,  O L  l~robxbly thought lie 
would find some easy marks somewhere around the Portland fair, and he 
went up there. He went to  the place he started for a t  first, and the place 
he bought a ticket for a t  first. He went to  the fair and then he went 
to  Seattle, ancl then he went ont to  look for a ranch tha t  he had been 
dreaming of-that he and Pettibone had been tallring of-this ranch we 
have heard of frola all the witnesses in the case-but he did not find one 
tha t  just suited him, and then his milid turned back t o  his old love, the 
Coeur clYAlenes, the place where he had got a foitune-petty near-and 
where he had lost i t  entirely. 

Now, he did not go to  the Coeur d'Alenes to  see Jack Simpkins-he 
does not say tha t  himself. When he left Denver there was no arrangement 
that  he should go and get Jaclr Simpkins. Nobody sent him there a t  head- 
quarters; nothing was done in reference to  getting Jaclr Simpliins, and 
he hadn't ally thought of getting l~ in i  ~vlien he went to the Coeur d' 
AIenes, but he got to Walllce, ancl there he fo~und his old friends, and 
among the rest he found Jack Siml~l.ii~s, and he stayed arouild there 
n while playing poker and loafing and drinking, doing anything tha t  was 
easy to  him, and he saw Jack Simplrins and he saw his old friend Paulson, 
and he went to dinner a t  Panlson's 1101ne and he conceived the plan of 
stealing Paulson's child, and Jack Simpltins said to  him tha t  if they got 
Paulson's child they could get $60,000 for i t  and could hire somebody to  go 
down and Bill Steunenberg. That  would be cheaper and easier than to  do 
i t  himself. He went back there and fouilcl Paulson rich, and Hutton rich, 
and the barber rich, and everybody tha t  he had ever linowvn was ricli, nncl 
they had g~olvn rich out of this mine of which he once owned the sisteentl~ 
part, ~ n d  be found Dan Cordona rich. Everybody, as he said, had plenty of 
money, and he was a poor tramp out upon the world, and he says he 
went to  Simplrins-I don't know whether he did or not, and the fact tha t  
11e says so n~aBes me think he dicl not, but he says be did a t  any rate: 
he stayed around Wallace a month and then he went from there and 
stayed with Jack Simpkins up  on his tree claim for a time, but  he stayed 
a month in Wallace. 

Now, gentlemen, there are some things in this case which cannot be 
harmonized with Harry Orcl~ard's testimony, and among those things 
the matters which stand out the clearest and most distinctly are Harry 
Orchard's movements in Wallace during tha t  month. 

Now, he started out  to kill Steunenberg for the officers of the Weet- 
ern Federation. He had a contract with them that  he could get money 
from them whenever lie wanted. All he neecled to  do was to tap the 
mires and i t  would come in bucketfuls. He went to the Coeur d'Alene~. 
He lingered around there for more than a month. He did not have a 
cent and he pawned his watch, he pawned his railroad ticket, showing 
that  he had no purpose of conling back. I-Ie had got rid of everything 
that  he could put  up a t  the pamnblolrer's shop. He borrowed five and 
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tan dollars wherever he could; he burglarized the cash drawer; he gto1o , 
L from his friend who was keeping a snloon, and broke into the depot and 

B burglarized that and attempted to steal the child-all of these things 
to get a little ready cash in the Coeur dlAlenes--and down here in Dcn- 
ver were Moyer, Haywood and Pettibone, all anxious to send him money 
if he tapped the mire--anxious to send him money if he should make his - 
needs known, and .yet he mas a pauper, and a burglar and an attempted 
kidnaper all in that short space of thirty days, when he could not get 
enough money on which to live. 

Gentlemen, ia i t  possible? Can you understand i t  or believe i t ?  It 
is of a piece with that other story that they sent a hundred dollars to 
Jack Simplcins for the purpose of getting it to Harry Orchard, and I 
might refer to that in this connection. Mk. Haywood has explained that 
hundred-dollar draft, a, draft that was sent from Denver on the Zlst, 
and sent to Jack Simpkins in Spokane. Now, Jack Simpkins came to 
Denver direct from Harry Orchard from Caldwell, Steunenberg's home. 
If Harry Orchard had been wanting any money he would have sent by 
Jack to  Denver to get that hundred dollars, and Jack Simpkins left 
Denver on the 14th day of December, and he was in Salt Lake City on the 
16th, and Harry Orchard was there on the same day, although it is not 
ehown that they saw each other; he passed through Caldwell on the 
17th or 18th, and if there had been any need of money or any thought 
of money or any arrangements about money, would not he have taken it 
in his pocket to  him, or would he have left it to send a draft to  him 
three or four days later and trusted to luck that the draft would be 
sent again to Harry Orchard wherever he might be? To me it is ridicu- 
lous upon the face of it, and yet as much fuss is made about this draft 
as any other portion of the case. 

Now, what else did he do? He stayed there in the Coeur d'dlenes. 
Re did everything he could to get a little change; he tried to coax Coates 
to help steal Paulson's child and Coates told him if he ever did such a 
thing he would denounce him and drive him out of the country. I s  there 
any reason to doubt t h a t a n y  reason why this jury should believe thnt 
Coates said anything else, except that Harry Orchard said sot And if 
a man believes Harry Orchard against Dave Coates it is because he is 
bound to believe him regardless of any experience or any facts. He and 
Jack Simpkins left Wallace. They went over to Spokane. They came 
down to Caldwell. They came down to (Taldwell, where, as a matter of 
fact, Harry Orchard did kill ex-Governor Steunenberg. 

Now, let us see about his motive, and why he did it, gentlemen. 
Let us see who has the best of this side of the -argument. The position 
of the defendant in this case is this, that Orchard killed him deliberately, 
out of pure personal malice; that he killed him to satisfy an old grudge; 
that he killed him on his own account;; that no human being had any- 
thing whatever to do with it, unless, possibly, Jack Simplrins, and Ire 
lrnow nothing about him, but as to him we don't believe it. Jack Simp- 

I[( kins did have same personal mot i~~e  and he was there about that time, and 
that is a, suspicious circumstance which Jack Simplrins must some time 
e~plain, but outside of that I believe that he killed this man to satisfy 
rs eld nbding grudge. Z believe .that he went back to the Coeur d' 



Alenes and found all of his friends and companions were rich, that they 
were millionaires-Cardona had his interest in the Hercules min-and 
he looked back a t  the time he had an opportunity to  be rich too, and he 
always believed i t  was because Governor Steunenberg sent the  troops to 
the Coeur d'dlenes and he had been driven out, and tha t  if the troops 
had not been sent to the Coeur d'Alenes he would have been rich-he 
would have been like A1 Hutton, and Paulson, and Cordona, and Ed. 
Boyce, and all the rest; and instead of t ha t  he was a homeless wanderer. 

Now, Mr. Hawley said he never made any threats. Didn't he, gem 
tlenlen? Mr. Rawley has to say this. Thele is  no escape for it,  be- 
cause if we show his personal motive to  commit this crime i t  goes a long 
ways towards making a reasonable jury believe he did i t  on his own ac- 
count, and so Hnwley says a11 onr men are liars-from first to  last  
they lie. 

Orchard had sold his interest in the mine; he claimed nothing there; 
Steunenberg had done nothing t o  him; they are liars, one and all. And 
Orchard comes in here with the brazen effrontery which characterizes 
this brand of criminals-he comes in here nnd says, yes, you are all liars, 
every one of you are liars. I did not go into Sterling's room; Mrs. King 
and her daughter, and Mrs. Pitzhugh are liars. I did not go into Scott's 
office; Aller is  a liar. I did not see 3lcGee in the Coeur d'Alenes; Dr. 
McGee i s  a liar. J did not go to the section house as described by Mrs. 
Joyce; Mrs. Joyce is a liar. I did not go t o  Kid Waters' house a t  any 
time; Mrs. Fallon, Kid waters and his wife are liars-they are all liars. 
I did not make any threats against Governor Steunenberg; I did not 
offer to sell my interest in the mine; I did not tell Mr. Ramey, the 
stage driver, that  I wanted to  sell my interest; Ramey is  n liar. I 
did not try t o  sell i t  to  Mrs. Gill or talk with her and Gill; they are 
liars. Mrs. Lottie Day is a l iar;  EIuff, who met him in the Coeur d'Alener, 
is a l iar;  Eugene Fngley, who had been an n t to rn~p  general of the State O F  
Colorado about the same time tha t  Rawley and Rorah were supporting 
Bryan, is a liar ; Contes is a l iar;  Elliott, Redd, Sullivan, &tax Malich, Joe 
Mahalich and Barnes, Davis, and William Easterly are l i ~ r s ;  D. C. Coplev 
lies, Flynn lies, Boyce lies, P a t  &loran lies, Tom Wood lies, John O'Neil 
lies-they are all liars--every one of them. 

You nre not asking much of this jury, are your You are not askina 
much when you ask the jury to  take away the life of a human being 
upon the testimony of a man like Orchard, and you are not asking my- 
thinq Inore when this same Orchard, covered with 211 the guilt tha t  
could attach to one slimy mortal, is  contradicted by thirty or fort? 
men and women? Oh, no, gcntlem~n, von men of Tdaho, tha t  i q  a 
small matter. It i 3  a 'sniall thing to  tqke amav Bill Raywood's life. 
It will only mean a few moments of pain to him: i t  will only mean n few 
years of pain to  his mother and his wife and his children. It mill only 
mean a serious inj1u.y to the preat or,,qnnieation of which he is  on^ of t h ~  
heitds. It will only mean one mote man Irill~d. And R a r n  Orchsrd 
o ~ ~ p h t  to be enoncrh to  i l~st ifv anv jmv in doins it. And. gentlemen. Mr. 
Hamley and Mr. Borah ouqht to know you better than f do; I have been 
here with yon for three months, and I may be mistaken, but I don't think 
it-I don't, think it. 
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I would not be afraid to place these lawyere in the jury box in this 
owe. I would not be afraid to  place the bitterest man who ever denounced 
these men in the jury bax in their place. It is one thing to denounce a de- 
fendant; i t  is one thing to  believe that  he is bad; it is one thing to have 
suspicions of his guilt, but i t  is another thing, gentlemen, uncter your oath, 
and your consciences, with the best judgment that  the Lord has given you- 
it is another thing to take away his life. That is your responsibility. I 
have no thought that  there is one man on this jury that  ~ ~ o u l d  take that re. 
sponsibility lightly; not one. I have no thought that  there is one man on 
this jury tha t  would not protect William Haywood's life as carefully as he 
mould protect the life of his own brother if i t  was passed into his charge, 
and it is for that  reason that I have been confident, and shall be confident 
to the end, that  not here, not only not here in Idaho, but that nowhere on 
earth could you find twelve men charged with this grave responsibility who 
would dare to face their consciences and their God with Bill Haywood'a 
blood on their under the testimony in this case. 

: But let me see, did this man have any personal feeling against Gov- 
ernor Steunenberg? Again I hope Senator Borah will make a note, for I 
want to  have him tell this jury whether he believes that  Ramey is a liar, 
that  Mrs. Gill is a liar, that  Mr. Gill is a liar, that  Mrs. Day is a liar, and 
that Frank Huff is a liar, and David Coates is a liar, and we will leave out 
the Western Federation Inen for I don't want to embarrass him. Hawley 
says tha t  all those men are liars. 

Now, let us look a t  it. Hawley says this man had parted with his 
mine, and had parted with it forever. Ramey, the stage driver, swears he 
met him on a wall-eyed horse about three days after the Bunker Hill and 
Sullivan mill was blown up and he tried to sell it to him. I want t o  hear 
Senator Borah say that Ramey lied. He looked as good as any of us. Ts 
there any reason to say that  he lied because Orchard says sol Mrs. Gill 
swears that  she saw him in March of 1899, which was thirty days before 
the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill was blown up, and a year and a half 
after he had made a deed of the mine. What do you think? Did Mrs. Gill 
come down here from Spokane-she is not a miuer-she is not interested 
in the Western Federation of Miners-did she come down here to commit 
perjury for our benefit? Gentlemen, I wonder if you are going to guess 
that  way. What right have you to  guess thatl way? Can you 
satisfy your reason-can you satisfy your conscience? I f  you say Mrs. 
Gill lied the only reason you can give is because Harry Orchard said it 
was not true, and even he did not take the pains t o  come in here and 
deny it. Mr. Gill, her husband, swears he looked it up a t  that time, 
and he did not laow whether she could buy this interest in view of the 
fact that  they were paying off for something else, but he looked it up a t  
that  time, in March, 1890, and he concluded not to bny it. And he met Jack 
Si~npkins and Rarry Orchard in Spokane when Harry Orcllnrd was or1 
h i s  way down to kill Steunenberg in 1905; he met them in Spokane, and 
Gill said to him, "It is too bad that  I did not buy that  interest in the 
Hercules; I would have been rich;" and Harry Orchard said, "Yes, if thzt  ---- Steunenberg had not run me out of the Coeur d'Alenes I would 
have money in d l  my pockets." Now, is he a liar? He was on his was to 
kill Bteunenbarg, end he made that  statement then about him, and if thin 
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jury can believe tha t  ia a lie I would like to  know the reason why. 
Then comes Mrs. Day. Now, Mi.. Hawley would like to have you believe 

a part of her story and disbelieve a part, and so would I. There is  one 
place where Mr. Hawley and I wholly agree. It may be difficult for you 
twelve men to  do i t  to  accommodate either one of us. Let u s  see who 
Mrs. Day is. Mr. Hawley says she lies when she tells about the conver- 
sation with Orchard. Let us see about that. Well, now, I never met 
Mrs. Day until she came t o  Boise, but I know this much about her, 
gentlemen-I lrnow that  the state-the great State of Idaho, repre- 
sented by Senator Borah and Mr. Hawley and the man with the iron 
mask-they sent to Denver and brought her here, didn't they? NOW, 
gentlemen, you would not have me believe that  they would send to  Den- 
ver and bring a witness here who is untruthfuI to swear away the life 
of cz human being. Surely they would not do that. Why, Mr. Rawley, I 
am surprised tha t  you called Mrs. Day a liar. I suppose he would have 
you believe tha t  they found out she was a liar and sent her home. I 
don't know how else they could explain it. They brought her here a d  
they gave her some of this easy money tha t  bas been floating around 
Boise. They paid her and then they found out what she knew and they 
sent her back home quick, didn't they? They are the ones who set the 
stamp of approval on the truthfulness of this woman. They have no 
right to dispute her word for a single moment. Why should she lie 
about i t ?  The story looked reasonable; just the lcind of a story tha t  
this man Orchard would be apt  to  tell t o  a woman. Let us see what 
he said. Mr. Hawley's memory is  somewhat a t  fault, too, about some of 
the more recent features of this trial; he said tha t  we put her on the 
stand and he drew out on cross-examination tha t  she had seen Orchard 
and Hapvood go together t o  Orchard's room. T proved that. I did not 
wait for Hawley to  bring i t  out on cross-examination-she told that  with I 

!4 the rest of her story. I was willing to  take i t  all-take i t  just as i t  was 
-and she told, on direct examination, that  Orchard was sitting there on the 
sofa with her and Haywood came in and he and Orchard walked to the ba?k 
part of the hotel and went into Orchard's room. We will discuss t h a t  in n 
moment. What did she say about Harry Orchard? She said she met 

1 
I 

him in the Belmont hotel, where he had been in the habit of stopping, 2 

and ha began to tell her the story of his life. well, tha t  does not sound 
unreasonable so far, does i t ?  Many a man has told a woman the story 
of his life-with slight variations here and there; many a man has told 
many a woman the story of his life in the same sort of way. He started 
out to tell Mrs. Day the story of his life, and he said he would have 
been a rich man only for one thing-"I would have been a rich man 
except for Steunenberg; I had plenty of money; I was an owner of the 
Hercules mine and Steunenberg sent the soldiers in there," or, a s  Lottie 
Day put it, "according to  Steunenberg's decision"; she did not know vhether 
he was judge, or  a high admiraltv oficer, or governor, or  what he was. 
but anyhow it was on account of Steunenberg he was forced t o  Ieave and HI 
he haa t o  lose his property and he woula kill him if it was the last  act 
of his life. I wonder if t ha t  is a lie. Why, if you believe tha t  is a 
Iie, theh the rest of it you know is true, and she says what? ''Don't 
think about that, go out and get another ,mine." And then this tender- 



hearted, susceptible man, in the presence of a beautiful woman, says, "But 
tha t  is not the worst of the storj; when I lost tha t  mine I lost the only 
woman I ever truly loved." Now, that  is  something that Mrs. Day never 
could forget. He lost the only woman that  he ever truly loved. Never any 
of us forget incidents like that. We may lose those that  we partly love, 
but Orchard never could forget the only one he ever truly loved. Now, does 
that  sound reasonable? Does i t  sound as  though he told i t  and told i t  to 
Mrs. Day? He probably would not hrve told i t  to Max Malich in the 
turkish bath, but he would tell it to Mrs. Day in the Belmont hotel, and 
with all the sincerity with which men have always whispered those things 
to  women since the world began. 

There is a little bit of corroboration of this story. It would be a 
strange thing if the dsfense could find any corroboration, but here it 
is: Orchard left Canada with a woman, doubtless the only one he ever 
truly loved, and the reason he truly loved her mas because she went 
away slid left him. He left Canada with her and toolr her t o  Brit- 
ish Columbia and brought her back to Spolrane, and she finally con- 
cluded he could not support her in the way she was entitled t o  live, being 
the near-wife of a great man, and she packed up her duds and left him, 
and was going t o  come back if he got rich, according to Mrs. Day. 

Now, Orchard corroborates most of this himself. He left his home 
with this woman, he took her clear across the continent and brought her 
part way back, and then she left him and wenl back to her husband; and 
if he got the Hercules mine he could perhaps have got the woman, too, 
because then he could have bought her clothes and jewelry and trinkets 
any everything that  she loved. Now, is there any doubt but what he told 
this to Mrs. Day? I wonder what excuse anybody could give for doubting 
tha t  story. As to the rest of Mrs. Day's story, she did say that  while they 
were sitting there talking on the lounge Hspvood came in and he and Or- 
chard went back to  Orchard's room, to the back part of the house. Now, Mr. 
Haywood says that  this is not true. There is a great deal more chance tha t  
she could be mistaken in tha t  than tha t  Haywood could, and tha t  flaywood 
went to  that  part of the building for the purpose he says, and the location 
of the room as he described i t  has not been disputed in this case, and there 
is a great deal more chance that  she could be mistalten in that  part of the 
story than in this story that  she tells; although I don't care whether he 
went back to  Orchard's room or not. It does not follow that  because he 
went back to Orchard's room that  they were engaged in crime. And ths t  
was not a11 tha t  this man whispered into the ear of Mrs. Day. She told hirn 
he had better quit gambling. She gave him some good advice, as  all women 
are always doing to all men. She says, "Quit gambling, I never say a man 
that  did not go broke in the end;" and he says, "Oh, I won't go broke; 
whenever I get any money I give i t  to  Pettibone to take care of, and then T 
call on him whenever I mant it.'' Now, gentlemen, if that  is not true, 
then i t  is a plain piece of perjury. Either tha t  story is  t rue or, in some 
way and for some reason we have been able to get Mrs. Day to come 
here and perjure herself; we have been able to get this woman they 
brought here, whom they gave credit to-we have been able to  buy her and 
get her to  lie, and the fact that  they sent her home would show that  they 
beIieved a t  least that  she would do us more good than them, and I take 



it, gentlemen, there is not a man on this jury who hae got the slighteet 
reason or the slightest right to disbelieve her story, which is corroborated 
by fifteen or twenty other witnesses in this case. 

Gentlemen, do you suppose there was ever a case in the history of the 
world where a man's motives mere more clearly shown than this? Did 
you ever hear of a case where a criminal who had committed his deed mas 
shown more clearly to have had cause for the coiisu~nmation of that  act 
than in this case of Harry Orchard? And still men will argue t o  yo11 
that  there is no evidence of any design or any motive upon the part of 
Harry Orchard, and Mr. Hawley in making his opening statenlent in this 
case told this jury that  Harry Orchard had nothing against Stelmenberg-- 
no reason to kill him, and that  he killed him for cash and for nothing elst.. 

Who else is there? Omen Baines, who comes here on his two wooden 
pins, a man who has offered up  his two legs to the mine owners of Colo- 
rado, and is stumping up here on his two wooden legs t o  tell his story for 
the defense of his chief. Is  he a l iar? do you believe he i s  a l iar? 
Why, excepting that  Harry Orchard says he lies? There is no other reason 
from beginning to  end. 

Davis, Easterly, Copley, Max Malicb, and the man in California who 
gave his deposition-all these witnesses who gave testimony-I have not 
time to examine and comment upon them, but every one of these seven- 
teen-half of them a t  least having no connection mith our organization 
in any way mhatevel-half of them a t  least detailed this conversation 
so plainly that  no one could doubt it, and all of these come here and tell 
this story of Orchard's long-nursed hate. 

Gentlemen, let us mix with this a little common sense. You believe, 
do you not, tha t  Orchard rvouIcl have gone down and lrilled Steunenberg 
for $200 or for $100; that  this man who has been metamorphosed in a 
night from a red-handed demon to a seraph, he would have gone out for a 
hundred and lrilled Steunenberg, would Ile not? If he would, have you 
any doubt but that  he n~ould have gone down there and killed him to 
satisfy this long-settled hate? Would he have gone down there and killed 
him because he believed in his soul, and repeated day after day through 
all those long years, up until he met his prey, because he believed in his 
soul that  Steunenberg mas the cause of his losing a n~iIlion, and you would 
not hesitate to believe that  he would have gone down there for a dollar, and 
yet you are told tha t  i t  is strange and impossible and unbelievable that  
he went down there to satisfy this hellish hate that  he had fostered and 
nourished, cultivated and thought of from the day he left the Coeur 
d'Alenes until he fastened the bomb at  Steunenberg's gate. 

Another man who makes that  story plainer than any of the rest is 
Gave Coates. Orchard went into his office when he toas in Wallace, just a 
few days before he went down to kill Steunenberg, and he says, "My old 
friends and companions are rich and they are all millionaires and I am a 
pauper. I was driven out of here bv Steunenberg." He made threats against 
SteunenSerg. B e  was a pauper whilst the rest were rich. That was the feel- 
ing tha t  came over this man-this man whose breast was filled with gall 
and \~ ,orm~~~ooi l ;  t!lis man of the evil thouql~ts 2nd evil acts; this man fillrd 
with enmity and spite and hatred that  had been gathering those six 
long years. There he came to  visit mith his old friends, with the men 



whom he Bad known when they mepa poor together, and he m outcast an& a 
tramp; and he borrowed the money of his old friend Paulson to  go down 

%r there and kill Steunenberg-to kill him and satisfy his hate-and he 
said to  his friend there, Jack Simpkins-or Jacli to him-that if they could 
steal that  child and get $60,000 they could hire sollle one to do the job. 

Gentlemen, another thing: Orchard admits that  there was no plaa 
in Denver for him to  go to Ximpkins. If  Silnpkins had anything to  do 
with this it was not from the Denver office. It was because Orchard had 
gone there-had gone t h e ~ e  indepeaclently-aild together they had nursed 
their wrath and hatred for thirty days; together they had suffered poverty 
and they talked i t  over out there; had nursed their hate until they went 
out to plant this deadly bomb. 1 wonder, gentlemen, if this is a hard case 
to understand. I s  i t  difficult to  explain Orchard's motives7 Is i t  difficult 
to explain the reason for his acts? Nobody would ever dream of imputing 
other illatives excepting the desire to kill some one. Nobody would ever 
dream of going behind the dark blain and the black heart of this wretch, 
of loolxing for some one else, excepting they mere reaching out to kill some 
one that  they might get rid of them forever. 

Orchard came down here to  kill Steunenberg. In the meantime, for a 
moment we will go back to Denver. Jack Simpliins left Caldwell to go to 
Denver. He went to attena the meeting of the executive board. 

Mr. Bolah: Jack went to Spokane and then to Denver, didn't he? 
Mr. Richardson: Yes. he went down on the Burlington. 
Mr. Darrow: He went back first to  Spokane, and from Spokane to 

Denver, to attend the meeting of the executive board. Orchard knew where 
he was going; he says so himself. If he needed any money he would have 
sent for it,  under his own theory of this case. If he had needed any money 
he would have wired for it from Spokane-but he did not. Jack Simpkinn 

I went to Denver. I told you in the opening that  11e went on EIa~ry Orchard's 
ticket. I have not proven it, and I hope you will forgive me for that. 
I have not proven it. I an1 not permitted to tell you why, but I have a 
right t o  sny that  we showed in evidence here that  a certain member of the 
executive board started for Boise and was killed a t  the Denver depot in 
the night time a s  he was leaving-Frank Schmelzer. NOT, whether we 
would have proten ~t by him, or could not prove it, or whether i t  was a 
statenlent cnlrred out of the air, you cannot say. I told you this was 
true in the opening statement, but I have not proven i t ;  but I think a 
large share of the olher statelnents I 11n.r-e ~naile-almost all of themn-we 
have proven clearly, conclusively and without a doubt. Jack Simpkins 
came to  Denver. Me got theie the last of November. His mileage and 
his expenses regularly counted up about $226. This wan paid him early 
in Decembel ; i t  was dl an n in the regular \my by the seclet~ly-t l  eas 
urer giving him a draft. which he took and went to the bank and got 
cashed, and that draft ha., been ofi'~lec1 in evidence to this jury. I Ie  
drew two hundred and twenty-six dollars. 

They tell us that  on the 21st a hundred dollars more was sent to him 
at Spoltane, and that  is true. They have given you that draft as well. 
This hundred dollars was not talten from the funds of the Western Federa- 
tion of Miners. It is not in the I,ool<s in any -\1ay, and \\as not paid by tllem. 
It was sent by Haywood, and he tells you the reason, and it is left entirely 



upon H a p o d ' s  statement, and it cannot rest anywhere else in  the absence 
of Jack Simpkins. He tells you tha t  when Jack Simpkins brought this 
two hundred and twenty-odd dollars back to the office Simpkins told him 
he was not going directly home and he wanted t o  leave a hundred d o h  
with him, and for him t o  send it along about the holidays, and he took the 

B 
hundred dollars and put rt in the safe, where he was in the habit of placing 
money for other people a t  any time, and on the 21st of December he either 
went himself, or sent somebody, to  buy a draft and sent it t o  Jaclc 
Simpkins. Now, 1 wonder if there is anything unreasonable about that. 

And, mark this: You may have ten thousand euspicione in this 
case; there may he ten thousand suspicious circumstances surrounding it 
in the years in which these men were acquainted. I will undertalce to 
say that  no man could live around Harry Orchard very long but what 
some suspicious circumstances would arise-it is improbable tha t  a suspi- 
cious circumstance could not  be made out  of anything. To illustrate on0 
suspicious circumstance: 13ill Haywood had a horse tha t  belonged ta the 
Federation and Pettibone wanted to trade another horse and buggy for tha t  
horse, and a daricy and Orchard drove down to Haywoods oftice and 
Haywood got into the buggy and went out with them to t r y  the horse, 
to  see whether he would trade, and Haywood told him he would not; and 
what do they lilalre out of tha t?  They come here with a story tha t  Hay- 
wood was going to buy a horse and buggy-for what? To help kill peo- 
ple. Ile was going to buy a horse and buggy that  Orchard could better 
trail around after Sherman Bell and the rest in the City of Denver. Now, 
thin atory has always seemed t o  me so horribly absurd tha t  I have not 
thought i t  worth while t o  pay any  attention t o  it. The idea tha t  a man was 
going t o  buy a horse and buggy t o  use in the City of Denver t o  hunt down 
people is something I believe was never heard of in any other case in the 
world. I wonder why they did not buy him an  automobile and let him 
ride around Denver in the same magnificence and style that  he rides Ibr 
around here in Boise. An automobile mould have been better than a 
horse and buggy. I don't know tha t  Orchard had got so proud tha t  the 
street cars were not good enough for him, or t ha t  he mud not walk. 
That seems to  me about the most absurd story of i t  all. 

But I was speaking about this draft. I s  there anything unreasonable 
in tha t  story of Haywood tha t  Simpkins left the hunched dollsse there and 
that  he (Elaywood) sent i t  to him on the 21st in that  d laf t?  I t  clid not come 
out of the Federation money-it was bought with caah. If it had been going 
to Orchard, \vhy would not Simpkins liave talren i t  with h i~ l l ?  That is the 
theory of this ense-that this hundred dollars was going to Harry Orchard, 
and yet Simplcins was going right to him and if it was going t o  Ram 
Orchard I wonder why he did not put t ha t  money in his pocket. You 
have got t o  find tha t  out. 

Another thing: They say that  on the 30th a letter waa written by 
George Pettibone t o  Harry Orchard and addressed to Caldwell, which reads 
xs follol~s: "That was sent to Jack for you on the 21st, and you ought to 
have i t  by this time." WeI1. now, gentlemen, there might be any amount .a 
of suspicious circumstances. There are any amount of suspicious 
circumstances connected with the lives and the acts of every man, and 
these cut little figure in a criminal case. You must have facts m d  eir- 



cumstances from which guilt, and guilt only, can be inferred; theories, facts 
and circumstances which can carry no other inference than the inference of 
guilt. Now, let us look at their side of the case. Their theory of this case ir 
that Haywood told Pettibone that a hundred dollars had been sent to Jack 
Simpkins to send to Harry Orchard, and then Pettibone wrote a letter, 
without signing it, to Harry Orchard a t  Caldwell, that this hundred 
dollars had been sent. All of that to prove that a nundred dollars was 
sent to Harry Orchard on the 21st. Now, let us see: Suppose Haywood 
had wr.itten a letter and sent a draft for a hundied dollars to Harry 
Orchard a t  Caldwell on the 21st; what of i t ?  Is that incriminating! 
It may be suspicious, but is it incriminating. Can any jury pre- 
sume that  because a man sent money 60 a murderer that he 
.sent that money to pay hlm for his crime? Soinebody had to feed this 
man Orchard; somebody had to keep a roof over his head; some one- 
he had acquaintances and he had friends; the fact that somebody sent 
him money cannot in any way be an incriminating fact in this case. 
A t  the most i t  could only be a suspicious circumstance in this case even 
if their theory of this case was true. 

Let us take another one: Harry Orchard went to Paulson. He bor- 
rowed $300 of Paulson. He gave l'aulson his note. Be toolr thls $300 and 
he bought a ticket to Caldwell, and he came to Caldwell with Psulson'a 
money. He paid his hotel bills with Paulson's moneT, and he used Paul- 
aon's money to kill Frank Steunenberg with. Is Paulson guilty? It is 
a suspicious circumstance, and if Orchard, instead of turning upon these 
men, had turned upon Paulson and said to him, "You furnished the money," 
it would have been a suspicious circumstance-nothing else in the world. 
Not one of this jury would ever dream for a single moment that Paulson 
eTer did anything but a kind, neighborly act when he gave H s n y  Orchard 
the money with which to  go down to Caldwell to kill Steunenberg. At the 
most, it could be nothing but suspicious from beginniilg to end. 

But, do we know whether Pettibone wrote the letter? So far as the 
direct evidence of that is concerned, there is nothing to show i t  except 
Orchard's word, which is not worth anything, but there are some cir- 
cumstances which might tend to show it. It was a letter written on the 
30th; it was mailed on the 30th; if i t  referred to a hundred-dollar draft 
It must have been mit ten by somebody who knew of it, and the theory 
will be that Pettibone was t h e  man who knew of it. It is entirely pos- 
aible that Haywood might have told him that he sent the draft; it is 
entirely possible that his clerk might have bought i t  and given the in- 
formation that he sent the draft; i t  is entirely possible that Harry Or- 
chard may have written down to find out if the draft was sent, but if 
that was all true it would prove nothing whatever in this case. Is there 
any connection between that and hiring a man to kill another? Harry 
Orchard does not claim, and nobody has ever claimed in this case, that 
thin money was ever sent to him for that purpose. The most that 1s 
claimed is that fro111 time to tiine he could send to Pettiboile for monpy 
and could get it. 

Gentlemen, whether that was Pettibone'a letter-whether the Jack 
referred to  was Jack Simpkins--can only be developed when Pettibone's 
case is tried or when Jack Simpkins' case is tried. We cannot tell; there 



is no evidence before thie jury upon that  point, and P inslet that you 
have no right under the  law and under your consciences to  jump to  any 
such conclusion. You will find in the evidence in this case that  Harry 
Orchard was in business with Jack Wulligan; that  he roomed with Jack 
Hulligan in the Belmoiit hotel; that  they had sold a looming-house to- 
gether and that  they had commenced a suit for a hundred or two hundred 
dollarn, and there is no more reason in this case why you should say that  
this plain word "Jack" had any more reference to Jack Silnpkins than 
to Jaclc Ilulligan or any one of ten thousand Jacks, and if it had reference 
to the former i t  was for money that  was due t o  Simpkins; it was sent as a 
part of the money that  was owed t o  him, and it was sent for a perfectly 
legal purpose. 

Again, Simpkins might have been owing Harry Orchard; he might have 
given him some part of the Paulson money with which to  go t o  Denver; 
he might have got his ticket from Orchard to  go t o  Denver; 
he might have been expecting that  when this hundred dollars 
came that  this llu~idled dollnrs s~iould be sent to Harly Orchard; but 
will you tell me wllat 7 ~ a s  the need of money down there? Why mould 
Orcbard have occasion t o  wlitc f ~ o n l  Galdwell for money? According to 
his story, he got a hundred dollars from Jack Simpkins; according to 
the fact he got three hundred dollars of Paulson immediately before 
he left. He came to Csldmell with what was left of four lkundred dollars 
which he had received only a few days before he left. If he had any 
reason to send for a hundred more hc would haye sent by Jack Simpkins 
and had i t  delivered to him in person. He had no reasoil t o  send for 
more, and there is no evidence in this case from which a jury could jump 
to the conclusion that  he did. 

One other circumstance in this case that  I have overlooked. We 
are told tha t  Pettibone signer1 the name of Pa t  Bowen and sent $150 in 
two diEerent telegrams to San Francisco to Harry Orchard under some 
other name. Noxv, what are the facts about tha t?  First, Harry Orchard 
says that Pettibone sent him some iuoney in a registered letter under the 
name of Wolff. WolR comes in here and says that  Pettibone got a 
letter asking him to  send a union card and a badge and tha t  he aeked 
him (Wolff) to go down and register that, which he did. Later than 
that, ISarry Orchard sent two teleglams asking to have $150 sent to San 
Francisco by telegraph, and to send it and waive identifieation so that  he 
could draw it. Now, if Harry Orchald asked to bave this done he murt 
have told Pettibone whom t o  send it to and whose name t o  sign to  the 
telegram. Harry Orchaid had left Denver on his way to Cheyenne; lle 
left it under cover, as he swears himself; he left i t  to prevent being 
alrested by the oficers of the law. IIe had gone to  San Francisco using 
another name, and was not corresponding with anybody in Denver any more 
than he could help for fear he would be traced. If he sent for this money, 
as he doubtless did, he must have told Pettibone wllose llnule t o  send it 
in, and who was to be the sender. He m u 4  have told Pettibone to wire 
that money to Harry Green ai~cl to send i t  in the name of P a t  Bowen, 
which was a nickname that  had beell applied to Pettibone. Now, what 
is there to  tha t?  I s  there anything even suspicious rtboglt i t ?  11 there 
anything strange that  Pettibone sent him that  money a t  San Francisco? 



Orchard did not kill anybody. I insiat that under thir evidence he was not 
there to kill anybody. If  he had been, i t  would not affect this case; it could 
only be used as a circumstance to show the connection of these two men 
and nothing else. 

Gentlemen, they talk about evidence in this case not connected with 
Orchard. There is not a scrap tha t  would even be competent, with the 
possible exception of the latter that  was sent to Caldwell, and there is 
no incriminating circumstance in that. A mere suspicious circumstance 
that might show that  this mail mas on friendly terms with Pettibone- 
that, gentlemen of the jury, is all. Think of saying that this evidence is 
such certain incriminating evidence as would warrant you in taking away 
the Iife of a fellow man. Do you think there could be no other explanation 
excepting that  the money was sent there to hire Orchard to kill Steu- 
nenberg? Even Orchard does not claim it, and there is no claim for ~t 
in this case. 

Another circumstance d o ~ m  here a t  Caldwell. Orchard goes tliere. 
Simpltins would not stay, showing that  Sinlpkins did not mant to go into 
any such scheme, and he would not stay and help. Orchard learned tha t  
William Easterly was over here a t  Silver City, and he writes Easterly 
two letters asking him to come, and he refused to come; he then calls 
him up by telephone on two separate occasions and asks him to come, and 
he refuses to come. Will you tell me why he was telephoning and writ- 
ing to  William Easterly if Easterly was in t h i ~  conspiracy-in this soheme 
and plan? Then why didn't he come? The fact tha t  he did not come shows 
plainly tha t  he was not connected in any way with it. And what does 
EasterIy say?  He says Orchard wrote him and asked him t o  come over here 
and go into the insurance business with him, that  he could make plenty 
of money in the insurance business, and that he telephoned him asking 
him to come and go into the insurance business; and he refused to come. 
Is  there any reason why you should disbelieve him, gentlemen of the jurp? 
What was the fact? He mas bringing Bill Easterly over here so that  if 
he murdered Steunenberg and if anybody happened to be caught, Bill 
Easterly would be the man and not Orchard. He was bringing him over 
here that  he might shift this crime upon someone else. Bill Easterly told 
hinl that  he did not mant t o  come. Bill refused to  come and etaped away. 
If he had come, gentlemen of the jury, Bill Easterly would have been 
here on trial for the act of Harry Orchard. 

There is another letter in this case that  counsel have made 
mention of. It is a letter written by Haywood to E/Irs. Orchard. 
I s  there anything in that  letter? What are the fact3 of tha t?  Orchard 
had lived long enough with this woman; he had managed to get a winter's 
shelter under her roof and a winter's board in her house, and he had 
lived wit11 her long enough, and had gone away and had left her as  he 
had done before. He had been in Denver and he neither wrote to her or 
went to see her or sent her any money. He dated some letters in San 
Francisco in Bhrch and April and sent t hen  to her so that  she znigl~t 
think he was in San Francisco, and then a l o n ~  in A u p s t  he wrote a 
letter and dated i t  a t  Nome, Alaska, and he sent that  t o  her after sending 
it up t o  Nome by Mr. Moore. This letter tried to make her believe tha t  he 
was in Alaska, and in November, two months after that, and two months 
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after Orchard had disappeared-and on November 17th. two months after J 
that  letter, Mr. Haywood got a letter from Mrs. Orchard asking where Harry 
Orchard was, and he sa t  down and wrote her a letter saying that  the last 
time he heard of him he was in Alaska. Now, what of it, gentlemen, what 
of it? Haywood swears tha t  Orchard talked with him about going to  af 
Alaska. kle had disappeared two months and a half before. He had never 
heard of him in Idaho or anywhere else in the meantime. He had gone up 
north, as he supposed, on his way to Alaska, and Haywood gave her all the 
information he had. It was not up  to  him to  tell her tha t  her husband had 
deserted her, even if he knew it. A t  the most, the most that  could be thought 
of this letter would be that  he might have been helping to  deceive Mrs. 
Orchard as  t o  Orchard's whereabouts, but it is absurd and ridiculous in 
the extreme tha t  circumstances like these-mere baseless circumstances 
tha t  could not prove anything if true-should be brought into this case to 
corroborate the evidence of the greatest liar of modern times. 

Gentlemen, i r o n  beginning to end this 1s a case of Orchard. He was 
caught and lie turned to shift his crime upon these men. They tell us i t  was 
suspicious tha t  these men rushed t o  his defense Was it, gentlemen? 
It seems strange t o  me tha t  a lawyer can argue a proposition like that. 
These inen have been pursued and hunted for years. Every means, fair 
and foul, had been used to  bring them to the scaffold. Every means had 
been adopted to crush out the union. The mine owners had made arrest 
after arrest. Violence of all sorts, and every other eftort was made to  de- 
stroy them. A man-an ex-governor of the State of Idaho-was killed in 
Idaho. A t  once the newspapers and the mine owners and the Pinkertona 
took up the cry tha t  the Western Federation was guilty. At  once this 
was laid t o  the door of Moyer, Haywood and Pettibone. At once they 
were pronounced murderers, and their time had a t  last come. What woull 
you have done? What would anybody have done? Is there any human 
being on earth who would not use every means in his power t o  de- 
fend himself, and everybody connected wlth him, when accused of this 
crime? If I should make ally criticism of this, I would say they acted too 
slowly instead of too hastily. 

Jack Simplrins was up  in Spokane. He had been in Caldwell with 
Orchard, and he went to  the office of Robertson 6t Miller and employed 
Miller to come down and defend this nian. What of i t ?  Siippose he 
started down and concluded t o  go back unless he got direct word from 
his client? I-le started down ni;d did go back and then he got a telc- 
gram calling him to Caldwell and he went. And when the clouds began t o  
thicken and the mine owners and the lawyers started up here to Idaho 
and commenced t o  weave their meshes around the Western Federation, 
then Moyer and Haywood began to write and mire to Silver City, to  the 
secretary of the union there, to  have a l a v e r  come here and loolr after 
this case and after their interests. Is there anything strange about it? 
The strange thing is tha t  they did not send a lawyer from Denver a t  the 
very first. Remember their former experiences. Remember what the mine 
owners had resorted to. Remember all the plans and the schemes to catch 
these men. Remember tha t  a t  this time rewards were offered and the news- 
papers were talking about it-the Pinltertons were active-the mine own- 
ers were busy, and all were after the blood of these men. There is not a man 
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on earth who would have done anything else. There is not a man on earth 
who would have slept quietly in his bed, whether connected with the crime or 
not. But one thing, gentlemen, remember this: They did not run away. 
They stayed right there in Denver, where they were found when they were 
kidnaped and brought to Idaho. 

NOW, gentlemen of the jury, there are many things more I would 
like t o  say, but I have not the strength t o  say them. Perhaps i t  is lucky 
for you that  I have not, and I must leave the case here and hand i t  over 
to  you. Under the laws of the State of Idaho the State has the last word, 
and when my voice is  silent, and when Moyer and Haywood cannot speak, 
their accusers can be heard pleading against their lives. I know the ability 
of the eminent gentleman who will close this case. I know the appeal he will 
make to this jury. I knov that  he will tall< of law and order and the flag 
which the mine owners have desecrated time and time again. I linotv the sus- 
picious circumstances which will be woven into that appeal and handled bv 
a slrillfuI tongue and a skillful brain, and I must sit still and listen to  it 
without any chance to reply. I can only ask you. gentlemen of the jury, 
to  weigh with care and consideration every word that  is spoken. I can 
only ask you to answer when I cannot speak, if there are any facts and 
any circumstances which will justify an answer. I only ask you to  re- 
member tha t  you are to explain every fact and circumstance in this case 
consistent with this mon's innocence, if you can, and I shall ask you to 
try, and if you t ry  i t  will not be difficult to accomplish, for there is noth- 
ing in this case but FIarry Orchard-Harry Orchard, an nnspealrable scoun- 
drel; Harry Orchard, a perjured villain; Harry Orchard, bigamist and mur- 
derer and coward; Harry Orchard, shifting the burdens of his sins upon 
these men to  save his life. If you men can kill my client on his testimony, 
then, peace be with you. 

Gentlemen, Mr. Hawley has told you tha t  he believes in this case, 
that  he would not ask vou to convict unless he believed Haymood was 
guilty. I teIl you I believe in my  case. I believe in i t  as I believe in 
my very life, and my belief does not amount, nor hi# belief does not amount 
to  anything, or count. I am not an unprejudiced witness in this case. 
Nobody knows i t  better than I. MT mind is not i~nbiased in l 3 i s  went 

8 struggle. I am a partisan, and a strong partisan a t  that. For nearly thirty 
veass I have been working to the hest of m v  ahilitv in the cause in 
which these men have given their toil and rislred their lives. For nearly 
thirty years I have given this cause the best ability that  God has given me. 
T have given my time, mv repnt~tion.  m y  chances-,211 tlii.: in 
the cause of the poor. I may have been unwise-T mnv hare been 
extravagant in my statements, but this cause has inspired the strongest de- 
votion of my life, and I want to  say to you that  never in my life did I feel 
about a case as I Peel about this. Never in my life did 1 wish anything as I 
wish the verdict of this jury, and, if I live to  be a hundred pears old, 
never again in my life mill I feel that  I am plendino. in n c7.e like this- 
never mill this jury b~ called upon to act in another r l w  which involves 
such momentous questions as this. You are jurors in a historical case. YOU 
nre here, with vour verdict to  make history. here to malie history that  shall 
affect the nation for weal or woe, here to make history that  will affect 
every man that toils, that  will influence the liberties of luankind and bring 
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weal or woe t o  the poor and the weak, who have been striving through the 
centuries for some measure of that  freedom which the world has ever 
denied to them. 

Gentlemen of the jury, this responsibility is on you, and if I have done 
my part I am glad t o  shift it upon your shoulders and be relieved of the 
grievoua load. i 

IF C0NVICTE;D SUN WON'T S H I N E  

I have known Haywood-I have known him well and 1 believe in him. 
I I 

God knows i t  would be a sore day to me if he should go upon the scaf- 
fold. The sun would not shine or the birds would not sing on that  day- 

I 

for me. It would be a sad day, indeed, if any such calamity could come 
t o  him. I would think of him, I would think of his wife, of his mother, 
I would think of his children, I would think of the great cause that  he rep- 
resents. It would be a sore day for me, but, gentlemen, he and his mother, 
and his wife and his children, are not my chief concern in this great case. 
If you should decree that  he must die, ten thousand men will work in the 
mines and send a portion of the proceeds of their labor to  take care of 
that  widow and these orphan children, and a million people throughout the 
length and breadth of the civilized world will send their messages of kind- 
ness and good cheer to  comfort them in their bereavement and to heal their 
wounds. It is not for them I plead. Other men have died before. Other 
men have died in the same cause in which Will Haywood has rislred 
his life. Men strong wit11 devotion, men who loved liberty, men w11o 
loved their fellow men, patriots who have raised their voices in de- 
fense of the poor, in defense of right, have made their good fight 
and have met death on the scaffold, on the rack, in the 
flame, and they will meet i t  again and again until the world grows old 
and gray. William Haywo6d is no better than the rest. He can die if die 
he must. He can die if this jury decrees it; but, oh, gentlemen, do not 
think for a moment that  if you hang him you will crucify the labor move- 

4 
ment of the world; do not think that  you will kill the hopes and the aspi- 
rations and the desires of the weak and poor. You men of wealth and 
Dower, yon people anx io~~s  for his blood, are you so blind n s  to believe that  
liberty will die when he is dead. Think you there are no other brave heaxts, 
no other strong arms, no other devoted souls who will risk dl in that  great 
cause which has demanded martyrs in every land and age? 

There are others and these others will come to  take his place; they mil1 
eome to carry the banner when he can hold it up no more. 

SPEAKS FOR THE WEAK AND WEARY. 
Gentlemen, i t  is not for him alone tha t  I speak. I speak for the poor, 

for the weak, for the weary, for that  long line of men, who, in darkness 
and despair, have borne the labors of the human race. The eyes of the 
world are upon you-upon you twelve men of Idaho tonight. Wherever the 
English language is spoken or wherever any tongue makes known the 
thoughts of men in any portion of the civilized world, men are talking, and 
wondering and dreaming about the verdict of these twelve men tha t  I aee 
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before me now. If you kill him your act will be applauded by many. If 
SOU ~110uld decree Bill Hapvood's death, in the railroad officeg of our groat 



cities men will applaud your names. If you decree his death lcmongat the 
spiders of Wall street will go up paeans of praise for these twelve good 
men and true. I n  every bank in the world, where men hate Eaywood be- 
cause he fights for the poor and against that  accursed system upon which 
the favored live and qrow rich and fat-from all those you will receive 
blessings and unstinted praise. 

But if pour verdict should be "Not Guiltv" in this cane, there arc atill 
those who will reverently bow their heads and thank these tweIve men for 
the life and reputation you have saved. Out on our broad prairies where 
men toil with their hands. out on the wide ocean where men are tossed and 
buffeted on the waves, through our mills and factories, and down deep 
under the earth, thousands of men, and of women and children-men who 
labor, men who suffer, women and children weary with care and toil- 
these men and these women and these children will lrneel tonight and aslk 
their God to ~aicle vollr hearts-these m a  and these women and these little 
children, the poor, the weak, and the suffering of the world, are stretching 
out their helpless hands to this jury in mute appeal for Will Haywood'u life. 

GOD AND THE GOOD MAN 
A FABLE 

A Man of the People stood before the Tlirone of Judgment, and 
God called for the Book of Life, and the Recording Angel opened the 
Book and read therefrom. And as he read the Man of the People wept, 
and the sound of his weeping was terrible. 

And God said to the Itan of the People: "Toil and trouble have been 
thy lot on earth. From childhood even unto the day of thy death thy days 
and nights have been given to  dl-udgery. Blows and contumely were show- 
ered upon thee. Yet d i d ~ ~ t  thou never rebel." 

And the Man of the People answered: "Even so I suffered." 
And God said to  the Man of the People: "When the laughter of chil- 

dren a t  play called thee to idleness thou didst ever cloqe thine esrs, 
because thou wast afraid to disobey thy  master. I n  tears and silence thou 
didst eat of the scraps he threw to thee Weary was thy poor body when 
the long day's toil came to an end, and to thy  master wast thou always 
respectful." 

And the Man of the People answered: "Evcn so T suffered." 
And God said to the Man of the People: "In lnanlhood also ouffering 

was thy lot, and the woman who brouqht thee love drank of the hi t ter  
cup. Pain and anxiety were ever in t h y  house, and the mother of thy  
children wept in ~ecre t .  Uard and long didst thou labor, vet were the 
hellies of thy  children pinched, and never didst thou hear their voices sing 
with the joy of life. Many t i m a  did the wolf crosle thy threshold, and 



the pale cheeks of the woman who brought thee love hurt thee like a. 
deep wound." 

And the Man of the People answered: "Even so I suffered." 
And God said to  the Man of the People: "The hands of the mighty 

wr~% heavy npnn t.hw. ypf: didst thon not mmplain. When the minning 
lord stole the fixits of thy labor thou didst touch. thy cap, and when 
tho priest conjured thee to be content thou didst bow thine head. Thou 
aawest thy breth~en crushed under the heels of tyrants, and thou heardst 
the wailing of the children whose blood held the dust from the eyes of 
the rich. Yet didst thou ever keep the law, and never was thy voice raised 
against the oppressor." 

And the Man of the People answered: "Even so I suffered." 
And God said, "Close the Book." And the ltoc!orcling -4ngel closer1 the 

Book of Life. And there was a great silence. 
And God said to the Man of the People: "To Hell must thou go. Yea, 

even unto Hell for ever and ever.'' 
And the Man of the People gave a great cry and writhed a t  the foot of 

the Throne of Judument. 
And he said: '1s God also unjust and an oppressor¶" 
And God said: "Not so. Whatsoever a u a n  soweth, that  shall he also 

reap. Thou hast sown weakness and cowardice and suffering. Weakneaa 
and cowai-dice and suffering must be thy fate in the life eternal, even as 
i t  was on earth. Because thou rebelledst not againat the tyrant, because 
thou didst condemn t o  tears the woman who brought thee love, because 
thou sawest thy children perish a11d thy poor brethern crushed under the 
heel of the oppressor, because thou didst suffer the cunning lord to rob 
thee of the fruits of thy labor, because thou didst harken to the voice 
of the priest who conjured thee to be content; because thou wast a worm 
instead of a. man. Even so shall be thy reward. To Hell with him.'' 

And they took the Man of the People and aaat him into IXel1.-E. B. 
Sathers, in London Clarion. 
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The Story of 1 The Red Flag 

This year, 1907, has witnessed in the larger cities of 
Sari Francisco, Chicago, New York, and Boston several stu- 

* pendous processional demonstrations on the part of those ~ h o  
swcat and tbil in  tlie dil~lgerous and malodorous places. I n  
Boston it  is said that 65,000 laborers and a few of their a p -  i' 
pathizer$ marcllctl the streets of that staid, dccorous city, in  f 
hot protest, and that in (Ihic'dgo not less than 36,000 persons $ 
asielriblcri to hear Fill ism D. IIaywood, the liberated Social- 
ist leader, xho, while shackled, imprison4 and helplessly 
awaiting trial for his life, was twice publicly stigmatized b j  
the coward President of the United S t a b .  

Kothing in  the demonstrations so much angered the Cap- 
italiqt class as the presence here and there in the vast assem- 
blagcs of little patches of red banfing. 

8 , Their parrot, prcss shouted, "JIad dog!" ' dr.archist!" 
-$ whlle their llcksp~ttle lackeys and pious retainers hnvc thrown 

fit after fit of the fantocls. 
The Story of the Red Flag i: devoted mainly to nn exami- 

nation into the antecedent history ant1 uses of 'i'he Red Flag 
ait.11 the primary vier of dptermining ihe propriety of it8 
adoption as the standarr! of tlle hunger-slaves. 0 

Price 10 crnts a copy; $5.00 a hundred; $46.00 a tE,ou- % 
APPEAL TO REASON, Girard, Kansas. $ 
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